CONTRIBUTIONS TO THE ICHNOLOGY AND ICHNOFABRICS OF DEEP MARINE SYSTEMS

CHRISTOPHER PHILLIPS



001311 THE FOR NELD

CONTRIBUTIONS TO THE ICHNOLOGY AND ICHNOFABRICS OF DEEP MARINE SYSTEMS

By

Christopher Phillips

A thesis submitted to the

School of Graduate Studies

in partial fulfillment of the

requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Department of Earth Sciences

Memorial University of Newfoundland

March 2011

St. John's

Newfoundland

Abstract

The new data presented in this thesis demonstrates that detailed palaecenvironmental reconstructions of deep marine and turbidite settings are improved with the integration of ichnofibric analysis. This thesis is divided into three papers; each using ichnofibric analysis in end-member sedimentological, deep-water systems. In addition, neoichnological research conducted as part of this project links modern and ancient tracemaker behaviour to provide a new model for a commonly observed trend in trace fossil distribution in deep-water strings.

Facies analysis was integrated with ichnofabries analysis in the EacemeVoligocene sand-rich turbidites of the Grès d'Annot Basin, SE France. Bed-by-bed logging demonstrated that ichnofabric analysis can be used as a high resolution tool for constructing depositional palaceowironments and their variability in deep-water systems. The *Ophiomorpha radis* ichnofabric association (analogous to the *Ophiomorpha radis* ichnosabricies of the *Nerviter* ichnofacies) are present in deposits of high current energy settings and low nutrient levels like channelized stands and hickbedded turbus the-top-based confined on the dametel dense of the off-off-off-offflows suppressed the deposition of thin-bedded and heterolithic turbidites. This confining of flows suppressed the deposition of thin-bedded and heterolithic turbidites which allow the preservation of a diverse ichnofauna. Low ichnodiversity (restricted to ishnoopecies of *Ophiomorpha* and *Thalaszionika*) result from a combination of nutrient stress and the confined nature of the 6rds d'Annot Basin. When thin-bedded heterolithic turbidites turbidites turbidites preserved, however, bey contain a higher infondiversity (restricted to ichnoopecies of persone), the over the continuit of the infondivensity and handmach cer frace foxilis thun sand-rich facies. The Ophiomorpha annulata-Planolites and Phycosiphon-Ophiomorpha rudis ichnofabrics represent the activity of vagile, deposit feeding and farming organisms in quiescent basin slope settings and channel fill facies where turbidites of low erosive power allowed the preservation of a greater number of ichnogenera. This paper is the first ichnologically-based study of Greis d'Annot Basin and demonstrates the utility of ichnofabrics in reconstructing palaecenvironments and chanese in deposition conditions.

Ophiomorpha is commonly observed at sandstone-mudstone interfaces in turbidite systems, including the Grès d'Annot Basin. This paper presents evidence that interface trace fossils represent a deep-sediment farming strategy in deep-water settings with data obtained using mesocosm experiments, CT imagery, and geochemical analyses. The modern thalassinid shrimp Neotrypaea californiensis constructs interface burrows morphologically identical to Ophiomorpha rudis as observed in the Grès d'Annot (and other) systems. Mesocosms were mapped in three dimensions with CT imagery showing that burrows were preferentially constructed at sand-mud interfaces. The characteristic burrow-lining pellets of Ophiomorpha are traditionally considered to be a structural reinforcement to prevent burrow collapse. Our studies have shown that this might not be true in all cases as N. californiensis was observed feeding from the pellets indicating they might be a nutritional resource. Geochemical analyses showed higher total organic carbon values in burrow linings and pellets compared to unbioturbated samples from the same mesocosm. Observation showed that N. californiensis selected organic carbon-rich grains to make the nellets while higher TOC values indicate organic enrichment with burrow walls having an increased bacterial biomass (with bacterially produced dissolved

organic carbon). Stable isotope analysis showed that the pellets where generally enriched in ¹⁰C compared to the isotopically lighter host sediment. This is interpreted as arobic microbial fractionation. By bioirrigating their burrows *N* californizmus (and other aneaent *Ophismorpha* tracemakers) encouraged the growth of aerobic microbial populations in burrow-lining pellets which they used as a matritional resource, utilizing microbial stasolved organic carbon. This new data provides a model for the abundance of trace fossilis at sandstone-interfaces in turbidites systems which had hitherto been unceplained.

The Upper Cretaceous Wyandot Formation, offibiore Nova Scotia, is an autochthonous carbonate reservoir facies. This pelagic system was used to demonstrate that ichnofabric analysis can be successfully employed across a range of deep-water balaceonvironment. The Wyandot Toration is divided into two lithofacies: chalk and mariatone. Ichnofabric analysis showed that the *Chondrites-Thalaxinoides-Zoophycos* ichnofabric dominates both lithofacies. High densities and abundances of ichnotaxa in this ichnofabric, in conjunction with a highly bioturbated mixed layer (BI 5-6), imply a well oxygenated sediment-outer interface. Environmental perturbations are interpreted through changes to *Chondrites*-dominated ichnofabrics. In the Wyandot Formation this sediment, leading to porewater anoxia, and the exclusion of all but the stress-tolerant *Chondrites* tracemaker. This paper successfully tracks changes in ichnofabrics tatay of the Wyandot Formation through changes in ichnofabric differences between strowy offts and host sediment. Ho is considered that deposite feeding endocembic through those stemsors. This considered that deposite feeding endocembic tatay of the Wyandot Formation through changes in ichnofabric differences between throws offts and host sediments. organisms changed the clay mineral assemblages of the sediment by introducing authigenic kaolinite produced during sediment digestion. Burrow fills have a more diverse clay mineral assemblage with a 33% enrichment of kaolinite compared to the host sediment. This is interpreted to be the result of biological weathering and low temperature authigenesis in the digestive systems of the endoftana. This process introduces mineralogical heterogeneity into the Wyundot Formation reservoir facies. This work improves facies analysis and reservoir characterization in an understudied carboate system.

The work on the Gre's d'Annot Basin and the Wyandod Formation presented in this thesis are the first ichnologically orientated studies of these deep-water systems. These data highlight the significance of trace fossil studies in deep-water systems reviously understudied with respect to animal-sediment interactions. This thesis also shows that neoichnological research is a useful approach to understanding ancient tracemaker behaviours which can be used to identify palaecenvironmental conditions. These papers, individually and cumulatively, demonstrate that ichnofibric analysis can be successfully integrated alongside facies analysis in deep-water systems. The trace fossil record can be used to identify changes in depositional and environmental condition, as well a identify inp physiologically stressed conditions on the ancient deep staffor.

Acknowledgments

Being an exparitate is not always easy and there were times during the course of this degree that 1 thought it would never get finished. I would like to take this opportunity to thank all the people who have keyt me same and form through the long winters. Thank you to my good firsten Stukki Tonkin, toon Nomore, Janice Rowsell, Mark Kennedy, too the structure of this Condiffer. I would like to thank way parents for supporting me in the nonve across the Food and keeping my supported with its and handle imports.

Even though my name is written in big, friendly letters on the cover of this thesis, many friends and colleagues have given their time, effort, and advice to me. I am indebted to my lovely field assistant Steffan Honcyn-Kitchener for his invaluable work during the 2006 and 2007 field seasons. Steff would like a two page dedication to his hard work in field, but he's not going to get it. Instead he gets the following: thank for letting me drag you up and down Alpine peaks and for carrying our lunch and my samples. I am extremely grateful to my two editors and friends, the Drs Liam Herringshaw and Richard Callow who had no problem telling me what nonsense I might have written. I am very appreciative of Ted DeWitt (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency) for shipping the shripp (several times) used in the course of this thesis. I count myself very fortunate to have made contact with Ted who was, and still is, willing to send victims. Alfred Uchman is acknowledged for his advice and access to the trace fossil collections at Jagiellonian University, Kraków, Poland, and for very constructive editorial comments on two of the three papers presented herein. Other (outside Memorial University) editorial comments and advice were provided by Denis Lavoie, Trevor Elliott, Andrew MacRae, Andreas Wetzel, John Paul Zonneveld, an anonymous reviewer, and the staff at the CNSOPB. I also thank my external examiner, Luis Buatois (University of Saskatoon) for help in shaping the final draft of this thesis.

Lacknowledge help inside Memorial from my supervisory committee Ai Aksua and Eliston Burdon, my internal reviews Jos Macquade, and Sam Bently. The Ichnological Research Group at Memorial (whom I count as friends before colleagues) are also thanded? Nikk, Richard, Linn, Dario Hanzing (goechem wizard), Małgozzata (Czarma) Bednarz (who rendered my CT images for the 3D reconstruction), and Kathron Denomme. Other WICh prepet include Wanda Alvand, Helen Gilleipel, Robbie Hicks, Rick Hiscott, Saven Ings, Alison Pye, Michael Schaffer, and the International Student Advising Office

Last, but certainly not least, I would like to thank my supervisor Duncan McIlroy for his patience and guidance during my arguably too many years at MUN. His continual support meant this thesis did get finished.

This work was supported by funding from numerous sources including an NSERC Discovery Grant, and an NSERC/PRAC CRD Grant, with supplementary funding from the Pan-Atlantic Petroleum Systems Consortium, Deer Lake Oil & Gas Inc. (Cabot Martin is thanked in particular) and Treats Coffee Emporium (thanks Kelvin and Wanda).

Table of Contents

Abstract	i
Acknowledgements	i.
Table of Contents	i.
List of Tables	¢
List of Figures	i
List of Plates	i
List of Appendices	i.
Co-authorship Statement	í

acoenvironments
Aims of this thesis
1.1. Introduction and overview
1.2. The effects of a bioturbation on the sedimentary environment1-7
1.2.1. Geotechnical modifications
1.2.2. Geochemical modifications1-13
1.3. Environmental controls on bioturbation1-16
1.3.1. Oxygen
1.3.2. Nutrient supply and sedimentation rate1-19
1.3.3. Substrate
1.4. Deep-sea bioturbation: ichnofacies and ichnofabrics1-24
1.4.1. Deep-sea ichnofacies1-27
1.4.2. Deep-sea ichnofabrics
1.5. Contributions to the ichnology and ichnofabrics of deep marine systems1-31
1.5.1. Turbidite ichnofabrics1-31
1.5.2. Sandstone-mudstone interface trace fossils: a common feeding
strategy in marine systems
1.5.3. Ichnofabrics associated with pelagic sedimentation1-36
References 1-40

Chapter 2 – Ichnological characterization of Eocene/Oligocene turbidites from the Grès d'Annot Basin, French Alps, SE France.......2-1

Abstract	
2.1. Introduction	
2.2. Methodology	
2.3. Geological setting	
2.4. Systematic ichnology	
2.4.1. ?Asterosoma van Otto, 1854	
2.4.2. Chondrites von Sternberg, 1833	

2.4.3. Diopatrichnus Kern, 1978
2.4.4. Ophiomorpha Lundgren, 1891
2.4.5. Paleodiction Meneghini, 1850
2.4.6. Phycodes Richter, 1850
2.4.7. Phycosiphon Fischer-Ooster, 1858
2.4.8. Planolites Nicholson, 1873
2.4.9. Scolicia de Quatrefages, 1849
2.4.10. Thalassinoides Ehrenberg, 1944
2.4.11. Zoophycos Massalongo, 1855
2.5. Sedimentary facies
2.5.1. Sand-dominated facies
2.5.2. Heterolithic facies
2.5.3. Mud-dominated facies
2.6. Ichnofabrics
2.6.1. The Ophiomorpha rudis ichnofabric association
2.6.2. The Ophiomorpha annulata ichnofabric association
2.6.3. The Phycosiphon - Ophiomorpha rudis ichnofabric
2.7. Ichnological interpretation of depositional environments in the Grès d'Annot
Basin
2.7.1. Basin floor settings
2.7.2. Confining basin slope settings
2.8. Conclusion
References

tegy in marine systems	
Abstract	
3.1. Introduction	
3.2. Marine sediment geochemistry	3-5
3.3. Hypothesis: burial of organic-rich horizons	
3.4. Methods	
3.4.1. Experimental design	
3.5. Observations and results	3-18
3.5.1. Behaviour and burrow distribution of Neotrypaea californ	iensis 3-18
3.5.2. Geochemical changes associated with burrowing	
3.6. Discussion	
3.6.1. Finding deep-buried nutrition in turbidite systems	
3.6.2. Pre-adaptations to deep marine colonization by thalassinid	ls
3.7. Conclusion	
References	

Abstract	4-1
4.1. Introduction	4-2
4.2. Regional geology	4-5
4.3. Methods and dataset	
4.5. Lithofacies.	
4.5.1. Lithofacies 1	4-15
4.5.2. Lithofacies 2	
4.5.3. Palaeoenvironmental interpretations derived from li	thofacies
descriptions	
4.6. Ichnofabric-based core descriptions	
4.6.1. Eagle D-21	
4.6.2. Primrose A-41	
4.6.3. Shubenacadie H-100	
4.6. Biological effects on the texture of fine-grained sediment	
4.6.1. Burrow fill vs. ambient sediment	
4.7. Conclusion	
References	

Chapter 5 - Contributions to the ichnology and ichnofabrics of deep-

water systems: discussion and conclusions	
5.1. Introduction	
5.2. Research conclusions	
5.2.1. Chapter 2: benthic organisms' response to event be	ed deposition 5-2
5.2.3. Chapter 3: a new model for trace fossil distribution	at sandstone-
mudstone junctions in turbidite systems	
5.2.3. Chapter 4: high resolution ichnofabric analysis of	pelagic deposition
and clay mineral alterations	
5.3. Discussion: deep-water ichnology	
References	

List of Tables

- Bioturbation Index (BI) table Table 1.1
- Distributions of the archetypal ichnofacies Table 1.2
- Table 2.1 Trace fossil distribution in the Grès d'Annot Basin Microbial oxidation pathways Trace fossils of the Wyandot Formation
- Table 3.1
- Table 4.1

List of Figures

Figure 1.1 Ichnofacies distribution

Figure 1.2 Trace fossil tiering relationships

Figure 2.1 Location map of the Grès d'Annot Basin

Figure 2.2 Stratigraphy of the Grès d'Annot Basin

Figure 2.3 Ichnofabric Constituent Diagrams (ICDs)

Figure 2.4 Architectural panel of the Col de la Cayolle area

Figure 2.5 Field images of the Baisse de l'Aiguille proximal fan deposit

Figure 2.6 Field images from the Col de la Cavolle area

Figure 2.7 Graphic log of the proximal fan deposits

Figure 2.8 Field images of confining basin slope settings

Figure 2.9 Graphic log from the Braux onlap section

Figure 3.1 Filed image of Ophiomorpha from the Gres d'Annot Basin

Figure 3.2 Field images of Ophiomorpha from the Juncal Formation

Figure 3.3 The influence of bioturbation on microbial zonations

Figure 3.4 3D burrow reconstructions

Figure 3.5 Photographs taken during serial slicing

Figure 3.6 Graphs presenting geochemical data

Figure 4.1 Archetypal endobenthic tiering under steady-state conditions

Figure 4.2 Location map of the Scotian Shelf showing well locations

Figure 4.3 Generalized stratigraphy of the eastern Scotian Shelf

Figure 4.4 Core images, photomicrographs, and backscattered images of lithofacies 1

Figure 4.5 Graphic logs and ichnofabric distributions in the Wyandot Formation

Figure 5.1 Effects of bioirrigation on deep-sediment oxidation pathways, microbial distributions, and hypothesized geochemical trends

List of Plates

Plate 2.1	Field images of Grès d'Annot Basin ichnotaxa
Plate 2.2	Field images of Grès d'Annot Basin ichnotaxa, continued
Plate 2.3	Field images of sand-dominated facies in the Grès d'Annot Basin
Plate 2.4	Field images of heterolithic and mud-dominated facies in the Grès d'Annot
	Basin
Plate 3.1	Mesocosm images: burrow construction, distribution, and animal
	behaviour
Plate 4.1	Core images Wyandot Formation ichnogenera
Plate 4.2	Core images, photomicrographs, and backscattered images of lithofacies 2
Plate 4.3	Core images of ichnofabrics described from the Wyandot Formation
Plate 4.4	Images comparing texture and mineralogy between burrow fills and host sediment

List of Appendices

Unimetion	
Lagand	Δ.
Montagne de l'Avalanche	Α.
Tete Moulone	
Pra Giraud	
Argenton	
ppendix B – Extended results of geochemical and	lysesB-
ppendix B – Extended results of geochemical and Explanation	ilysesB- B-

Co-authorship Statement

The following chapters are presented in manuscript format. Each chapter/manuscript has already been, or will be, submitted to an international scientific journal, as indicated at the bottom of each title page. Consequently, these works have involved collaboration with other authors. Taking each in turn, I shall lay out the work personally doer and contributions made by my co-wathors that helpeds shape the final darks. In each case the work is predominantly my own, completed with some guidance and editorial advice from my supervisor and each submit behavior.

Chapter 2 is a field-based study, involving ichnological characterization of the field share turbide system. Field-work was undertaken by myself and involved a four week field season in the summer of 2006 followed by a six week field season in 2007. Both seasons involved extensive field logging of the Grès d'Annot Formation. All data were collected by my (logs, sampling). The logistics and planning of the seasons were also carried out by me. Co-sumber Dr. Trever Elliott (independent consultant, Liverpec), UK) has extensive knowledge of the basin and directed me towards good localities to start my field-work and provided insight into the Grès d'Annot Basin. Trever Elliott met with me in the field on bhoh ceasions for one to four days, respectively. Further study areas seemicented by me. Dr. Mellowy spent a week in the field with me in 2008 reviewing sedimentological and ichnological context and data. I am the primary unthor on the manuscript with my supervisor Duncam Melloy and Trever Elliott providing constructive ediorial comments and guidance. This work was finded by an NERC Discovery Grant and an NERC/PRAC CRD Grant to Duncam Mellow, with supplementary funding from the Pan-Atulatier between Steeror Goording.

The second manuscript (Chapter 3) involves laboratory-based mescoom experiments carried out a Memorial University. The aquaria were already in place upon y marving at Memorial University. The particular mescooms sediment profiles used in this experiment (detailed in the manuscript) were devised by me. The tracemakers were shipped in from the coast of Oregon, USA. By searching the literature on modern progenitors of Ophismorphia and Thalaristication and communication with Ted DeWitt (US Environmental Protection Agency) based in Newport, Oregon, and he agreed to collect, initially, 12 specimens of Neotryngea californiensis and ship them to Newfoundland, 1 organized the shipment, acquired all necessary licences and permission for a smooth journey for the animals. CT scanning was done by me with aid of Wanda Ayward. Images/slices were digitally altered and, although not an author, Małgorzata Bednarz (a member of the ichnology group at MUN) helped me volumetrically render the stack of images I made to produce a three-dimensional reconstruction of the burrow network using VolView 2.0 (Kitware Inc.). Geochemical analyses were carried out at Memorial University. Sample preparations were done by me, as were the geochemical analyses with initial supervision by Alison Pye (MUN). Duncan McIlroy provided financial support and editorial comments and guidance during construction of the manuscript. Richard Callow (MUN) provided input on tracemaker behaviour at amalgamation surface, the images for Fig. 3.2 (a field locality I did not personally visit), as well as editorial comments during the writing of the manuscript. Liam Herringshaw (MUN) also provided editorial comments. Funding came from a NSERC Discovery Grant and a CRD Grant to Duncan McIlrov.

The third manuscript (Chapter 4) is a core-based study on deep-water childs deposit from offishore Nova Scotia. This involved logging core at CNSOPB, Dartmouth, Nova Scotia for one week in May 2008. All images logs, images were personally acquired. Andrew MacRas (Saim Mary's University, Neva Scotia) helped me in finding stuble core directival through the Vayande Formation. This sections were sent out of Memorial University to be made by loc Macquater (then at Manchester University, UK, now at MUN). Petrographic work was personally done at Memorial University with initial supervision of Michael Schuffer and loc Macquater on the SEM. Duncam Melloy provided editorial comments that helped shape the final paper. Funding eame from the Pan-Andance Petroleum Systems Constrontion.

CHAPTER 1

Traces of the deep: an introduction to invertebrate ichnology



CHAPTER 1

Traces of the deep: invertebrate ichnology in deep-sea

palaeoenvironments

Aims of this thesis

This thesis describes trace fossil assemblages and ichnolabries from deep-water palaceenvironments. In addition, it proposes a model for a commonly observed, but hitherto unexplained, distribution of ichnotaxa in turbidite systems. The ichnological literature has focused on the description of the trace fossil record in term of ichnotacies (facies-controlled groupings of trace fossils). Although this method has merits, the underutilized ichnofabric approach has a higher resolution of detail, particularly in the deep marine and turbidite-influenced environments where the broad geographical and geological environments are characterized by only a few ichnofacies. The aims of this thesis are threefold:

 Turbidite ichnology (and ichnofibrics) will be described from the EoceneOligocene siliciclastic deposits of the Greis d'Annot Basin, SE France. This large, and well-exposed, basin can be used as a natural laboratory to highlight the utility of ichnofibric analysis in deep marine palaecenvironments and allows for more refined facies interpretations of turbidite systems. This paper links facies analysis to ichnofibric analysis in different environments in the Greis d'Annot turbidite system. It seeks to how how ichnofibric analysis can be used

to interpret environmental changes and decipher depositional conditions in a turbidite system understudied with respect to ichnology.

- 2. Burrows along sandstone-mudstone interfaces are common in the geological record of turbidite systems (including the Grist d'Annot Basin). In this paper a model will be proposed to explain this trace fossil distribution. Mesocosm experiments, CT imagery, and geochemical analyses are used to provide data to support the hypothesis that the preference for burrows along sandstone-mudstone interfaces in ancient deep-swater settings is related to a deep-sediment feeding strategy.
- 3. The Upper Cretaceous Wyandot Formation, offshore Nova Scotia, is an understudied reservoir facies. It will be used for refining models of chulk deposition (and analogous sediments). Wells drilled through the Wyandot Formation will be examined and the ichnolibric method employed to reconstruct the depositional environment and identify any depositional or environmental changes. A petrographic study of the Formation will also be undertaken to examine whether infuna produced a change in the texture and mineralogy of the Wyandot tediment and if this inpacts reservoir quality. This study will improve facies analysis and reservoir characterization for deep-water (pelagic) palaceenvironments.

1.1. Introduction and overview

Prior to the 19th century the technological challenges of studying the deep seafloor were too great to be overcome. It was considered to be a dark and barren plane devoid of life often described as a 'deep-sea desert' (Uchman, 2007). The first scientific studies of the deep sea dredged up homogeneous mud from each station while noting that deep-water taxa displayed similar morphologies and behaviours to their shallow-water counterparts (Maury, 1857). Greater advances came with the research conducted on board the H.M.S. Challenger on its 1872 expedition, sampling the ocean floors and cataloguing numerous taxa. Our understanding of the deep sea has increased further in recent years with deepwater exploration undertaken by the Ocean/Deep-Sea Drilling Project along with advances in technology like deep-sea submersible vehicles. Photography of ocean floors and recovery of box cores have revealed numerous surface and in-sediment structures such as burrows, ridges, grooves, tracks, trails, and faecal strings of worms, echinoids, bivalves, and holothurians (Heezen & Hollister, 1971; Hollister et al. 1975; Ekdale & Berger, 1978; Ekdale, 1980; Gaillard, 1991). The resemblance of these modern deep-sea biogenic structures to trace fossils in ancient settings is clear. Even with these advances, our knowledge and understanding of the deep sea are lacking compared with shallow and coastal marine environments (Gage, 1996). This thesis will investigate ancient deep-sea sediments, and using trace fossils, improve our understanding of these environments, sedimentary processes, and their effect on the benthic community.

Before this work begins in earnest it is necessary to provide some definitions for the key terms frequently used and to provide a framework for the ideas and results presented herein. Ichnology is the study of trace fossils, bioturbation, and animalsediment interactions in the rock record (e.g. ancient examples of the life-processes of organisms: Häntzschel, 1975: Bromley, 1996: Bertling et al. 2006). Neoichnology is the study of modern biogenic structures and bioturbation in the field or laboratory (Bromley, 1996). Neoichnological studies have revealed modern examples of many trace fossil genera in deep-water environments (Ekdale & Berger, 1978; Ekdale, 1980; Wetzel & Werner, 1981: Wetzel, 1983, 2002: Gaillard, 1991: Wetzel & Bromley, 1994). Trace fossils in ancient and modern deep-sea settings have been explored by numerous authors (Seilacher, 1962, 1964, 1977; Wetzel, 1983, 1984; Uchman, 1995, 1998, 2001; Savrda & Bottjer, 1989a, 1989b; Mángano & Buatois, 1996; Buatois et al. 2001, 2009) but studies incorporating ichnofabric with facies analysis are lacking. This thesis uses ichnofabric analysis to document ancient deep-water environments and shows how trace fossil are important biosedimentary structures that can identify changes in the depositional and environmental conditions on the deep seafloor. Case studies presented in this thesis include examination of the Grès d'Annot Basin, SE France (a turbidite system in Chapter 2) and the Wyandot Formation, offshore Nova Scotia (an autochthonous pelagic chalk deposit in Chapter 4). The neoichnological study employed in this work proposes a reason for a hitherto unknown distribution of trace fossils in deep-water palaeoenvironments (Chapter 3).

The current definition of a *trace fossil* encompasses all biosedimentary structures resulting from the life activity of an organism (or homotypic organisms) preserved in a

sedimentary or lithiffed subtrate (Hintschel, 1975; Bertling et al. 2006). Structures classified as trace fossils include fossil burows, borings, tracks and trackways, coprolites, gastroliths, regurgitaliths, nests, woven ecceons, spider webs, leaf mines, and bite and game marks (Hertling et al. 2006). Morphologically recurring characteristics allow the classification of trace fossils into *ichnogenera*, suggesting that the trace fossils grouped within an ichnogenus were made by organisms exhibiting similar behavioural strategies (Dromiley, 1996; McHory, 2004a). Trace fossils within an ichnogenus that have identifiable morphological variations related to differences in tracemaker behavioural strategies (Dromiley, 1996; McHory, 2004a). Trace fossils within an ichnogenus that have identifiable morphological variations related to differences in tracemaker behaviour allow the description of an *ichnospecies*. Including all taxonomy (ichnotaxonemy is governed by the principles and guidelines defined by the International Code of Zoological Nomenclature (ICZN) which applies zoological nomenclature to these structures. The latest edition of the ICZN embraced the concept of ichnotaxonomy with the formal establishment of ichnogenera. International Code of Zoological Nollow, 2004b.

Bioinrelation is the process of sediment mixing, laterally and vertically, by epibenthic animals (hose which live on the sediment surface) and endoberthic animals (those that live within the sediment). Bioturbation results in the disruption of primary sedimentary bifwis, the formation of biogenic sedimentary structures (trace fossils), and a biologically modified fabric that may enter the rock record (as an ichnofabric; see discussion below for definition of ichnofabrics). The degree of bioturbation, the *bioarbation index (BU*, can be quantified by comparing the amount of biogenic fabric relative to the primary sedimentary fabric (Droser & Bottjer, 1986; Goldring, 1995; Table L1). This can be disclaved visually in a inclumbative constituent diarram of (CD; Goldring, 1993; see Fig.

Description	No bioturbation. All primary sedimentary fabric preserved.	Sparse bioturbation: a few discrete traces and /or escape structures.	Low bioturbation: bedding distinct, low trace diversity, escape structures common.	Moderate bioturbation: bedding boundaries sharp, traces discrete.	High bioturbation: bedding boundaries indistinct, high trace density with overlap common	Intense bioturbation: bedding completely disturbed, limited reworking due to repeated	Complete bioturbation: burrow homogenized sediment due to repeated overprinting	
Percentage Bioturbation	0	1-5	6-30	31-60	61-90	91-99	100	
8	0	1	2	3	4	9	9	

Table 1.1. The bioturbation index (BI) describing the degress of sediment disruption by benthic organisms relative to the primary sedimentary fabric. Modified from Taylor et al. (2003).

2.3 in Chapter 2 for examples of deep-water ICDs). The fossil record of a single endobenthic community of a contemporaneous group of animals is called an *ichnocoenosis* (Davistashvilli, 1945; Lessertiseur, 1955; Häntzschel, 1975). Ichnocoenoses can be identified by ichnofabric analysis and cross-cutting relationships between trace fossils recording the burrowing activity of generations of time-averaged bioturbating organismis (Mclltoy, 2004a).

Trace fossils are useful biogenic structures for geoscientists undertaking palaecenvironmental analysis. They are autochthonous structures that reflect behavioural responses to depositional and palaecenvironmental conditions at the time of formation (Bromley & Ekdale, 1986; Taylor *et al.* 2003); MacEachem *et al.* 2007a). Trace fossils and be used in numerous disciplines including: (1) palaecenvironmental studies aimed at identifying stressed conditions on the deep-sea floor (Chapters 2 & 4; Wetzel, 1984, 2010; Savrda & Bottjer, 1986, 1989b; Uchman, 2004; MacEachem *et al.* 2007b); (2) identifying surfaces of stratigraphic significance (Savrda, 1991, 1995; Gilibaudo *et al.* 1996; MacEachem *et al.* 2007b); and (3) pertoum-related studies where biogenic structures influence the porosity and permeability of reservoir units (Chapter 4; Gingus *et al.* 1999; Demberton & Gingus 2005; Tonkin *et al.* 2010).

1.2. The effects of bioturbation on the sedimentary environment

Organisms and their environment are closely linked. These interactions have been wellstudied in benthic marine environments (Rhoads, 1974; Aller, 1978, 1982; Dufour et al. 2008; Herringshaw et al. 2010). The presence of an organism within a sediment column changes the physical and chemical properties of that sediment (Wetzel & Uchman, 1998a). This is especially evident for deposit feeding organisms that live entirely in the sediment (Gingras et al. 2008). Bioturbation affects the host sediment at a variety of scales, from the manipulation of individual grains, to the modification of the whole sediment profile. The gotechnical and geotehmical modification of sediment properties by bentitio corganisms are discussed below.

1.2.1. Geotechnical modifications

Without bioturbation, primary sedimentary fabric can be preserved (excepting the effects of loading and soft sediment deformation). Burrowing organisms modify the sedimentary fabric by moving through the substrate, constructing burrows, and feeding within the substrate (Brenchley, 1981). Wetzel & Uchman, 1998a; Mermildo-Hlondin *et al.* 2004). The main physical effects resulting from bioturbation are: (1) the redistribution of sedimentary particles, affecting sediment sorting (Warme, 1967; Howard, 1975; Ziebis *et al.* 1996; Herringshaw *et al.* 2010); (2) an increase or decrease primary sediment permeability and prooxity (e.g. Gingras *et al.* 1999; Penberton & Gingras, 2005; Toxkin *et al.* 2010); and (3) changes in substrate stability such as binding previously unconsolidated material or destabilizing previously consolidated material (Bebada & Vongn, 1970; Nowell *et al.* 1981).

1.2.1.1. Sediment redistribution

Mixing and sorting of sedimentary particles by benthic animals disrupts or removes primary bedding and lamination. The thalassinid crustacean *Neotrppace californiensis* (formerly *Californiansis californianis*) redeposits sediment from depth in the substrate onto the surface during burrow ecavarian (Miller, 1984). At Mugu Lagoon, California, *N. californiensis* are found in densities of over 100 m² and are calculated to rework 20-50 cm³ of sediment per day (MacGinitie & MacGinitie, 1949). Consequently, a community of *N. californiensis* and deposit 1.5 m of structureless sediment onto the surface per year (Miller, 1984), Miller & Myrick, 1992). Likewise abrimps of the genus *Calilanansa* dump sediment at the sediment-water Interface burber finer grains are winnowed away by currents, leaving a courser sediment profile (Shinn, 1968). Active selection and ejection of fine-grained material has been observed by the mud shrimp *Calilanasas truncata* leading to improved sediment graining (tormally graded) or the loss of all primary sedimentary structures (Warme, 1967; Macquaker & Howell, 1999; Richardson *et al.* 1983, 2002).

Benthic animals have numerous methods of burrowing (moving sediment up, down, and laterally) and employ a wide range of feeding strategies (Brontley, 1996; Bentley et al. 2006). Head-down deposit feeders, like some polychatet worms, feed at depth in the sediment, and with their anus close to the sediment-water interface, expel faecal material onto the sediment surface (Fauchald & Jumars, 1979; Brontley, 1996; François et al. 1997; Herringshaw et al. 2010). Taking fine-grained material from depth and expelling it at the surface changes the grain-size distribution of the sediment producing coarser, cleaner sediment at the bottom of the bioturbated zone (Bentley & Nittroter, 2006; Dutour et al. 2008; Tonkin et al. 2010). Conversely, head-up feeders take fine-grained material from the surface and expel it at depth in the sediment (François et al. 1997) or can incorporate it into burrow walls (Herringshaw et al. 2010). Either way, benthic animals change the grain-size distribution of the sediment profile by actively moving fine-grained material during feeding and burrowing activities.

Meiofauna can alter the sediment profile by manipulating individual grains by their feeding and migratory behaviour (Howard & Fry, 1975; Pemberto & Gingras, 2005). This process is called crytobioturbation and involves the movement by ingestion or mechanical manipulation) of selected sediment grains over short distances (Howard & Frey, 1975; Bromley, 1996). Meiofauna such as nematodes and copepods have been observed to migrate 25 cm during a tidal cycle resulting in physical disturbance of the sediment (Reichelt, 1991). This results in "fuzzing" of the sedimentary fabric and may eventually lead to homogenization of the bioturbated unit or production of cryptobioturbation (Pemberton *et al.* 2008). Bulk sediment processing involving large mabers of highly mobile deposit feeding endobenhic organisms is perhaps the most effective way of bioturbating sediment. Deposit feeders are estimated to be able to move 10-100 times more sediment than suspension feeders over the same time period (Gingras *et al.* 2008). As a result deposit feeders are agrater impact on ichnolabile production, per individual, tama suspension feeder. Meltory. 2007.

1.2.1.2. Permeability and porosity

Bioturbating organisms construct vertical and horizontal burrows as well as burrow galleries in the sediment (Bromley, 1996). These burrows are passively or actively filled by the tracemaker resulting in textural heterogeneities that alter the bulk permeability and porosity of the sediment or rock (Gingras et al. 1999, 2002, 2004, 2007; Pemberton & Gingras, 2005; Pemberton et al. 2008; Tonkin et al. 2010). Biogenically enhanced permeability can be achieved by many different permutations of burrow form and morphology (Pemberton & Gingras, 2005; Tonkin et al. 2010). Bulk permeability of the sediment is affected by sediment reorganization techniques employed by benthos and described above (e.g. biologically improved sorting by ejection of fines; Ziebis et al. 1996). Large communities of the lugworm Arenicola marina were found to improve sediment permeability and sorting by ejecting fine-grained material from their burrows (Volkenborn et al. 2007). Burrows made in firm substrates such as dewatered or compacted muds can be passively infilled by a coarser and more permeable material (Pemberton & Frey, 1985). This textural heterogeneity between burrow fill and host sediment allows enhanced permeability pathways in otherwise impermeable, firm, and commonly fine-grained substrate (Gingras et al. 2004, 2007). As a result of their impact on permeability and porosity trace fossils are gaining recognition for the role they play in enhancing reservoir quality (Gingras et al. 1999, 2007; Pemberton & Gingras, 2005). It is also important to note, however, that bioturbation can have an adverse effect on sediment permeability (Tonkin et al. 2010). Sediment packers (those that place fine-grained material into burrow walls, like the tracemakers of Ophiomorpha) have been found to

locally reduce permeability and porosity by 33%, having a deleterious effect on reservoir quality (Tonkin et al. 2010).

1.2.1.3. Substrate stability

Burrowing animals are able to both bind and destabilize the substrate (Rhoads & Young, 1970; Eckman et al. 1981; Nowell et al. 1981). Burrowing can reduce grain-size sorting and introduce porewater into the sediment leading to reduced cohesion of sedimentary grains, increased water content, and an increased chance of resuspension by bottom currents (Rhoads, 1970; Nowell et al. 1981). Bioturbation can decrease sediment stability by increasing seafloor roughness through increasing the effective grain-size (Eckman et al. 1981; Volkenborn et al. 2007). Benthic animals can increase effective grain-size by the biodeposition of faecal pellets (Snelgrove et al. 2001). By increasing surface roughness, burrowing organisms increase the boundary shear stress and decrease the critical entrainment velocity for sedimentary particles and faecal pellets at the sedimentwater interface (Nowell et al. 1981). Faecal pellets increase surface roughness and so are easily resuspended and transported as bedload (Nowell et al. 1981; Bentley & Nittrouer, 1999). Deposit feeders at or near the sediment-water interface cause sediment destabilization by the resuspension and redeposition of fine-grained material (Rhoads & Young, 1970). This limits the settlement of some benthos, particularly planktonic larvae (Rhoads & Young, 1970; Meadows & Meadows, 1991). Conversely, bioturbation can enhance the stability of the substrate through initial colonization by tube builders (Rhoads & Young, 1970). Polychaetes have been found to bind sediment particles together with mucous, stabilizing their burrows and the surrounding substrate (Rhoads, 1970; Meadows

er al. 1990; Dufour et al. 2008; Herringshaw et al. 2010). This is evident in high density populations of the tube-building polychate Medium cristata (5000 m³) where they were found to bind soft, silly substrate (Buchanan, 1965; Fauchald & Jumars, 1979). By encouraging the growth of bacteria and algae, tube-builders are indirectly responsible for sediment binding by microbial muccus (Eckman et al. 1981). Experiments have also shown that the byssal threads of muscles also act to increase sediment stability in dense populations (Shand, 1991).

1.2.2. Geochemical modifications

Bioturbation by micro-, meio- and macrofana can alter the geochemistry of the substrate and modify the influx and efflux of nutrients, oxygen, and other dissolved species across the scaliment-water interface and burrow walls (Berner, 1980; Aller, 1978; 1982; Kristensen, 2000; Marinelli, 1994; Zorn et al. 2006; Herringshaw et al. 2010; The construction of burrows and their active ventilation (bioirrigation) alters the supply of oxygen and nutrients to bacteria in the sediment affecting the distribution of geochemical and microbial zonations and reactions (Chapter 3; Aller, 1982; Mermillod-Blondin et al. 2004).

1.2.2.1. Bioirrigation

Under steady-state conditions the ocean floor has a geochemical stratification related to microbial respiratory processes within the substrate (Froelich et al. 1979; Berner, 1980, 1981; Aller, 1982; Bender & Heggie, 1984; Aplin, 2000). The distribution of these geochemical zones is affected by the biologically modified flux of oxygen and reductants into the sediment (Aller, 1978, 1982; Ziebis et al. 1996; D'Andrea et al. 2002). Burrows, whether they are simple vertical tubes such as Skolithos or dense maze-type gallery networks like Thalassinoides, always act to increase the oxygen flux into the sediment (Zorn et al. 2006). Higher densities of burrows are linked to a higher flux of oxygen into the near-burrow porewater system (D'Andrea & DeWitt, 2009). The burrow wall is a site of solute, nutrient, and oxygen exchange between the substrate and water column (Vaugelas & Buscail, 1990; Glud et al. 1994; DeWitt et al. 2004). Although the burrow wall may be more complex (containing microbial populations and mud-linings) it is analogous to the sediment-water interface and can be thought of as an extension of this surface beneath the sediment (Aller, 1982; Griffis & Suchanek, 1991; Kristensen, 2000). Many endobenthic animals reside in permanent burrows which require ventilation to ensure sufficient oxygenation for respiration (Chapter 3; Farley & Case, 1968; Thompson & Pritchard, 1969; Aller, 1982). Suspension feeders, like some polychaetes, capture plankton for nutrition by bioirrigation (Fauchald & Jumars, 1979). Bioirrigation has been observed in numerous field and laboratory studies (Forster & Graf, 1992, 1995; Marinelli, 1994; Ziebis et al. 1996; Aller & Aller, 1998; Kristensen, 2000; Furukawa et al. 2001; Zorn et al. 2006; and by Neotrypaea californiensis in the mesocosm experiments described in Chapter 3). During bioirrigation, animals pump oxygenated water through their burrows, increasing the oxygen flux into the sediment and removing toxic metabolites which builtd up through respiratory processes and excretions (Hines & Jones, 1985: Marinelli, 1994). The modification of oxygen penetration gives rise to a complex geochemical mosaic within the substrate as illustrated by Aller (1982). Active

bioirrigation by a community of the thalassinid attring N. californiemis was found to increase the depth of the oxygenated zone of the sediment and depress the redox boundary by over 40 em (Miller, 1984). Mixing the sediment by benthic organisms can also increase the zone of oxygenated sediment (Reimers et al. 1980). By repeakaging sedimentary grains (as faecal pellets) and re-depositing them in the sediment, head-up feeders change local geochemistry (Aller, 1982). This biodeposition alters the geochemical gradients by acting as a locus for microbial decomposition (Aller, 1982).

1.2.2.2. Biological weathering

Deposit feeders ingest sedimentary particles either selectively or non-selectively and deficate either on or within the sediment and so affect the texture and geochemistry of the absorbate (Fauchald & Jumars, 1979; Jumars *et al.* 1990; McHroy *et al.* 2003). Bacterial mineralization, alteration of clay mineral assemblages, and clay mineral antificensis is thought to be a common process (Konhauser & Urrutia, 1999). The passage of clay minerals through an acidic and microbe-rich microenvironment (e.g., the digestive system of a deposit freeding animal) can also have an effect on the mineral assemblage in the faceal pellets of *Callichiran angior* (formerly *Callianscus major*) where found to be altered from the suspended clay material initially ingested (Pyor, 1975). Egsteid sediment grains have also been found cated with clay mineral rine formed by mineral disoultion and alsocolitation within desortie fielding corraining via the encircitation within earlowing the reinstance. et al. 2010). Consequently, bioturbation and biological weathering can result in mineralogical and textural changes in the sediment (Chapter 4; McIlroy et al. 2003).

1.3. Environmental controls on bioturbation

The presence of a single burrowing organism or a whole community of benthic organisms can have a significant effect on the sedimentary environment (see above). Conversely, environmental conditions have a control on the life processes of burrowing organisms and therefore influence trace fossil distribution and ichnofabric preservation (Savrda & Botijer, 1986; Goldring, 1995; Wetzel & Uchman, 1998a, 1998b; Bentley *et al.* 1996; Uchman, 2004; Dabittard *et al.* 2005.

1.3.1. Oxygen

Oxygen is one of the primary controls on the distribution of trace fossils and their progenitors (Frey & Scilacher, 1980; Bromley & Ekdale, 1986; Savrda & Bottijer, 1987; Leszczyński, 1991). In persistently anacrobic conditions (< 0.1 ml⁻¹ disordered oxygen) metazoans are unable to survive (i.e. there is no biothreation) so primary sedimentary fabrics can be preserved (Savrda & Bottjer, 1987; Macquaker & Gawthorpe, 1993; Wetzel & Uchman, 1998b). In the absence of biothreation and when the flux of erganic matter is high, dark, organic carbon-rich, laminated mudstones can be preserved in deepware settings (cg. Savrda & Bottjer, 1989; Tollmä & Grimm, 1990; Wetzel, 1991a; Macquaker & Gawthorpe, 1993). Changes in bottom water and porewater oxygenation can be recorded as stratigraphic changes in the trace fossil community (e.g. changes in burrow size, depth of penetration, cross-cutting relationships, density and abundance of trace fossils; Savrda & Bottjer, 1987, 1989b; Ekdale & Mason, 1988; Wetzel, 1991b; Savrda, 1995; Uchman, 2004). Decreased bottom water oxygenation on the deep-basin floor is accompanied by a concomitant shift in the benthic community to smaller, less abundant, simpler burrows and decreased ichnodiversity (Savrda & Bottjer, 1986, 1987; Leszczyński, 1991; Savrda, 1995; Bentley & Nittrouer, 1999). Decreasing oxygenation has been interpreted as the primary cause of changes in assemblages dominated by dwelling burrows (well-oxygenated) to assemblages dominated by feeding and grazing burrows such as Chondrites and Zoophycos (Ekalde & Mason, 1988; Burton & Link, 1991; Wetzel, 1991b). A decrease in oxygenation can also change the infaunal tiering in a substrate (Ekdale & Bromley, 1984; Wetzel, 1991b). Lowered oxygen levels at the sediment-water interface reduce the depth of oxygen diffusion into the porewater system (Gehlen et al. 1997). This leads to a decrease in the depth of the mixed layer and a decrease in the penetration depth of burrowers (Froelich et al. 1979; Savrda & Bottjer, 1986, 1989a; Wetzel, 2010).

Chondrites is a common component of ichnofabrics developed in oxygendeficient palaecenvironments (Bromley & Ekdale, 1984; Savrda & Bottjer, 1989a; Burton & Link, 1991; Wetzel & Uchman, 2001). The Chondrites animal is a deep-burrowing organism commonly responsible for deep-tier trace foosils (Ekdale & Bromley, 1991; Wetzel & Uchman, 1998a, 1998b). The tracemaker is considered to be able to survive in mosis sediments below the redox boundary while maintaining an open connection to the
sedimen-water interface (Exkile & Mason, 1988; Wetzel, 1991b; Ekkile, 1992; Wetzel & Uchman, 2001). The *Chandrites* animal has been inferred to have a chemosymbiotic relationship with sulfide-oxidizing bacteria which oxidize hydrogen sulfide in the presence of an oxygenated burrow providing dissolved organic carbon (DOC) for its host (Pti, 1991). This gives the *Chondrives* animal a competitive advantage in low oxygen environments. Chemosymbiosis is observed in modern fauna such as bivalves which live close to, or below, the redox boundary (Seliacher, 1990; Dufoar & Felback, 2003) and in vent finans on abyscal plains (Grassle, 1985; Jamasch & Motti, 1985). When *Chondriters* is present in mono-generic assemblages it has been used to infer lowered bottom water oxygenation at the sediment-water interface and within the sediment (Bromley & Ekdale, 1944; Savrda & Bottier, 1986, 1987; Wetzel, 1991b).

Turbidity currents can introduce oxygenated water to deep, distal basins (Scholkovitz & Soutar, 1975) providing periodic environmential amelioration and conditions suitable for greater colonization by metazoan life (Leszczyński, 1991). The appearance of bioturbation in previously unbioturbated sediment has been linked to increased oxygenation associated with turbidity current deposition in deep marine palaecenvironments (Follmi & Grimm, 1999, Grimm & Follmi, 1994; Mangano & Buatois, 1997). Oxygenated turbidity currents can also deepen the redox boundary in despease addiments (Willon *et al.* 1985; Thomson *et al.* 1987; Meyers *et al.* 1996). As oxygenation increases at the sediment-water interface, so the thickness of the bioturbated zone also increases (Savrda & Botjer, 1987), and the diversity and abundance of trace fossils similarly increase (Burton & Link, 1991; Mangano & Buatois, 1997). Fully

behavioural diversity and an abundance of benthic organisms and trace fossils (Ekälte & Mason, 1988, Leszczyński, 1991). Seasonal availability of oxygern in some basins can keep the benthic community in the pioneering stage of colonization (Rheads & Boyer, 1982; Bentley et al. 1996; D'Andrea et al. 1996). Evidence for fluctuations in hotsom, water oxygentic (not necessarily seasonal) is common in the goological record (Savida & Bottjer, 1989; Leszczyński, 1991; Grimm & Föllmi 1994). Deep-sea life and the trace fossil community are sensitive to changes in oxygenation. These changes in the benthic community (preserved as oxygenetical ichnoconcess and ichnofibries) can serve as ichnological proxies for changes in deep-sea bottom water oxygenation in ancient settings. (Remeter **&** Kingel Wei, Savida, 1992); Uniuma, 2004).

1.3.2. Nutrient supply and sedimentation rate

The modern deep seafloor is typically a matrient-limited environment (Gooday & Turky, 1990). Mood of the organic matter on the seafloor originates from the photic zone delivered in the form of macroscopic aggregates of phytoplantion and faccal pellets (Mocquaker & Adams, 2003): Mocquake & Bohars, 2007; Macquaker *et al.*, 2010), and macrobiotic carcasses (Gooday & Turky, 1990). Organic matter may also be delivered to distal basins by turbidity currents, which may carry organic carbon-rich sediments (Wilson *et al.*, 1986; Buckley & Cranston, 1988; Wetzel & Uchman, 2001). Under steady-state pelagic conditions (non-turbiditic) the amount of organic matter reaching the seafloor is dependent upon the sedimentation rate (Wetzel, 1983, 1991b), primary poductivity, defittiores nutrient creating in the photic zone (Lozan *et al.*) 993, and the

depth and oxygenation of the water column (Ekdale et al. 1984; Wetzel & Uchman, 1998b). Only 1-10% of the organic material that leaves the photic zone is delivered to the seafloor (Suess, 1990) with 95% of remineralization taking place by oxygen oxidation (Bender & Heggie, 1984). Consequently, an increase in the amount of organic matter typically leads to: (1) an increase in the diversity and abundance of the benthic community (Chapter 4; Moore & Dymond, 1988); (2) an increase in the size of burrowing organisms, burrows, and trace fossils (Wetzel, 1981, 2010); (3) an increase in the metabolic activity in the upper layers of sediment (Wilson et al. 1985); and (4) lowered oxygen flux into the sediment as microbial respiration uses free oxygen mineralizing organic carbon (Gehlen et al. 1997). If remineralization rates are constant then increased sedimentation rates result in increased burial of organic matter (Müller & Suess, 1979). The depth of the bioturbated zone is, to a certain extent, dependent on the amount of organic matter in the sediment column and has been observed to increase with more available organic matter (Wetzel, 1991b; Wetzel & Uchman, 1998b). Values of 0.2-0.4% TOC (total organic carbon) are recorded form modern deep-sea surface sediments (Wetzel, 1982, 1983). Converse to the proliferation of benthos stated above, continued deposition of organic carbon-rich sediments can decrease the abundance and diversity of benthos within the sediment (Chapter 4). Microbial respiration can deplete free oxygen in the sediment during the remineralization of organic carbon resulting in a rising of the redox boundary, porewater anoxia, and the exclusion of most endofauna (as observed in the Wyandot Formation: see Chapter 4: Reimers et al. 1986: Wetzel, 2010). Unless an animal lives at depth in the sediment exploiting surface nutrients, or cultivating microbes (see Chapter 3), then there is no advantage to penetrative sediment exploration under low sedimentation rates. The net effect is that deep burrows are rare (Wetzel & Uchman, 1998b). Surface-grazing trace fossils dominate the ichnofabrics produced under conditions of pelagic mudstone deposition (Wetzel & Uchman, 1998b; Wetzel, 2002). Strafigraphic intervals where sedimentation rates are less than bioturbation rates can be identified by continuous overprinting of burrows (Chalpet 4; Ekdale & Bromley, 1983, 1984). This is best exemplified in modern deep-sea successions where the rate of sediment accumulation is greatly exceeded by the rate of bioturbation (Ekdale & Bromley, 1983, 1984). Complete burrow homogenization of primary physical sedimentary fabrics (the removal of primary submentary structures by benthic organisms) is common in modern deep-sea pelagic covers (Ekdale & Bromley, 1984).

Just as seasonality in oxygenation can influence the community structure on the seafloor (Hentley et al. 1996), seasonality in nutrient supply can also affect bettives (Quijón et al. 2008). Summer blocms of phytoderitus typically stimulate macrobenthic poductivity (Quijón et al. 2008), and trigger the onset of reproductive cycles which increase the abundance of benthic life and larvae (Gooday & Turley, 1990). Nutrientdeficiency in the deep sea can lead to miniaturization of fauna with a tendency towards selective feeding on individual organic sedimentary particles rather than bulk sediment processing (Jumas et al. 1990) (Gage, 1996). These behaviours are indicative of the *Novieries* itchnoficies, a deep-water chilological grouping of endobenthos (discussed in more detail below). This feeding strategy is employed by many deep-water fauna including the progenitors of the graphoglyptid group trace fossils (Suitaher, 1977). MacEachen et al. 2007c). These geometric-patterned burrows are produced by benthic organisms either microbe farming or tracing microbes or particulate matric, efficiently hardine fields and the sense for the graphoglyptid group trace fossils (Suitaher, 1977; MacEachen et al. 2007c). These geometric-patterned burrows are produced by benthic sense function.

exploiting low nutrient sediments in deep-water settings with low pelagic or hemipelagic sedimentation rates (Seilacher, 1977; Ekdale, 1980).

1.3.3. Substrate

Substrate stability defines how a burrow is constructed and affects its preservation potential (Goldring, 1995). In soupground substrates, tracks, trails, and burrows of organisms are misshapen beyond recognition (Chapter 4; Ekdale et al. 1984). This poor preservation potential is commonly reflected in low trace fossil diversity (Dashtgard et al. 2008). Some organisms, such as amphipods, prefer this type of environment as they move by 'swimming' through the waterlogged sediment (Bromley, 1996). Most animals, however, prefer firmer substrates as they allow the construction of semi-permanent or permanent burrows (Bromley, 1996). Most of the benthic deep marine is softground which is firm enough to allow the construction of open burrows lined with mucus without significant risk of burrow collapse (Wetzel & Uchman, 1998a). In a neoichnological study of marginal marine deposits it was found that firm sand and mud provided the substrate for the highest diversity and abundance of burrows (Dashtgard et al. 2008). This high biological diversity is related to the cohesive strength of the substrate allowing permanent burrows to be constructed (Dashteard et al. 2008). Muddy substrates are characterized by larger diameter burrows than in sandy substrates when burrowed by the thalassinid shrimp Neotrypaea californiensis (Griffis & Chavez, 1988).

Firmgrounds can be formed by dewatering and compaction of sediment during burial (which may be exhumed by turbidites in deep-sea settings; Pemberton & Frey,

1985; Hubbard & Shultz, 2008). In deep marine settings, Irmgrounds can commonly be formed on submarine caryon walls (Hayward, 1976). Pre-turbihite trace fossil assemblages show fidelity of preservation most closely comparable to that seen in fimmound conditions. In deep-sea settings revision of surface layers (presumably during sediment bypass) can also lead to the exhumation of stiff substrates at the sediment-water interface which may be subsequently colonized by benthic animals (Scilacher, 1964; Frey & Scilacher, 1980; Savrda, 1991; Savrda *et al.* 2001). Stiff sediments can allow the maintenance of an open barrow even when exposed to higher current activity and are easily identified in the rock record by well-defined burrow walls (Pemberton *et al.* 1992; *Gingus et al.* 1999). These firm burrow walls may preserve bioglyphis (i.e. scatch marks made by the animal(s) on the interior burrow wall; Frey *et al.* 1978; 1984). This is a common observation on *Thalassinoides survicus* (*Qiongeliomorphu*) burrows in dewattered shallow marine and deep marine substrates (Chapter 2; Frey *et al.* 1978; Schilf; 2000). Organisms without appendages or setae have little potential to produce bioglyphs.

Grain-size is also an important consideration of the distribution of benthonic organisms, particularly in larval recruitment (Snelgrove et al. 1998, 2001). Grain-size has more relevance for adult mobile endobenthic organisms than for motile epibenthic sessile endo- or epibenthic organisms as some animals are adapted to live in, manipulate, and deposit feed off material of a specific grain-size (Taylor et al. 2003). Some organisms are adapted to live in fine-grained sediment (e.g. the tracemakers of *Chombries*, Planolites, and Zoophycou) whereas other organisms have a grater grain-size mare (e.g. the processitors of *Thalastanicolo*, Sculicia, and *Processibon*.

Grain-size is also a factor that plays a part in substrate repopulation and larval settlement with some benthos having species selectivity to grain-size (Ramey & Snelgrove, 2003). Planktonic larvae have been found to display grain selectivity when it comes to settling, choosing a grain-size ranse of their adult habitat (Snelgrove *et al.* 1998).

1.4. Deep-sea bioturbation: ichnofacies and ichnofabrics

Trace fossil distribution is dependent on the distribution of the tracemaking benthic community and the preservation potential of that community (Crimes, 1973). One of the first applications of ichonology was in placing ichnological assemblages into environmental distributions called ichonofaeis. Ichnofaeise are facies-controlled trace fossil assemblages that were considered to be temporally and spatially recurring through the Phanerozoic, controlled by the same set of palaceenvironmental and depositional parameters (Sellacher, 1953a, 1933b). The original concept considered ichonofaeise as hathymetrically-related groupings of trace fossils (Sellacher, 1964, 1967). Subsequent work has demonstrated that bathymetry is not the only first order parameter controlling the distribution of ichnofaeis (Byer, 1982; Frey *et al.* 1996, Iodhing, 1993, 1995). Current ichnofaeise workers place greater importance on the full range of possible palaceenvironmental controls rather than relying on ichnofaeis as bathymetric indicators (Frey *et al.* 1990; Pemberton *et al.* 1992; MacEachern *et al.* 2007c). The four archeypal softground ichnofaeis are described in Table 1.2 and their distribution is shown in Fig. L1.

Ichnofacies	Trace Fossil Features	Depositional Environment	Ichnogenera Present
Skolithos ichnofacies	Burrows are found to be vertically-orientated, cylindrical or U-shaped dwelling structures of suspension feeders. Trace fossil diversity is low with high abundances of ichnogenera possible.	The Skolthos ichnotacles is commonly found in moderate to high current energy settings in shifting sands. Such conditions are seen from the shoreface to tidal channels to proximal submarine fans.	Typical ichnogenera found in the Skolithos ichnofacies include Arenicolites Opindrichnus, Diplocarferion, Gyrolithes, Macaronichnus Ophicmorpha, Rossella, and Skolithos
Gruziana ichnofacies	There is a mixture of vertical and horizontal traces in the Cruziana ichnofacias. There are trace fossils representing mobile opi- and endotenthos including carnivores, deposil feeders, and suspension feeders. Diversity and abundance of trace fossils is high.	It is found in muddy, shifting to stable substrates typical of shiftow marine environments from fair weather wave base to depths above storm weather wave base.	Trace fossils found include Asterosome, Chandrites Phytoceles, Rhizocarelism Rossele, Teenicitum Thatessinoides, and Zoophycos.
Zoophysos ichnofacies	The burrows in this ichnofacies are simple to complex feeding and grazing structures dominantly constructed by deposit feeders. There is a low diversity but high abundance of ichnogenera. There is a mix of shafow- and deep penetrating burrows.	The Zoophycos lichnofacies is characteristic of low current energy, quiescent environments with low bottom waters and/or sedment pore water oxygenation found below atorm wieve base. The sediments are organic-rich muds or muddy sands.	Typical trace fossil ichnogrena include Chondres, Helminittopais Phycologihan, Phimolites Scollale, Thalassinoides, and Zoophycos.
Nereites ichnofacies	This chronicates is made or complex shallow is readment grazers and farmers in the rand other complex shapes. All other complex shapes. efficient detoxet feeding shategy.	The Remeta Lithroduces was compared, described by Selacities for meandering and desc-sea environments within desp-sea environments within this sector of the sector than 4000 m (Selacities, 1986). Density is set the law settings (Selacities, 1986). Density is and sector abundances are flow. The abundances are flow. The settings (Selacities, 1986). Density is and abundances and interactivide multicles and the between the considered to proposed depts peaker than 2000 m by reg & Pamatianon (1985).	remetate. Bound Instrume Heinstehnunghung, Comercine Megagingston, Pateecolchyon, Spanghyscus, and Zoophysos.

Table 1.2. The foor softground ichnofacies that characterized much of the marine sedimentary environment: description, general depositional environment, and characteristic trace fossils



Fig. 1.1. The schematic baltymetric and environmental distribution of the four archetypat Schehman offsprendic chemotics (Schematic Chemotics), and a schematic chemical schematics Schematical (Schematics), and Schematical Chemotics), and a schematical schematics and schematics in provided in foreit and schematic chemical schematics (Schematics), and schematics in provided in foreit assemblages in other environments and substrates. Taken from MacEachern et al. (2007c).

1.4.1. Deep-sea ichnofacies

Approximately 70% of the planet's surface comprises a marine benthic habitat with the deep sea being arguably the largest ecosystem on the surface on the planet, covering approximately 40% of the Earth's surface (Quijón & Snelgrove, 2005). This vast area is dominated by two ichnofacies; the Zoophycos and Nereites ichnofacies (Seilacher, 1967) and three ichnosubfacies (the Paleodictyon, Nereites, and Ophiomorpha rudis ichnosubfacies of the Nereites ichnofacies; Seilacher, 1974, Uchman, 2001, 2009). The Zoophycos ichnofacies is a non-event, softground ichnofacies (i.e. it is not influenced by turbidity current or similar depositional processes; Seilacher, 2007). Trace fossils of the Zoophycos ichnofacies are characteristic of depositional environments ranging from offshore shelf to basin floor settings (Pemberton et al. 1992). The Zoophycos ichnofacies is mainly composed of deposit feeders living in quiescent environments with muddy substrates (Seilacher, 1967; Frey & Seilacher, 1980; Seilacher, 2007). The eponymous trace fossil Zoonhocos has been found in various palaeoenvironments through the Phanerozoic. During the Palaeozoic it was found in both nearshore and slope environments but left the nearshore in the Mesozoic and retreated off the continental shelf in the Cenozoic (Bottier et al. 1988; Kotake, 1991; Knaust, 2004). In the modern ocean, Zoophycos is found in deep-sea settings below 2000 m water depth (Wetzel & Werner, 1981; Wetzel, 1983, 1984, 2008). The onshore-offshore migration could be the result of fine-grained mud substrates being deposited in nearshore environments during the Palaeozoic (Bottjer et al. 1988). Components of the Zoophycos ichnofacies, including Zoophycos itself, are conventionally interpreted as opportunistic tracemakers including

surface grazers and endobemthic deposit feeders in low oxygen and low energy environments (Frey & Seilacher, 1980; Kotake, 1988, 1991; MacEiachern et al. 2007c). An alternative interpretation of the ethology of Zoophycors suggests that the trace-making organism was farming microbes in the burrow walls (Brontley, 1991; Fu & Werner, 1995; Bromley & Hanken, 2003). Microbial farming is perhaps a more common method of feeding in the marine realm than previously thought (see Chapter 3).

The Nereites ichnofacies is a softground ichnofacies characterized by deposition of material from the photic zone that is episodically interrupted by deposition from turbidity currents (Wetzel, 2002; Seilacher, 2007). The relatively long-term stability of the deep ocean floor has led to a high degree of specialization in benthic forms. High diversities of burrowing activities and trace fossil assemblages are documented in deepsea and abyssal settings with the maintenance of an equilibrium community of Kstrategists (Sanders, 1968; Ekdale, 1980, 1985). Deep marine trace fossil assemblages can also be characterized by delicate, geometrical traces (graphoglyptids; Seilacher, 1977) forming complex near-surface burrows to exploit the nutrient-deficient, but oxygenated, sediment and bottom waters in deep-sea settings (Ekdale, 1980; Frey & Seilacher, 1980; Wetzel, 2002). The Nereites ichnofacies is found from lower bathyal to abyssal depths (MacEachern et al. 2007c) with modern occurrences below 4000 m water depth (Wetzel, 2002). Preservation of the Nereites ichnofacies requires turbidity currents of weak erosive power to expose the burrows and cast them with sediment transported by the waning currents (Seilacher, 1977; Wetzel, 1984; Orr, 1995). Recently it has been suggested that preservation of pre-depositional assemblages is due to a shock wave ahead of the turbidity current which sucks unconsolidated material into suspension without significant ension of delicate burrows which are then sand cast (Seilaber, 2007). The Nerviers and Zoophycos ichnoficies describe large areas of continental slope and basin bin if conditions are unchanging and stable over periods of time. As a result, ichnosubfacies were introduced to document the trace fossil components within these environments (Seilacher, 1974, Uchman, 2001, 2009). For example, the *Paleoddroyor* and *Nerviers* ichnosubfacies of the *Norviers* ichnofacies were erected to desribe assemblages found in sandier and muddier substrates of deep, distal turbilites, respectively (Seilacher, 1974). The *Ophismorphar rulis* ichnosubfacies of the *Norviers* ichnofacies was introduced by Uchman (2001) to describe the high abundances of *Ophismorphar rulis* found in the thick-bedded andstone turbidites associated with channels and proximal lobe settings (discussed in detail by Uchman, 2009 and documented in Chanter 2.8 a) in terms of ishnoshife.

1.4.2. Deep-sea ichnofabrics

Another method of describing and interpreting the ichnology of ancient and modern sediments is *ichnofabric analysis* (Bockelle, 1991; Knaust, 1998; McIlroy, 2004a). Ichnofabric analysis is a tool which has successfully been used to document and describe a variety of, mostly shallow marine, palaecenvironments (Martin & Pollaud, 1996; McIlroy 2004b; Garton & McIlroy, 2006; Gibert & Goldring, 2007). An *ichnofabric* description documents the itsture and internal structure of a rock or sediment as result of bioturbation and bicerosion at all scates (Ekdale & Bromley, 1983). Ichnofabric analysis and caracterized article and the internal structure stor of data can be directly compared and correlated (McIlroy, 2008). This detailed bed-by-bed approach lends itself to the subtleties encountered in the rock record and makes for a comprehensive study of any field outcrop or cored stratigraphic succession (Goldring, 1995, Taylor *et al.* 2003; McIlroy, 2004a, 2004b, 2007).

Combining lehnological data with analysis of physical sedimentary structures is widely used to improve palaecenvironmental analysis (Chapters 2 & 4; Taylor & Goldring, 1993; McHroy, 2004a, 2004b, 2005). The lehnofacies concept has been found to be too broad and generalized for some study areas (Martin & Pollard, 1996). Three has also been nigration of chhoogenera on- and offshore through the Phanerczoice, Zoophycory being an example (Dottjer *et al.* 1988). These temporal changes in the distribution of ichnotaxa into different environments weakens the ichnofacies concept as the palaecenvironmental setting of deep marine trace fossils has not been uniform through the Phanerczoic. The ichnofacies method has been criticized for not having sufficient resolution to detail to account for bed-hy-bed changes in ichnofaversity and ichnomenty (Goldring, 1993; McHroy, 2004a). The ichnofabric method is favoured and developed in this thesis.

1.5. Contributions to the ichnology and ichnofabrics of deep marine systems

1.5.1. Turbidite ichnofabrics

Turbidite successions preserve two contrasting sets of seafloor conditions. Pre-turbidite conditions are characterized by hemipelagic or pelagis sedimentation (Leuczyński, 1991). Perioda of active turbidity current deposition are characterized by an increase in current energy, sedimentation rate, and often by a change in lithology (Wetzel, 1984). Turbidite deposition changes the sedimentological and geochemical conditions on the seafloor (Wilson *et al.* 1985; Thomson *et al.* 1987; Barton & Link, 1991; Orr, 1994; Meyers *et al.* 1996; Mangano & Buatois, 1997; Wetzel & Uchman, 2001; Uchman, 2004) and subsequently influences the composition and ethology of the benthic community (Chapter 2; Heard & Pickering, 2008). These changes in the benthic environment lead to the justaposition of different ichnocenoses indicative of the different environments (Bomley & Kickla, 1960).

Turbidite successions contain pre- and post-depositional trace foosil assemblages (Seilacher, 1962; Ken, 1980; Orn 1994; Heard & Pickering, 2008; Buatois et al. 2009). Pre-depositional assemblages represent time-averaged, deep-sea ecosystems prior to event hed deposition. Numerous tracemaker ethologies can be preserved in pre-event strata including grazing, faming, and near-surface deposit feeding (Uchman, 1995, 1998). Preservation of pre-depositional assemblages commonly occurs as a result of sand-assing by turbidity carrents of low ensvive power (Seilacher, 1977; Leszczyński, 1991). Trace foosit diversity in these assemblages is generally biah and include many from the graphoglyptid group (Prey & Seilacher, 1977, 1980; Uchman, 1995, 1998; Bromky, 1996). Inter-turbidic conditions are temporally dominant even though sand can dominate the outcrop in turbidite successions (Kern, 1980). Pre-event assemblages are made by K-selective organisms which developed niche specialization between turbidity current events (Sanders, 1968; Edala, 1985; Gage, 1990). Inter-turbidite and pelapic sediments have lower accumulation rates than nearshore and shelf environments, and are dominated by productivity-derived material (Ekdale & Bromley, 1984). As a result predepositional and pelagic assemblages can remove all primary sedimentary structures producing a burrow homogenized fabric and complex overprinting of trace fossils (Chapters 2 & 4; Doeven, 1983; Bromley & Ekdale, 1945; Wetzel, 2002; Macquaker & Adams, 2003).

Post-depositional assemblages are composed of opportunitie r-strategists (Ekdule, 1985) characterized by lower ichlondiversity and higher abundances of deep-burrowing ichnogenera like *Ophomorpha* and *Thalassinoides* (Chapter 2; Uchman, 2009). Tubidity currents can have high sedimentation rates relative to pelagichemipelagie accumulation (e.g. a turbidite 27 cm thick can be deposited in tens of minutes; Allen, 1991). As a result deep-burrowing organisms have a competitive advantage in the aftermath of turbidity currents, able to exploit the resources in buried hemipelagile (Chapters 2, 3).

Within a turbidite system there are commonly ichnological differences between sub-environments (crimes, 1973; Crimes & Fendonkin, 1994; Uchman, 2001; Heard & Pickering, 2008). The component architectural elements of at turbidite system may display a range of environmental conditions so the betthe organisms in those areas show different tracemaker ethologies. An example of this facie-sassociated ichnological variability within a tarbidite system is illustrated in Chapter 2. In Chapter 2 the ichnology and ichnofabrics of an ancient tarbidite setting are examined. The Gries d'Annot Basin, SE France, has excellent exposure making logging continuous sections of many depositional environments possible. The basin is well-taudied with a well-developed sedimentology and stratigraphy framework in place (Apps *et al.* 2004; Callee, 2004). The Gries d'Annot Basin is a thrust sheet-top basin made of several sub-basins bound by structural highs (Apps *et al.* 2004). The Excene/Oligoeene Gries d'Annot Formation is a sand-fich, corner-grained turbidite succession deposited into the confined Gries d'Annot Basin. The confilming topography in the basin led to the formation of many depositional sub-movinoments including bounding slopes, channel areas, and depositional lobes on the basin floor.

Chapter 2 looks at the variety of depositional environments within a confined turbidite system and analyses them from an ichnological standpoint. The following questions are proposed: How do ichnology and ichnofabric change from one part of the turbidite system to another? What are the changes within each sub-environment over time (i.e. how does tracemaker ethology change with increases or decreases in current energy in turbidite systems)? Are there any changes in pre- and post-depositional assemblages in the Greis d'Annot Formation? From all these data, can trace fossils and ichnofabries be used as good indicators of deep-matric depositional environments? There have been several papers on the ichnofabrics of deep-water placie arbonate sediments (Bromley & Ekdale, 1983, 1984; Locklar & Savrda, 1989a, 1989b) but very de-dee-water inholiteris studies have been made on dee-water silicicates definestic sediments (Enorthey & Ekdale, 1983, 1984; Locklar & Savrda, 1989a, 1989b) but very

turbidite systems in particular (Knaust, 1998, 2009). This thesis is a step forward to the contribution of ichnofabrics to better understand the response of deep-sea benthos to changes in the depositional environment in turbidite settings.

1.5.2. Sandstone-mudstone interface trace fossils: a common feeding strategy in marine systems

Inter-tarbidite sediments may include organic matter transported from source areas on the continental shelf or slope (Wilson *et al.* 1985). Burial of fine-grained sediment below turbidite sandstone increases the preservation potential of organic carbon as it is buried in a goochemically closed system beyond the reach of all but depest barrowen (Macquaker & Garwthorps, 1993; Meyers *et al.* 1996). This buried resource can be exploited by deepburrowing, post-depositional tracemakers (Chapters 2 & 3; Miller, 1984; Uchman, 2001, 2009).

Ophiomorpha and Tradiazionnide are two deep-barrowing kilmogenera which are found in mary post-depositional assemblages (Chapter 2; Wetzel, 1991b; Uchman, 2007, 2009; Heard & Pickering, 2008). Post-depositional Ophiomorpha exceed 2 m is length (from the top to sole of andstone turbidiles) in the Grés Arbanet Formation before ramifying at depth in inter-turbidite modstone or along a sandstone-modstone interface (Chapter 2; Uchman, 2007). This distribution of Ophiomorpha and Thalacisonidae was seen throughout the Grés d'Annon Formation and has been observed from other turbidite basins worldwide (Chapter 2; Uchman, 1995, 1998, 2001, 2009; Heard & Pickering 2008). This tanger asks with the Ophiomorpha?Thalacisonidae animal shoeth Jarrow through thick-bedded turbidites to sand-mud interfaces and exploit them so fully leading to the high trace fossil density found on sandstone turbidite tops and soles.

In order to address this question, mescecum experiments were established with modern analogues of the Ophiomorpha and Thalassinind phose the second s

It has long been postulated that microbes in fine-grained inter-turbifite sediment might provide a source of natrition for barrowing organisms rather than the fine-grained material itself (MacGinitie 1978; Miller, 1984; Uchman, 2009). This, until now, has remained untested. It is here hypotheside that *Notropsace californiensis* will barrow down to, and along, sand-mad interfaces in our mesocoms to exploit and farm microbial populations between muddy sediments (containing organic earbon) and comparatively well-oxygenated, and organic carbon-limited sand (relative to the background muddy sediment). Bioirrigation of deep barrows allows deep-sediment oxygenation and maintenance of accelobic microbial poculations within the burrow walls which the

tracemaker can utilize as a nutritional resource. This hypothesis will be tested in this paper. Burrow distributions will be mapped in three dimensions using CT imagery and samples taken from the mesocosms for TOC and stable isotope analysis to determine whether N. cultiforniousis is changing the sediment geochemistry to meet its nutritional requirements.

These experiments aim to record the range of behaviours exhibited by modern trace-making organisms and their response to differing sediment profiles. The mesocoum experiments conducted herein aim to provide an explanation for why ancient deepburrowing organisms, such as the *Ophiomorpha*-progenitors, preferentially exploit sandstone-mudstone interfaces in tarbidite systems. The incentive for such deep burrowing the history between the source.

1.5.3. Ichnofabrics associated with pelagic sedimentation

Deep ocean floors, away from the influence of turbidity currents, are entirely subject to pelagic deposition (Gooday & Turley, 1990). Pelagic or hemipelagic steady-state conditions are typified by low sediment accumulation rates (Deeven, 1983; Bromley & Edukla, 1984, Wetzel, 2002). The material that reaches the ocean floor is almost entirely sourced from the photic zone and comprises of planktonic debris, and faccal pellets flocculated into 'marine snow' (Gooday & Turley, 1990). Above the calcite compensation depth (CCD) sediment is dominantly productivity derived (i.e. namoplankton-rich) with little or no clastic dilution by allochtonous components (Mocquader & Gosthorpe, 1993; Macquader & Adamy, 2003). Detrial material material compensation and the statement of the s delivered to the deep seathor is commonly wind-blown sill-grade material (bess: Wetzel, 1984). Deep-water and abysaal environments are oxygenated, but commonly natiretadeficient (humars et al. 1990) resulting in a tiered endobenhic community in the well-defined and well-documented as organisms reside at different depths in the sediment related to species specific performences for substrate firmnese, oxygenation, and differences in feeding behaviour (Berger & Heath, 1968, Wetzel, 1981, 1983, 1991b; Ekdale et al. 1984; Honnelox & Ekdala, 1968, Swrket Rotter, 1988).

Endofaunal teiring in seliments has a trigaritie stratigraphy including an upper mitted layer, an intermediate tranuition Jayer, and a lower historical layer (Fig. 12; Berger et al. 1979; Wetzel, 1984, 1991b). The mixed layer is a layer of water-saturated seliment, hurrow somogenized by meiofauna extending from the seliment-water interface 3-15 cm into the substrate (Berger et al. 1979; Ekdale et al. 1984; Savda & Botijer, 1989a; Brendley, 1996). Continual bioturbation reduces the shear strength of the mixed layer making it easily remobilized by bottom currents (Savda & Botijer, 1989a). The mixed layer making it easily remobilized by bottom currents (Savda & Botijer, 1989a). The mixed layer is the transition layer, composed of dwelling and feeding structures of deeper burrowing organisms (Savda & Botijer, 1989a). Active burrowing leads to heterogeneous mixing of the sediment in the transition layer (Ekdale et al. 1948). The thickness of the transition layer was found to be 20-35 cm thick in the edutor in the sediment Pacific by Berger et al. (1997). The historical layer defines the deptines in the sediment





ichnofibric (when bioturbation is complete), overprinted by trace fossils from the transition layer (Locklair & Sarvda, 1998a, 1998b). The historical layer characterizes, most deep-water moltone facies, silicidastic mudstones, marls and chalks (Chapter 4; Edude & Bromley, 1983, 1984).

Chapter 2 documents the trace fossil assemblages and ichnofabrics of pelagic sediments (an end-member system). The outcrops at Montagne de Chalufy, Grès d'Annot Basin, SE France, (Chapter 2) document vagile, near-surface deposit feeders and farmers utilizing organic carbon in fine-grained sediment between turbidity current episodes. Likewise, Chapter 4 describes the autochthonous Wyandot Formation, offshore Nova Scotia, which preserves similar tracemaker ethologies, related to low sediment accumulation rates. The Wyandot Formation is intensely bioturbated reservoir facies with the loss of all primary sedimentary fabric (Ings et al. 2005). When intense bioturbation destroys all the primary sedimentary fabric, ichnofabrics and trace fossil assemblages can be used to decipher palaeoenvironmental conditions (Bottjer & Savrda, 1986, 1989a, 1998b; Savrda, 1991, 1995; Wetzel, 1991b). The Wyandot Formation is used as a case study to assess the usefulness of trace fossil analysis and the ichnofabric method in reconstructing depositional environments and identifying stressed conditions in the rock record of pelagic systems. This paper also investigates the textual and mineralogical impact of bioturbating organisms and its effect on reservoir quality. Deposit feeding endofauna have the potential to introduce heterogeneity into the sediment by biodeposition (of faecal nellets). Studies on the effect of bioturbation of reservoir properties have mainly focussed on siliciclastic systems (Gingras et al. 2007: Tonkin et al. 2010). Chapter 4 includes a petrographic study of the Wyandot Formation to examine

whether the burrowing organisms have had any effect on the mineralogy of the sediment,

and if so, could it influence reservoir quality of carbonate systems?

References

- ALLEN, J. R. L. 1991. The Bourna division A and the possible duration of turbidity currents. *Journal of Sedimentary Petrology*, 61, 291–295.
- ALLER, R. C. 1978. Experimental studies of changes produced by deposit feeders on pore water, sediment, and overlying water chemistry. *American Journal of Science*, 278, 1185–1234.
- ALLER, R. C. 1982. The effects of macrobenthos on chemical properties of marine sediment and overlying water. In: MCCALL, P. L. & TRVESZ, M. J. S. (eds) Animal-Sediment Relations. Plenum Press, New York, 33–102.
- ALLER, R. C. & YINOST, J. Y. 1978. Biogeochemistry of tube-dwellings: a study of the sedentary polychaete *Amphitrite ornata* (Leidy). Journal of Marine Research, 36, 201–254.
- ALLER, R. & ALLER, J. 1998. The effect of biogenic irrigation intensity and solute exchange on diagenetic reaction rates in marine sediments. *Journal of Marine Research*, 56, 095–936.
- APLIN, A. C. 2000. Mineralogy of modern marine sediments: a geochemical framework. In: VAUGIAN, D. J. & WOOELUS, R. (eds) Environmental Mineralogy. European Mineralogical Union, Budapest, Hungary, 125–172.
- APPS, G. M., PETL, F. & ELUOTT, T. 2004. The structural setting and palacogosgraphical evolution of the Gres d'Annot Basin. In: JOSEPH, P. & LOMAS, S. A. (eds) Deepwater sedimentation in the Alpine Basin of SE France; new perspectives on the Gres d'Annot and related systems. Geological Society, London, Special Publications. 221, 65–60.
- AUSICH, W. I. & BOTTJER, D. J. 1982. Phanerozoic tiering in suspension-feeding communities on soft substrata; implications for diversity. *Science*, 216, 173–174.
- BENDER, M. L. & HEGGIE, D. T. 1984. Fate of organic carbon reaching the deep sea floor: a status report. Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta, 48, 977–986.
- BENTLEY, S. J. & NITTROUER, C. A. 1999. Physical and biological influences on the formation of sedimentary fabric in an oxygen-restricted depositional environment; Eckemförde Bay, southwestern Baltic Sea. *PALAIOS*, 14, 585–600.
- BENTLEY, S. J., NITTROUER, C. A. & SUMMERFIELD, C. K. 1996. Development of sedimentary strata in Eckernförde Bay, southwestern Baltic Sea. Geo-Marine Letters, 16, 148–154.

BENTLEY, S. J., SHEREMET, A. & JAEGER, J. M. 2006. Event sedimentation, bioturbation, and preserved sedimentary fabric: field and model comparisons in three contrasting marine settings. *Continental Sheft Research*, **26**, 2108–2124.

- BERGER, W. H. & HEATH, G. R. 1968. Vertical mixing in pelagic sediments. Journal of Marine Research, 26, 134–143.
- BERGER, W. H., EKDALE, A. A. & BRYANT, P. P. 1979. Selective preservation of burrows in deep-sea carbonates. *Marine Geology*, 32, 205–230.
- BERNER, R. A. 1980. Early Diagenesis: A Theoretical Approach. Princeton University Press. Princeton, 241p.

BERNER, R. A. 1981. A new geochemical classification of sedimentary environments. Journal of Sedimentary Petrology, 51, 359–365.

- BERTLING, M., BRADDY, S. J., BROMLEY, R. G., DEMATHIEU, G. R., GENISE, J., MIKULÁŠ, R., NIELSEN, J. K., NIELSEN, K. S. S., RINDSBERG, A. K., SCHLRF, M. & UCHMAN, A. 2006. Names for trace fossils: a uniform approach. Lethicia. 39, 265–286.
- BOCKELIE, J. F. 1991. Ichnofabric mapping and interpretation of Jurassic reservoir rocks of the Norwegian North Sea. PALAIOS, 6, 206–215.
- BOTTJER, D. J., DROSER, M. L. & JABLONSKI, D. 1988. Palaeoenvironmental trends in the history of trace fossils. *Nature*, 333, 252–255.
- BRENCHLEY, G. 1981. Disturbance and community structure: an experimental study of bioturbation in marine soft-bottom environments. *Journal of Marine Research*, 39, 767–790.
- BROMLEY, R. G. 1991. Zoophycos: strip mine, refuse dump, cache or sewage farm? Lethaia, 24, 460–462.

BROMLEY, R. G. 1996. Trace fossils: Biology, Taphonomy and Applications. Chapman & Hall, London, 280p

- BROMLEY, R. G. & EKDALE, A. A. 1984. Chondrites: a trace fossil indicator of anoxia in sediments. Science, 224, 872–874.
- BROMLEY, R. G. & EKDALE, A. A. 1986. Composite ichnofabrics and tiering of burrows. Geological Magazine, 123, 59–65.
- BROMLEY, R. G. & HANKEN, N-M. 2003. Structure and function of large, lobed Zoophycos, Pilocene of Rhodes, Greece. *Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeocolaev*, 192, 79–100.
- BUATOIS, L. A., MANGANO, M. G. & SYLVESTER, Z. 2001. A diverse deep marine ichnofauna from the Eocene Tarcau Sandstone of the Eastern Carpathians, Romania. *Ichnos*, 8, 23–62.
- BUATOIS, L. A., GINGRAS, M. K., MACEACHERN, J., MÁNGANO, M. G., ZONNEVELD, J. P., PEMMERTON, G. S., NETTO, R. G. & MARTIN, A. 2005. Colonization of brackishwater systems through time: Evidence from the trace-fossil record. *PALAIOS*, 20, 321–347.
- BUATOIS, L. A., MÁNGANO, M. G., BRUSSA, E. D., BENEDETTO, J. L. & POMPEI, J. F. 2009. The changing face of the deep: colonization of the Early Ordovician deep-sea floor, Puna, northwest Argentina. *Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeocolony*. 280, 291–299.
- BUCHANAN, J. B. 1963. The bottom fauna communities and their sediment relationships off the coast of Northumberland. *Oikos*, 14, 154–174.

- BUCKLEY, D. E. & CRANSTON, R. E. 1988. Early diagenesis in deep sea turbidites: the imprint of paleo-oxidation zones. *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta*, 52, 2925– 2939.
- BURTON, B. R. & LINK, P. K. 1991. Ichnology of fine-grained mixed carbonatesiliciclastic turbidites, Wood River Formation, Pennsylvanian-Permian, southcentral Idaho, *PALAIOS*, 6, 291–301.
- BYERS, C. W. 1982. Geological significance of marine biogenic sedimentary structures. In: MCCALL, P. L. & TEVESZ, M. J. S. (eds) Animal-Sediment Relations. Plenum Press, New York, p. 221–256.
- CALLEC, Y. 2004. The turbidite fill of the Annot Sub-basin (SE France): a sequencestratigraphy approach. In: JOSEPH, P. & LOMAS, S. A. (eds) Deep-water sedimentation in the Alpine Basin of SE France; new perspectives on the Griss d'Annot and related systems. Geological Society, London, Special Publications, 221, 111–135.
- CRIMES, T. P. 1973. From limestones to distal turbidites: a facies and trace fossil analysis in the Zumaya flysch (Paleocene-Eocene), North Spain. Sedimentology, 20, 105– 131.
- CRIMES, T. P. & FENDONKIN, M. A. 1994. Evolution and dispersal of deepsea traces. PALAIOS, 9, 74–83.
- D'ANDREA, A., CRAIG, N. & LOPEZ, G. R. 1996. Benthic macrofauna and depth of bioturbation in Eckernförde Bay, southwestern Baltic Sea. Geo-Marine Letters, 16, 155–159.
- D'ANDREA, A. F. & DEWITT, T. H. 2009. Geochemical ecosystem engineering by the mud shrimp Upogebia pugettensis (Crustacea: Thalassinidea) in Yaquina Bay, Oregon: Density-dependent effects on organic matter remineralization and nutrient cycling. Limmology and Oceanography, 54, 1911–1932.
- D'ANDREA, A. F., ALLER, R. C. & LOPEZ, G. R. 2002. Organic matter flux and reactivity on a South Carolina sandflat; the impacts of porewater advection and macrobiological structures. *Linnology and Oceanography*, 47, 1056–1070.
- DAVISTASIIVILI, U. SH. 1945. Tsenozy zhivykh organizmov I organicheskikh ostatkov [Assemblages of live organisms and of organic remains]. Akademiya Nauk Grazin SSR, 6, 527–534.
- DASHTGARD, S. E., GINGRAS, M. K. & PEMBERTON, S. G. 2008. Grain-size controls on the occurrence of bioturbation. Polaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeocology. 257, 224–243.
- DieWIT, T. H., D'AMDERA, A. F., BROWN, C. A., GRUFEN, B. D. & ELDRIDGE P. M. 2004. Impact of burrowing shring populations on nitogene cycling and water quality in western North American temperate estuaries. *In: TANANA, A (ed) Proceedings of the Symposium on Ecology of Large Biotarbustons in Tidal Flaza and Shallow Solutional Sediments – from Individual Behavior to Their Role as Ecosystem Environes. University of Nasaski, Janna (10–118).*
- DOEVEN, P. H. 1983. Cretaceous nannofossil stratigraphy and paleoecology of the Canadian Atlantic margin. Bulletin of the Geological Survey of Canada, 356, p. 69.

- DROSER, M. L. & BOTTJER, D. J. 1986. A semiquantitative field classification of ichnofabric. Journal of Sedimentary Petrology, 56, 558–559.
- DUFOUR, S. C. & FELBECK, H. 2003. Sulphide mining by the superextensile foot of symbiotic thyasirid biyalves. Nature, 426, 65–67.
- DUFOUR, S. C., WHITE, C., DESROSIERS, G. & JUNIPER, S. K. 2008. Structure and composition of the consolidated mud tube of *Maldane sarsi* (Polychaeta: Maldanidae). *Estudente. Coastal and Shelf Science*, 78, 360–368.
- ECKMAN, J. E., NOWELL, A. R. M. & JUMARS, P. A. 1981. Sediment destabilization by animal tubes. *Journal of Marine Research*, 39, 361–373.
- EKDALE, A. A. 1980. Graphoglyptid burrows in modern deep-sea sediment. Science, 207, 304–306.
- EKDALE, A. A. 1985. Paleoecology of the marine endobenthos. Palaeogeography, Palaeoelimatology, Palaeoecology, 50, 63–81.
- EKDALE, A. A. 1992. Muckraking and mudslinging: the joys of deposit-feeding. In: MAPLES, C. G. & WEST, R. R. (eds) Trace Fossils. The Paleontological Society, Short Courses in Paleontology, 5, 145–171.
- EKDALE, A. A. & BERGER, W. H. 1978. Deep-sea ichnofacies: modern organism traces on and in pelagic carbonates of the western equatorial Pacific. *Palaeogeography, Palaeocology*, 23, 263–278.
- EKDALE, A. A. & BROMLEY, R. G. 1983. Trace fossils and ichnofabric in the Kjolby Gaard Marl, uppermost Cretaceous, Denmark. Bulletin of the Geological Society of Denmark, 31, 107–119.
- EKDALE, A. A. & BROMLEY, R. G. 1984. Comparative ichnology of shelf-sea and deepsea chalk. Journal of Paleontology, 58, 322–332.
- EKDALE, A. A. & BROMLEY, R. G. 1991. Analysis of composite ichnofabrics: an example from the Uppermost Cretaceous chalk of Denmark. PALAIOS, 6, 232–249.
- EKDALE, A. A. & MASON, T. R. 1988. Characteristic trace-fossil associations in oxygenpoor sedimentary environments. *Geology*, 16, 720–723.
- EKDALE, A. A., MULLER, L. N. & NOVAK, M. T. 1984. Quantitative ichnology of modern pelagic deposits in the abyssal Atlantic. *Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology*, 45, 189–223.
- FARLEY, R. D. & CASE, J. F. 1968. Perception of external oxygen by the burrowing shrimp, Califanaesa californiensis Dana and C. affinis Dana. Biological Bulletin, 134, 261–265.
- FAUCHALD, K. & JUMARS, P. A. 1979. The diet of worms: a study of polychaete feeding guilds. Oceanography and Marine Biology: An Annual Review, 17, 193–284.
- FÖLLMI, K. B. & GRIMM, K. A. 1990. Doomed pioneers: gravity-flow deposition and bioturbation in marine oxygen-deficient environments. *Geology*, 18, 1069–1072.
- FORSTER, S. & GRAF, G. 1992. Continuously measured changes in redox potential influenced by oxygen penetrating from burrows of *Callianassa subterranea*. *Hydrobiologia*, 232–236, 527–532.
- FORSTER, S. & GRAF, G. 1995. Impact of irrigation on oxygen flux into the sediment: Intermittent pumping by *Callianxassa subterranea* and "piston-pumping" by *Lanice conchilega, Marine biology*, 123, 335–346.

- FRANÇOIS, F., POGGIALE, J., DUBEC, J. & STORA, G. 1997. A new approach for the modelling of sediment reworking induced by a macrobenthic community. Acta Biotheoretica, 45, 295–319.
- FREY, R. W. & SEILACHER, A. 1980. Uniformity in marine invertebrate ichnology. Lethaia, 13, 183–207.
- FREY, R. W., HOWARD, J. D. & PRYOR, W. A. 1978. Ophiomorpha: its morphologic, taxonomic, and environmental significance. Palaeogeography. Palaeocelinatology. Palaeoecology. 23, 199–229.
- FREY, R. W., CURRAN, H. A. & PEMBERTON, S. G. 1984. Tracemaking activities of crabs and their environmental significance; the ichnogenus *Psilontchnus. Journal of Paleontology*, 58, 333–350.
- FREY, R. W., PEMBERTON, S. G. & SAUNDERS, T. D. A. 1990. Ichnofacies and bathymetry: a passive relationship. *Journal of Paleontology*, 64, 155–158.
- FROELCH, P. N. KLINKHAMMER, G. P., BENDER, M. L., LUEDTKE, N. A., HEATH, R. G., CULLEN, D., DAUPHIN, P., HAMMOND, D., HARTMAN, B. & MAYNARD, V. 1979. Early oxidation of organic matter in pelagic sediments of the eastern equatorial Atlantic suboxic diagenesis. *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta*, 43, 1075–1090.
- FU, S. 1991. Funktion, Verhalten und Einteilung fucoider und lophoceniider Lebensspuren. Cour. Forsch.-Inst. Senckenberg, 135, 1–79.
- FU, S. & WERNER, F. 1995. Is Zoophycos a feeding trace? N. Jahrb. Geol. Paläontol. Abh., 195, 37–47.
- FURUKAWA, Y., BENTLEY, S. J. & LAVOIE, D. L. 2001. Bioirrigation modeling in experimental benthic mesocosms. *Journal of Marine Research*, 59, 417–452.
- GAGE, J. 1996. Why are there so many species in deep-sea sediments? Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology, 200, 257–286.
- GAILLARD, C. 1991. Recent organism traces and ichnofacies on the deep-sea floor off New Caledonia, southwestern Pacific. *PALAIOS*, 6, 302–315.
- GARTON, M. & MCILROY, D. 2006. Large thin slicing: a new method for the study of fabrics in lithified sediments. *Journal of Sedimentary Research*, 76, 1252–1256.
- GEHLEN, M., RABOUILLE, C & GUIDI-GUILVARD, L. D. 1997. Drastic changes in deep-sea sediment porewater composition induced by episodic input of organic matter. *Limnology and Oceanography*, 42, 980–986.
- GHIBAUDO, G., GRANDESSO, P., MASSARI, F. & UCIIMAN, A. 1996. Use of trace fossils in delineating sequence stratigraphic surfaces (Teritary Venetian Basin, northeastern Italy). *Palacogeography, Palacoccologimatology, Talacoccology*, 120, 261–279.
- GIBERT, J. M. DE & GOLDRING, R. 2007. An ichnolabric approach to the depositional interpretation of the intensely burrowed Batelig Limestone, Miocene, SE Spain. *Sedimentary Geology*, 194, 1–16.
- GINGRAS, M. K., MENDOZA, C. A. & HENK, F. 1999. Assessing the anisotropic permeability of Glossifungites surfaces. *Petroleum Geoscience*, 5, 349–357.
- GINGRAS, M. K., RASANEN, M. E. PEMBERTON, S. G. & ROMERO, L. P. 2002. Ichnology and sedimentology reveal depositional characteristics of bay-margin parasequences in the Miocene Amazonian foreland basin. *Journal of Sedimentary Research*, **72**, 871–883.

- GINGRAS, M. K., PEMBERTON, S. G., MUELENBACHS, K. & MACHEL, H. 2004. Conceptual models for burrow-related, selective dolomitization with textural and isotopic evidence from the Tyndall Stone, Canada. *Geobiology* 2, 21–30.
- GINGRAS, M. K., PEMBERTON, S. G., HENK, F., MACEACHEIRN, J. A., MENDOZA, C. A., ROSTRON, B., O'HARE, R., SPALA, M. & KONHAUSER, K. 2007. Applications of ichnology to fluid and gas production in hydrocarbon reservoirs. *In:* MACEACHERR, J. A., PEMBERTON, S. G., GINGRAS, M. K. & BANK, K. L. (eds) *Applied Ichnology*. Society of Economic Paleontologists and Mineralogists Short Course Nets 23, 131–145.
- GINGRAS, M. K., PEMBERTON, S. G., DASHTGARD, S. & DAFOE, L. 2008. How fast do marine invertebrates burrow? *Palaeogeography*, *Palaeocology*, 270, 280–286.
- GLUD, R., GUNDERSEN, J., JORGENSEN, B. B. REVSBECH, N.P. & SCHULTZ, H. D. 1994. Effects on the benthic diffusive boundary layer imposed by microelectrodes. *Linnology and Oceanography*, 39, 462–467.
- GOLDRING, R. 1993. Ichnofacies and facies interpretation. Palaios, 8, 403-405.
- GOLDRING, R. 1995. Organisms and the substrate: response and effect. In: BOSENCE, D. W. J. & ALLSON, P. A. (eds) Marine palaeoenvironmental analysis from fossils. Geological Society, London, Special Publications, 83, 151–180.
- GOODAY, A. & TURLEY, C. 1990. Responses by benthic organisms to inputs of organic material to the ocean floor: a review. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society, London*, 331A, 119–138.
- GRASSLE, J. F. 1985. Hydrothermal vent animals: distribution and biology. Science, 229, 713–717.
- GRIFFIS, R. & CHAVEZ, F. 1988. Effects of sediment type on burrows of Callianassa californiensis Dana and C. gigas Dana. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology, 117, 239–253.
- GRIFFIS, R. & SUCHANEK, T. 1991. A model of burrow architecture and trophic modes in thalassinidean shrimp (Decapoda: Thalassinidea). *Marine ecology progress* series, 79, 171–813.
- GRIMM, K. A. & FÖLLMI, K. B. 1994. Doomed pioneers: allochthonous crustacean tracemakers in anaerobic basinal strata, Oligo-Miocene San Gregorio Formation, Baja California Sur, Mexico, PAL10/08, 9, 313–334.
- HÅNTZSCHEL, W., 1975. Trace fossils and problematica. In: Teichert, C. (Eded.), Treatise on Invertebrate Paleontology, part W., Miscellanea, Supplement I. Geological Society of America and University of Kansas Press, 269p.
- HAYWARD, B. W. 1976. Lower Miocene bathyal and submarine canyon ichnocoenoses from Northland, New Zealand. Lethaia, 9, 149–162.
- HEARD, T. G. & PICKERING, K. T. 2008. Trace fossils as diagnostic indicators of deepmarine environments, middle Eccene Ainsa-Jaca Basin, Spanish Pyrenees. Sedimentology, 55, 809–844.
- HEEZEN, B. C. & HOLLISTER, C. D. 1971. The Face Of The Deep. Oxford University Press, 659p.
- HERRINGSHAW, L. G., SHERWOOD, O. A. & MCILROY. D. 2010. Ecosystem engineering by bioturbating polychaetes in event bed microcosms. *PALAIOS*, 25, 45–57.

- HINES, M. E. & JONES, G. E. 1985. Microbial biogeochemistry and bioturbation in the sediments of Great Bay, New Hampshire. *Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science*, 20, 729–742.
- HOLLISTER, C. D., HEEZEN, B. C. & NAFE, K. E. 1975. Animal traces on the deep-sea floor. In: FREV, R. W. (ed) The Study Of Trace Fossils: A Synthesis Of Principles, Problems. And Proceedures In Ichnology. Springer-Verlag. New York, 493–510.
- HOWARD, J. D. & FREY R. W. 1975. Regional animal-sediment characteristics of Georgia estuaries. Senckenbergiana Maritima, 7, 33–103.
- HUBBARD, S. M. & SHULTZ, M. R. 2008. Deep burrows in submarine fan-channel deposits of the Cerro Toro Formation (Cretaceous), Chilean Patagonia: implications for firmground development and colonization in the deep sea. *PALALOS*, 23, 223–232.
- ICZN, 1999. International Code of Zoological Nomenclature (Fourth Edition). In: RIDE, W. D. L., COGGER, H. G., DUPUNIS, C., KRAUS, O., MINELLI, A., THOMISON, F. C. & TUBAS, P. K (eds) The International Trust for Zoological Nomenclature, London, UK.
- JANNASCH, H. W. & MOTTL, M. J. 1985. Geomicrobiology of deep-sea hydrothermal vents. Science, 229, 717–725.
- JUMARS, P., MAYER, L., DEMING, J.W., BAROSS, J. A. & WHEATCROFT, R. A. 1990. Deepsea deposit-feeding strategies suggested by environmental and feeding constraints. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society, Landon, 331A*, 85–101.
- KERN, J. P. 1980. Origin of trace fossils in Polish Carpathian flysch. Lethaia, 13, 347– 362.
- KNAUST, D. 1998. Trace fossils and ichnofabrics on the lower Muschelkalk carbonate ramp (Triassic) of Germany: a tool for high-resolution sequence stratigraphy. *Geologische Rundschan*, 87, 21–31.
- KNAUST, D. 2004. Cambro-Ordovician trace fossils from the SW-Norwegian Caledonides. Geological Journal, 39, 1–24.
- KNAUST, D. 2009. Characterisation of a Campanian deep-sea fan system in the Norwegian Sea by means of ichnofabrics. *Marine and Petroleum Geology*, 26, 1199–1211.
- KONHAUSER, K. O. & URRUTIA, M. M. 1999. Bacterial clay authigenesis: a common biogeochemical process. *Chemical Geology*, 161, 399–413.

KOTAKE, N. 1989. Paleoecology of the Zoophycos producers. Lethaia, 22, 327-341.

- KOTAKE, N. 1991. Non-selective surface deposit feeding by the Zoophycos producers. Lethaia, 24, 379–385.
- KRISTENSEN, E. 2000. Organic matter diagenesis at the oxic/anoxic interface in coastal marine sediments, with emphasis on the role of burrowing animals. *Hydrobiologia*, 426, 1–24.
- LESSERTISSEUR, J. 1955. Traces fossils d'activité animale et leur significance paléobiologique. Société Géologique de France, Memoire, 74.
- LESZCZYNSKI, S. 1991. Trace-fossil tiering in flysch sediments: examples from the Guipuzcoan flysch (Cretaceous-Paleogene), northern Spain. Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, 88, 167–184.

- LOCKLAIR, R. E. & SAVRDA, C. E. 1998a. Ichnofossil tiering analysis of a rhythmically bedded chalk-marl sequence in the Upper Cretaceous of Alabama. *Lethaia*, 31, 311–322.
- LOCKLAIR, R. E. & SAVRDA, C. E. 1998b. Ichnology of rhythmically bedded Demopolis Chalk (Upper Cretaceous, Alabama): implications for palecenvironment, depositional cycle origins, and tracemaker behavior. *PALAIOS*, 13, 423–436.
- LOGAN, G. A., HAYES, J. M., HIESHIMA, G. B. & SUMMONS, R. E. 1995. Terminal Proterozoic reorganization of biogeochemical cycles. *Nature*, 376, 53–56.
- MACEACHERN, J. A., GINGRAS, M. K., BANN, K. L., PEMBERTON, S. G. & DAFOE, L. T. 2007a. Application of ichnology to high-resolution genetic stratigraphic paradigms. In: MACEACHERN, J. A., PEMBERTON, S. G., GINGRAS, M. K. & BANN, K. L. (eds). Applied Ichnology. Society of Economic Palcontologists and Mineralogists Short Course Notes **20**, 95–129.
- MACEACHIRRN, J. A., PEMMERTON, S. G., BANN, K. L. & GINGRAS, M. K. 2007b. Departures from the archetypal ichnofacies: effective recognition of environmental stress in the rock record. In: MACEACHERN, J. A., PEMMERTON, S. G., GINGRAS, M. K. & BANN, K. L. (eds) Applied Ichnology: Society of Economic Paleontologists and Mineralogists Short Course Notes 52, 65–93.
- MACEATHERN, J. Å., BANN, K. L., PEMBERTON, S. G. & GINGRAS, M. K. 2007. The ichnofacies paradigm: high-resolution palecenvironmental interpretation of the rock record. In: MACEATERN, J. A., PEMBERTON, S. G., GUNKAS, M. K. & BANN, K. L. (eds) Applied Ichnology: Society of Economic Paleontologists and Mineralogists Short Course Nets **52**, 27–64.
- MACGINITIE, G. E. 1978. The Rôle of bacteria as food for bottom animals. Science, 76, 490.
- MACGINITIE, G. E. & MACGINITIE, N. 1949. Natural History of Marine Animals. McGraw-Hill Book Company, 473p.
- MACQUAKER, J. H. S. & GAWTHORPE, R. L. 1993. Mudstone lithofacies in the Kimmeridge Clay Formation, Wessex Basin, southern England: implications for the origin and controls of the distribution of mudstones. *Journal of Sedimentary Petrology*, 63, 1129–1143.
- MACQUAKER, J. H. S. & HOWELL, J. K. 1999. Small-scale (<5.0 m) vertical heterogeneity in mudstones: implications for high-resolution stratigraphy in siliciclastic mudstone successions. *Journal of the Geological Society of London*, 156, 105– 112.
- MACQUAKER, J. H. S. & ADAMS, A. E. 2003. Maximizing information from fine-grained sedimentary rocks; an inclusive nomenclature for mudstones. *Journal of Sedimentary Research*, 73, 735–744.
- MACQUAKER, J. H. S. & BOHACS, K. M. 2007. On the accumulation of mud. Science, 318, 1734–1735.
- MACQUAKER, J. H. S., KELLER, M. A. & DAVIES, S. J. 2010. Algal blooms and "marine snow": mechanisms that enhance preservation of organic carbon in ancient finegrained sedimenta: *Journal of Sedimentary Research*, 80, 934–954.

- MÅNGANO, M. G. & BUATOIS, L. A. 1996. Shallow marine event sedimentation in a volcanic arc-related setting; the Ordovician Suri Formation, Famatina Range, Northwest Argentina. Sedimentary Geology, 105, 63–90.
- MÅNGANO, M. G. & BUATOIS, L. A. 1997. Slope-apron deposition in an Ordovician arcrelated setting: the Vuelta de Las Tolas Member (Suri Formation), Famatina Basin, Northwest Argentina. Sciementary Geology, 109, 155–180.
- MARINELLI, R. 1994. Effects of burrow ventilation on activities of a terebellid polychaete and silicate removal from sediment pore waters. *Limnology and Oceanography*, 39, 303–317.
- MARTN, M. A. & PULARU, J. E. 1996. The role of frace fossii (ichnofabric) analysis in the development of depositional models for the Upper Jurassie Fulman Formation of the Kittivake Field Quadrant 21 UKCS). In: HURST, A., JOHNSON, H. D., URLIY, S. D. B., CANIMA, A. C. & MACKETICH, D. S. (edd) Geology of the Humber Group, Central Graben and Marcy Firth, UKCS. Geological Society, Lendon, Social Publications. J 14, 163–183.
- MAURY, M. F. 1857. The Physical Geography Of The Sea. General Books, London, 248p.
- MCILROY, D. 2004a. Some ichnological concepts, methodologies, applications and frontiers. In: MCILROY. D. (ed) The application of ichnology to palaeoenvironmental and stratigraphic analysis. Geological Society, London, Special Publications, 228, 3–27.
- MCILROY, D. 2004b. Ichnofabrics and sedimentary facies of a tide-dominated delta: Jurassie Ile Formation of Kristin Field, Haltenbanken, offshore mid-Norway. In: MCILROY. D. (ed) The application of ichnology to pulaceorritorumental and stratigraphic analysis. Geological Society, London, Special Publications, 228, 237–272.
- MCILROY, D. 2007. Lateral variability in shallow marine ichnofabrics: implications for the ichnofabric analysis method. *Journal of the Geological Society of London*, 164, 359–369.
- MCILROY, D. 2008. Ichnological analysis: the common ground between ichnofacies workers and ichnofabric analysts. *Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeocolomy*, 279, 332–338.
- MCILROY, D., WORDEN, R. H. & NEEDHAM, S. J. 2003. Faeces, clay minerals and reservoir potential. *Journal of the Geological Society of London*, 160, 489–493.
- MEADOWS, P. S. & MEADOWS, A. 1991. The geotechnical and geochemical implications of bioturbation in marine sedimentary ecosystems. In: MEADOWS, P. S. & MEADOWS, A. (eds) The Environmental Impact of Burrowing Animals and Animal Burrows. Symposia of the Zoological Society of London, 63, 157–182.
- MEADOWS, P. S., TAIT, J. & HUSSAIN, S. A. 1990. Effects of estuarine infauna on sediment stability and particle sedimentation. *Hydrobiologia*, 190, 263–266.
- MERMILLOD-BLONDIN, F., ROSENBERG, R., FRANÇOIS-CARCAILLET, F., NORLING, K. & MAUCLARE, L. 2004. Influence of bioturbation by three benthic infaunal species on microbial communities and biogeochemical processes in marine sediment. *Aquatic Microbial Ecology*. 36, 271–284.

- MEYERS, P. A., SILLIMAN, J. E. & SHAW, T. J. 1996. Effects of turbidity flows on organic matter accumulation, sulfate reduction, and methane generation in deep-sea sediments on the beria abvssal plain. Oreanic Geochemistry, 25, 69–78.
- MILLER, M. F. 1984. Bioturbation of intertidal quartz-rich sands: a modern example and its sedimentologic and paleoecologic implications. *Journal of Geology*, 92, 201– 216.
- MILLER, M. F. & MYRICK, J. L. 1992. Population fluctuations and distributional controls of *Calilianassa californiensis*: effect on the sedimentary record. *PALAIOS*, 7, 621–625.
- MOORE, W. S. & DYMOND, J. 1988. Correlation of ²¹⁰Pb removal with organic carbon fluxes in the Pacific Ocean. *Nature*, 331, 339–341.
- MÜLLER, P. J. & SUESS, E. 1979. Productivity, sedimentation rate, and sedimentary organic matter in the oceans - I. Organic carbon preservation. *Deep-Sea Research*, 26A, 1347–1362.
- NEEDHAM, S. J., WORDEN, R. H. & MCILROY, D. 2004. Animal-sediment interaction: the effect of ingestion and excretion by worms on mineralogy. *Biogeosciences*, 1, 113–121.
- NEEDHAM, S. J., WORDEN, R. H. & MCILROY, D. 2005. Experimental production of clay rims by macrobiotic sediment ingestion and excretion processes. *Journal of Sedimentary Research*, 75, 1028–1037.
- NOWELL, A., JUMARS, P. & ECKMAN, J. E. 1981. Effects of biological activity on the entrainment of marine sediments. *Marine Geology*, 42, 133–153.
- ORR, P. J. 1994. Trace fossil tiering within event beds and preservation of frozen profiles; an example from the Lower Carboniferous of Menorca. *PALAIOS*, 9, 202–210.
- ORR, P. J. 1995. A deep-marine ichnofaunal assemblage from Llandovery strata of the Welsh Basin, West Wales, UK. Geological Magazine, 132, 267–285.
- PEMBERTON, S. G. & FREY, R. W. 1985. The Glossifungites ichnofacies: modern examples from the Georgia coast, U.S.A. In: CURRAN, H. A. (ed) Biogenic structures: their use in interpreting depositional environments. Society of Economic Paleontologists and Mineralogists Special Publication, 35, 237–259.
- PEMBERTON, S. G. & GINGRAS, M. K. 2005. Classification and characterizations of biogenically enhanced permeability. *American Association of Petroleum Geologists Bulletin*, 89, 1493–1517.
- PEMBERTON Š. G., MACEACHERN J. A. & FREY, R. W. 1992. Trace fossil facies models; environmental and allostratigraphic significance. In: WALKER, R. G. (ed) Facies Models: Response to Sea Level Change. Geological Association of Canada, St. John's, Newfoundland, Canada, 47–72.
- PEMBERTON S. G., MACEACHERN J. A., GINGRAS M. K. & SAUNDERS, T. D. A. 2008. Biogenic chaos: Cryptobioturbation and the work of sedimentologically friendly organisms. *Palaeogeography*, Palaeoclimatology, *Palaeocology*, *270*, 273–279.
- PRYOR, W. A. 1975. Biogenic sedimentation and alteration of argillaceous sediments in shallow marine environments. *Geological Society of America Bulletin*, 86, 1244– 1254.

- QUIJÓN, P. & SNELGROVE, P. V. R. 2005. Polychaete assemblages of a sub-arctic Newfoundland fjord: habitat, distribution, and identification. *Polar Biology*, 28, 495–505.
- QUIJON, P., KELLY, M. & SNELGROVE, P. V. R. 2008. The role of sinking phytodetritus in structuring shallow-water benthic communities. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, 366, 134–145.
- RAMEY, P. & SNELGROVE, P. V. R. 2003. Spatial patterns in sedimentary macrofiunal communities on the south coast of NewFoundland in relation to surface oceanography and sediment characteristics. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 262, 215–227.
- REICHELT, A. C. 1991. Environmental effects of meiofaunal burrowing. In: MEADOWS, P. S. & MEADOWS, A. (eds) The Environmental Impact of Burrowing Animals and Animal Burrows, Symposia of the Zoological Society of London, 63, 33–52.
- REIMERS, C. E., FISCHER, K. M., MEREWETHER, R., SMITH, K. L. JR & JAINKE, R. A. 1986. Oxygen microprofiles measured in situ in deep ocean sediments. *Nature*, 320, 741–744.
- RHOADS, D. 1970. Mass properties, stability, and ecology of marine muds related to burrowing activity. *Geological Journal Special Issue*, 3, 391–406.
- RHOADS, D. 1974. Organism-sediment relations on the muddy sea floor. Oceanography and Marine Biology Annual Review, 12, 263–300.
- RHOADS, D. C. & YOUNG, D. K. 1970. The influence of deposit-feeding organisms on sediment stability and community trophic structure. *Journal of Marine Research*, 28, 150–178.
- RHOADS, D. & BOYER, L. 1982. The effects of marine benthos on physical properties of sediments: a successional perspective. *In:* MCGII, P. L. & Tevesz, M. J. S. (eds) *Animal-Sediment Relations.* Plenum Press. New York, 3–52.
- RICHARDSON, M. D., YOUNG, D. K. & BRIGGS, K. B. 1983. Effects of hydrodynamic and biological processes on sediment geoacoustic properties in Long Island Sound, U.S.A. Marine Geology, 52, 201–226.
- RICHARDSON, M. D., BRIGGS, K. B., BENTLEY, S. J., WALTER, D. J. & ORSI, T. H. 2002. The effects of biological and hydrodynamic processes on physical and acoustic properties of sediments off the Eel River, California. *Marine Geology*, 182, 121– 139.
- SANDERS, H. L. 1968. Marine benthic diversity: a comparative study. The American Naturalist, 102, 243–282.
- SAVRDA, C. E. 1991. Ichnology in sequence stratigraphic studies: an example from the lower Paleocene of Alabama. *PALAIOS*, 6, 39–53.
- SAVRDA, C. E. & OZALAS, K. 1993. Preservation of mixed-layer ichnofabrics in oxygenation-event beds. PALAIOS, 8, 609–612.
- SAVRDA, C. E. 1995. Ichnologic applications in paleoceanographic, paleoclimatic, and sea-level studies. PALAIOS, 10, 565–577.
- SAVRDA, C. E. & BOTTJER, D. J. 1986. Trace-fossil model for reconstruction of paleooxygenation in bottom waters. *Geology*, 14, 3-6.
- SAVRDA, C. E. & BOTTJER, D. J. 1987. The exaerobic zone, a new oxygen-deficient marine biofacies. *Nature*, 327, 54–56.

- SAVRDA, C. E. & BOTTJER, D. J. 1989a. Anatomy and implications of bioturbated beds in 'black shale' sequences: examples from the Jurassic Posidonienschiefer (southern Germany). *PALAIOS* 4, 330–342.
- SAVRDA, C. É. & BOTTJER, D. J. 1989b. Trace-fossil model for reconstructing oxygenation histories of ancient marine bottom waters; application to Upper Cretaceous Niobrara Formation, Colorado. Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology, 74, 49–74.
- SAVRDA, C. E., BROWNING, J. V., KRAWINKEL, H. & HESSELBO, S. P. 2001. Firmground ichnofabrics in deep-water sequence stratigraphy, Tertiary clinoform-toe deposits, New Jersev slope. *PALAIOS*, 16: 294–305.
- SCHLIRF, M. 2000. Upper Jurassic trace fossils from the Boulonnais (northern France). Geologica et Palaeontologica, 34, 145–213.
- SELACHER, A. 1953a. Studien zur Palichnologie; I, Ueber die Methoden der Palichnologie. Neues Jahrbuch fuer Geologie und Palaeontologie. Abhandlungen, 96, 421–452.
- SEILACHER, A. 1953b. Studien zur Palichnologie; II, Die fossilen Ruhespuren (Cubichnia). Neues Jahrbuch füer Geologie und Palaeontologie. Abhandlungen, 98, 87–124.
- SEILACHER, A. 1962. Paleontological studies on turbidite sedimentation and erosion. Journal of Geology, 70, 227–234.
- SEILACHER, A. 1964. Biogenic sedimentary structures. In: IMBRIE, J. & NEWELL, N. D. (eds) Approaches to Paleoecology. John Wiley & Sons, New York, 296–316.
- SEILACHER, A. 1967. Bathymetry of trace fossils. Marine Geology, 5, 413-428.
- SEILACHER, A. 1974. Fossil-Vergesellschaftungen, Nr. 20; flysch trace fossils: evolution of behavioural diversity in the deep-sea. Neues Jahrbuch fuer Geologie und Palaeontologie. Monsthefiet, 4, 233–245.
- SEILACHER, A. 1977. Pattern analysis of *Paleodictyon* and related trace fossils. *In:* CRIMES, T. P. & HARPER, J. C. (eds) *Trace fossils* 2. Geological Journal Special Issue, 9, 289–334.
- SEILACHER, A. 1990. Aberrations in bivalve evolution related to photo- and chemosymbiosis. *Historical Biology*, 3, 289-311.

SEILACHER, A. 2007. Trace Fossil Analysis. Springer, Berlin, 226p.

- SILND, P. 1991. Sediment movement around mussels: flume experiments and critical erosion velocities and sorting. In: MEADOWS, P. S. & MEADOWS, A. (eds) The Environmental Impact of Burrowing Animals and Animal Burrows. Symposia of the Zoological Societ ov El London, 63, 313.
- SHINN, E. A. 1968. Burrowing in Recent lime sediment of Florida and the Bahamas. Journal of Paleontology, 42, 879–894.
- SHOLKOVITZ, E. & SOUTAR, A. 1975. Changes in the composition of the bottom water of the Santa Barbara Basin: effect of turbidity currents. *Deep-Sea Research*, 22, 13– 21.
- SNELGROVE, P. V. R, GRASSLE, J. & BUTMAN, C. A. 1998. Sediment choice by settling larvae of the bivalve, Spisula solidissima (Dillwyn), in flow and still water. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology, 231, 171–190.

- SNELGROVE, P., GRASSLE, J. & ZIMMER, C. A. 2001. Adult macrofauna effects on Capitella sp. 1 larval settlement: a laboratory flume study. Journal of Marine Research, 59, 657–674.
- SUESS, E. 1980. Particulate organic carbon flux in the oceans-surface productivity and oxygen utilization. Nature, 288, 260–263.
- TAYLOR, A. M. & GOLDRING, R. 1993. Description and analysis of bioturbation and ichnofabric: organisms and sediments, relationships and applications. *Journal of the Geological Society of London*, 150, 141–148.
- TAYLOR, A., GOLDRING, R. & GOWLAND, S. 2003. Analysis and application of ichnofabrics. *Earth-Science Reviews*, 60, 227–259.
- THOMPSON, R. K. & PRITCHARD, A. W. 1969. Respiratory adaptation of two burrowing crustaceans, Calitanassa californiensis and Upogebia pugettensis (Decapoda, Thalassinidea). Biological Bulletini, 136, 274–287.
- THOMSON, J., COLEPY, S., HIGOS, N. C., HYDES, J. D., WILSON, T. R. S. & SORENSEN, J. 1987. Geochemical oxidation fronts in NE Atlantic distal turbidites and their effects in the sedimentary record. In: WEAVER, P. P. E. & THOMSON, J. (eds) Geology and geochemistry of abyssal plains. Geological Society Special Publications, 31, 167–172.
- TONKIN, N. S., MCILROY, D., MEYERS, R. MOORE-TURPIN, A. 2010. How does bioturbation influence reservoir quality? A case study from the Cretaceous Ben Nevis Formation, Jeanne d'Arc Basin, offshore NewFoundland, Canada. American Association of Petroleum Geologists Bulletin, 94. 1059–1078.
- UCIMAN, A. 1995. Taxonomy and palaeoecology of flysch trace fossils: the Marnosoarenacea Formation and associated facles (Miocene, Northern Apennines, Italy). *Beringeria*, 15, 1–115.
- UCHMAN, A. 1998. Taxonomy and ethology of flysch trace fossils; revision of the Marian Ksiazkiewicz Collection and studies of complementary material. *Annales Societatis Geologorum Polonice*, 68, 105–218.
- UCHMAN, A. 2001. Eccene flysch trace fossil from the Hecho Group of the Pyrenees, northern Spain. Beringeria, 28, 3–41.
- UCHMAN, A. 2004. Deep-sea trace fossils controlled by palaeo-oxygenation and deposition; an example from the Lower Cretaceous dark lysch deposits of the Sileisan Unit, Carpathians, Poland. *Fossils and Strata*, **51**, 39–57.
- UCHMAN, A. 2007. Deep-sea ichnology: Development of major concepts. In: MILLER, W. III (ed) Trace Fossils: Concepts, Problems, Prospects. Elsevier, Amsterdam, 248–267.
- UCHMAN, A. 2009. The Ophiomorpha rudis ichnosubfacies of the Nereites ichnofacies: characteristics and constraints. Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology, 276, 107–119.
- VAUGELAS, J. DE & BUSCAIL, R. 1990. Organic matter distribution in burrows of the thalassinid crustacean *Callichirus lauroe*, Gulf of Aqaba (Red Sea). *Hydrobiologia*, 207, 269–277.
- VOLKENBORN, N., HEDTKAMP, S. I. C., BEUSEKOM, J. E. E. VAN & REISE, K. 2007. Bioturbation and bioirrigation extend the open exchange regions in permeable sediments. *Limnology and Oceanography*, 52, 1898–1909.

- WARME, J. E. 1967. Graded bedding in the recent sediments of Mugu Lagoon, California. Journal of Sedimentary Petrology, 37, 540–547.
- WEIMER, R. J. & HOYT, J. H. 1964. Burrows of Callianassa major Say, geologic indicators of littoral and shallow neritic environments. Journal of Paleontology, 38, 761–767.
- WERNER, F. & WETZEL, A. 1981. Interpretation of biogenic structures in oceanic sediments. Bulletin de l'Institut de Geologie du Bassin d'Aquitaine, 31–32, 275– 288.
- WETZEL, A. 1981. Morphology and ecological significance of Zoophycos in deep-sea sediments off NW Africa. *Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology*, 32, 185–212.
- WETZEL, A. 1982. Biogenic sedimentary structures in a modern upwelling region: Northwest African continental margin. In: THEDE, J. & SUESS, E. (eds) Coastal Upwelling and its Sediment Record, Part B; Sedimentary Records of Ancient Upwelling. Plenum, New York, 123–144.
- WETZEL, A. 1983. Biogenic structures in modern slope to deep-sea sediments in the Sulu Sea basin (Philippines). *Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology*, 42, 285–304.
- WETZEL, A. 1984. Bioturbation in deep-sea fine-grained sediments: influence of sediment texture, turbidite frequency and rates of environmental change. *In:* Stow, D. A. V. & PUPR, D. J. W. (eds) *Fine-grained sediments: Deep-water processes and facies.* Geological Society, London, Special Publications, 15, 595– 608.
- WETZEL, A. 1991a. Stratification in black shales: depositional models and timing: an overview. In: EINSELE, G., RICKEN, W. & SELLACHER, A. (eds) Cycles and Events in Stratigraphy. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 508–523.
- WETZEL, A. 1991b. Ecologic interpretation of deep-sea trace fossil communities. Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology, 85, 47-69.
- WETZEL, A. 2002. Modern Nereites in the South China Sea: ecological association with redox conditions in the sediment. PALAIOS, 17, 507–515.
- WETZEL, A. 2008. Recent bioturbation in the deep South China Sea: a uniformitarian ichnologic approach. PALAIOS, 23, 601–615.
- WETZEL, A. 2010. Deep-sea ichnology: observations in modern sediments to interpret fossil counterparts. Acta Geologica Polonica, 60, 125-138.
- WETZEL, A. & WERNER, F. 1981. Morphology and ecological significance of Zoophycos in deep-sea sediments off NW Africa. *Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeocology*, 32, 185–212.
- WETZEL, A. & BRÖMLEY, R. G. 1994. Phycosiphon incertum revisited: Anconichnus horizontalis its junior subjective synonym. Journal of Paleontology, 68, 1396– 1402.
- WETZEL, A. & UCHMAN, A. 1998a. Deep-sea benthic food content recorded by ichnofabrics; a conceptual model based on observations from Paleogene flysch, Carpathians, Polane *PLALAIOS*, 13, 533–546.
- WETZEL, A. & UCHMAN, A. 1998b. Biogenic structures in mudstones an overview. In: SCHEBER, J., ZIMMERLE, W. & SETHI, P. (eds) Shales and Mudstones I. Basin Studies, Sedimentology, Paleontology, 351–369.
- WETZEL, A. & UCHMAN, A. 2001. Sequential colonization of muddy turbidites in the Eocene Beloveza Formation, Carpathians, Poland. Palaeogeography, Palaeocolimatology, 168, 171–186.
- WILDE, P. A. W. J. 1991. Interactions in burrowing communities and their effects on the structure of marine benthic ecosystems. *In:* MeADOWS, P. S. & MEADOWS, A. (eds) *The Environmental Impact of Burrowing Animals and Animal Burrows*. Symposia of the Zoological Society of 1 ondon, **63**, 107–118.
- WILSON, T. R., THOMSON, J., COLLEY, S., HYDES, D. J. & HIGGS, N. C. 1985. Early organic digenesis: The significance of progressive subsurface oxidation fronts in pelagic sediments. *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta*, 49, 811–822.
- WILSON, T. R., THOMSON, J., HYDES, D. J., COLLEY, S., CULKIN F. & SORENSEN, J. 1986. Oxidation fronts in pelagic sediments: diagenetic formation of metal-rich layers. *Science*, 232, 972–975.
- ZIEDIS, W., FORSTER, S., HUETTEL, M. & JORGENSEN, B. B. 1996. Complex burrows of the mud shrimp *Callianessa trancata* and their geochemical impact in the sea bed. *Nature*, 382, 619–622.
- ZORN, M. E., LALONDE, S. V., GINGRAS, M. K., PEMBERTON, S. G. & KONHAUSER, K. 2006. Microscale oxygen distribution in various invertebrate burrow walls. *Geobiology*, 4, 137–145.

CHAPTER 2

Ichnological characterization of Eocene/Oligocene turbidites from the Grès d'Annot Basin, French Alps, SE France



Published in Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology (2011) Volume 300 (1-4), 67-83.

CHAPTER 2

Ichnological characterization of Eocene/Oligocene turbidites from the

Grès d'Annot Basin, French Alps, SE France

CHRISTOPHER PHILLIPS 1 DUNCAN MCILROY 1 TREVOR ELLIOTT 2

¹ Department of Earth Sciences, Memorial University of Newfoundland, St. John's, NL A1B 3X5, Canada
² Department of Earth and Ocean Sciences, University of Liverpool, Liverpool L69 3BX, U.X

Abstract

The ichnology of the Gris d'Annot Basin, SE France, is described in detail for the first time. Deep marine palaceorvironments from basin slope to basin floor settings are preserved. The Gris d'Annot Formation is a sand-rich, thick-bedded, and coarse-grinder thibilite succession. The Marnes Binnens Infiferences Formation is a succession of thinbedded, fine-grained turbidites interpreted as lateral and distal equivalents of the Gris d'Annot Formation. The siliciclastic basin fill is highly bioturbated and characterized by low diversity, high abandance ichnological assemblages which are described herein. Trace forsil and ichnefabric analysis of the Gres d'Annot Basin are used as tools for intervention subscore/normetal and described herein.

Heterolithic successions of thin-bedded turbidite sandstone and inter-turbidite mudstone contain the most diverse trace fossil assemblages found in the Grès d'Annot Basin. Sedimentological and ichnological data suggests that heterofiltic facies are found on either relatively quiescent confining slopes either as lateral or distal equivalents of larger turbidites or as channel-fill deposits. In these settings trace fossil assemblages are dominated by the deposit feeding activity of vagile, endobenthic organisms (e.g., Ophismorpha, Physosiphon, Planniker, and Scolicia).

Thick-bedded and channel sandstones contain low diversity trace fossil assemblages dominated by *Ophiomorpha*. *Ophiomorpha* in the Grist d'Annet Basin is inferred to have been produced by organisms mostly deposit feeding on buried organictich material during inter-outbildit nitervals. *Ophiomorpha rula* is the most prominent trace fossil found in the Grist d'Annet Basin and dominates the ichnofabrics in all locations within the basin. The deep-burrowing ability of the *Ophiomorpha* naimal is considered to be an adaptation for exploiting buried organic nutrients found in interturbilite matchases.

2.1. Introduction

The deep matrice, currently comprising approximately 40% of the Earth's surface, is perhaps the single most widespread depositional environment. This vast ecosystem has been greatly understudied with respect to palaco- and neoichnology in comparison with shallow-marine settings. This disparity is partly due to the technological challenges of studying modern deep marine settings. This work details trace fossil assemblages of the Ges d'Anne Risk, no e of the beta preserved, and well exposed, ancient deep-water systems (Sinclair, 1997; Kneller & McCaffrey, 1999; 2003; Apps et al. 2004). Largescale facies architecture and its relationship to process sedimentology and basin structure have been well constrained, but no study has focused specifically on the ichnology of the Gris' d'Annot Formation. The pre-existing sedimentological and stratigraphic framework makes this an ideal site for an integrated ichnological and sedimentological analysis of an ancient, deep-water depositional system.

Bioturbation and bioerosion, and the ichnofabries they produce in sediments have many applications particularly for palaceorvironmental and stratigraphic studies (Taylor et al. 2003; Mcllray, 2004a, 2008). Trace fossils preserve the response of benthic organisms to prevailing environmental and depositional conditions. To this end, they are constructive to workers in many different disciplines as they provide data that can aid in: (1) the identification of key stratal surfaces, usually omission surfaces (MacEachern et al. 1991; 2007a; Ghibaudo et al. 1996); (2) the identification of stressed conditions on the seafloor (Uchman, 2004; MceEachern et al. 2007b); and (3) interpreting palaceorrionments both in outcrop and in core (Demberton et al. 2001; Mcllray, 2004a, 2004b, 2007, 2008; MacEachern et al. 2007b); Mcllray, 2004a, 2004b, 2007, 2008; MacEachern et al. 2007b); Mcllray, 2004a,

This paper uses the Grès d'Annot turbidite system to develop trace fossils and ichnofhbries as depositional and environmental indicators in deep-sea siliciclautic turbidite systems. It is the first detailed account of the ichnological assemblages of the Grès d'Annot Formation and Basin. The paper uses trace fossil assemblages as tools for highlighting changes in the palaeconvironmental and depositional conditions during the deposition of the siliciclastic basin fill.

2-3

2.2. Methodology

Excellent exposure within the Gris d'Annot Basin allows detailed logging of extensive areas and sections of cliff-face. The main facus of this work was to document the trace fossils in the sand-rich Gris d'Annot Formation which had hitherto had not been documented in dreatil. In areas of onlap with the Gris d'Annot Formation the trace fossils of the underlying Marnes Brunes Inférieures Formation and Marnes Bleues Formation were also studied. This paper centres on work carried out in four areas (Fig. 2.1). Facies architectural elements logged include channel studies and channel-full at the Col de la Cayolle area, a proximal fan environment at Baisse de l'Aiguille, and sus loop settings fondus surfaces at the Branx and Mortaset de Chalufy outcreaves (Fig. 2.1).

2.3. Geological Setting

The Grès d'Annot Basin is not a foreland basin *sensu strictu*, but a thrust sheet-top (pigg)sack) basin formed helind the thrust front on top of already compressed and shortened crust (Apps *et al.* 2004). As a result, the Gries d'Annot Basin and other thrust sheet-top basins are found localized in the synclinal sectors of compressional structures and are toooraphibilly complex (Apps *et al.* 2004; Ford & Lickorich, 2004).

The fill of the Grès d'Annot Basin shows a sharp deepening following basin formation, to its eventual filling (Fig. 2.2). The Calcaires Nummulitiques Formation is a regionally extensive shallow marine bioclastic limestone unit consisting of patch reefs



Fig. 2.1. A map of the study area. Tertingy outliers (Marnes Marnis and Marnel Smallson, multified outlines) and pre-Messovic influel (kabiled and filled yellow). The dashed line marked TF indicates the position of the initial (Decent) these for the marked themarked the marked the marked the marked themarked the mark

made by accumulations of giant mumulic formainifiers (Apps et al. 2004). Its deposition represents transgression of the basin margin during a period of relative scalevel rise induced by flexural loading of the crust by the Alpine Orogeny (Callee, 2004). The veryling Marens Bluess Formation is a dep-water, mudstone-dominated succession deposited during a phase of rapid subsidence and low sediment supply. Basin deepening is evident from a gradual loss of shallow-water benthic foraminifera to the dominance of plantkneik species at higher stratigraphic levels. Water depths of approximately 900 m are estimated from the uppermost marks in this formation (Apps et 2004). The veryling a phase of basin fill is dominated by deep-water sands and mass wastage deposits of the advancing Alpine Orogeny (Sinclair, 1997). These siliciclastic deposits consist of thin-bedded turbidites of the Eccene Marnes Brunes Infrieures Formation which are interpreted as the lateral and distal equivalents of the thick-bedded turbidites of the 500 to 1,500 m thick Eccene/Oligoene Grès d'Annot Formation (Sharrook & Clark, 2004).

At the time of turbifit deposition regional tectonics had folded and continued to fold the underlying strata producing a province of thrust sheet-top basins in which runctural highs bound confined sub-basins (Apps *et al.* 2004). Turbifitte deposition suppressed the basin floor topography onlapping it and eventually filling the basin (Sinclair, 2000). The provenance of these turbifittes could have been a southerly granitic source, the Corsica-Starthinia and Maurés-Esterel Massifi (Apps *et al.* 2004) or a source to the east, possibly early Apine, or a NE extension of the Corsica-Stardinia Massif (now removed by exosion-Ans. 1987).

2-6



Fig. 2.2. A stratigraphic column of the Cencosic sedimentary fill of the Grès of Annet Basin divided into related units. A Genetic units from the initiation and despensing of the basin (Calcairer Nummultiques and Marnes Bleues Formations). B. Genetic units from the basin filling stage (Marnes Blunes Inferieures and Grès Anneue Formations). C. Genetic units representing the closure of the basin (Schists à Bluces Formation). Diagram not drawn to seak. Modified from Apps et al. (2004). Eccere-Miccene rifting of eastern Iberia diverted sediment supply away from the Gris d'Annot Basin (Sérame, 1999; Brunet et al. 2000). The remaining accommodation space was filled by the overlying Schists à Blocs Formation which is composed of debris shed from the Embran-Ubaye Nappes (Apps et al. 2004). These factors, in combination, caused turbible deposition to cease in the Late Rapelian.

2.4. Systematic ichnology

Although ichnodrenity does not directly correspond to biological diversity, it has conventionally been used as a proxy for the benthic behavioural diversity on the palaeoseafloor (McItov, 2004a; Herringshaw *et al.* 2010). Low ichnological diversity is thought to indicate physiologically stressful seafloor conditions including salinity stress, low bottom water oxygenation, and nutrient stress (MacEachern *et al.* 2007b). Higher ichnological diversity can infer palaeoenvironmental conditions including salinity stress, low bottom water oxygenation, and nutrient stress (MacEachern *et al.* 2007b). Higher ichnological diversity can infer palaeoenvironmental conditions more hospitable to berthic life. Previous studies of the Grès d'Annot Basin have been sedimentological and have not focused on the ichnoliversity of the various facies architectural elements. In doing so, they have neglected a significant source of palaeoenvironmental information that could be used to constrain depositional conditions. The Marnes Bleues Formation was discovered to have a sparse and restricted ichnofiana. The turbidites of the Marnes Branes Inférieures: Formation and the Grès d'Annot Formation have an abundance of trace fossits, though trace fossit assemblages are of low diversity in distribution of trace fossits, though trace fossit assemblages are follow diversity in teach(Table 2.1). This

Inhaman		Sand-domir	lated facies		Heteroliti	hic facles	Mud-domi	nated facies
ICUNOGENERA	Facies 1	Facies 2	Facies 3	Facies 4	Facies 5	Facies 6	Facies 7	Facies 8
?Asterosoma radiciforme				and the second		я		
Chondrites isp.		υ			æ			
Diopatrichnus isp.				Contraction of the local distance of the loc				R
Ophiomorpha annulata		υ			υ	o		
Ophiomorpha ?nodosa	State State		я					
Ophiomorpha rudis	υ	υ	æ		υ	o	υ	
Paleodictyon majus	CIVICIAN S	R			v			
Phycodes isp.		ж						
Phycosiphon isp.				No.		æ	1201620	
Planolites isp.		υ			υ	æ		
Scolicia prisca	Nill of States			and the second		R		
Thalassinoides suevicus	0	U			æ		æ	
Zoophycos isp.	C.C. C.			22.22	æ		1231.182	

Table 2.1. The distribution of richnotaxa recorded within the described facies of the Gries d'Annot Basin. Trace fossils that are rare in a facies are identified with R. Ichnogenera that are common in a facies are identified with C.

small-scale patchiness is characteristic of other studied deep-water sandstone successions (Uchman, 1995a, 1999, 2001). A systematic description of the ichnotaxa found within the studied areas is presented below.

2.4.1. ?Asterosoma von Otto, 1854

?Asterosoma radiciforme von Otto, 1854

Plate 2.1A

Description: One collected specimer; composed of eleven concave rays (depressions in the substrate surrounded by ridges of sediment) radiating from a central point, parallel to bedding plane. Rays are 14–30 mm long and widen away from the central point, from 1– 3 mm to 5–10 mm. Whole specimen is 60 mm wide. The depressions are here interpreted to be lower part of radiating spindle structures typical of *Asterosoma* which has been weathered out preserving a mould of the burrow.

Palaceenvironmental interpretation: Asternsonne is a common trace fossil reported from marginal marine to deep marine environments (Chamberlain, 1978; McEachern & Hobbs, 2004). Neto de Carvalho & Rodrigues, 2007). Asternsona has been interpreted as the dwelling burrow of a decapod crustacean (Häntzschel, 1975). It has also been suggested that Asternsonar represents the deposit feeding burrow of verniform organism (Pemberton et al., 2001).





2.4.2. Chondrites von Sternberg, 1833

Chondrites isp.

Plare 2.1B

Description: Regularly-branched tunnels, less than 1 mm thick. Branches are straight and bifurcate at angles between 45–90°. Found in sandstone, filled with mudstone. Preserved on upper bedding surfaces.

Palaesemironmental interpretation: Chandrite is a facies-crossing trace fossil found in a variety of depositional settings (Bornley, 1996; Buatois et al. 2007). Many authors have found Chandrites in beds associated with lowered oxygen levels (Bronley & Ekdale, 1984; Ekdale & Masson, 1988). Finding Chandrites, however, should not be taken as an unequivocal indicator of either seafloor dysocia or pore water anosia. In settings where it is the only ichnotaxon present (e.g. in black shales) it is considered to be an indicator of physiologically stressed marine environments, probably with highly sulfidic pore waters (Bromley & Ekdale, 1984; Savrda & Bottjer, 1986; Wetzel & Uchman, 2001; MacEachern et al. 2007b). The structure is considered to represent complex deposit feeding (Ekdale, 1977; Pemberton et al. 2001). Alternatively, Chondrites is thought to be the feeding burrow of a chemosymbiotic vermiform animal cleakaers, 1090 living at depth in he sediment, probably bother textor kondary.

2.4.3. Diopatrichnus Kern, 1978

Diopatrichnus isp.

Plate 2.1C

Description: Shell-lined vertical tubes. Appear circular and sub-circular in cross section, 1.5–2.0 cm wide. Unbranched. Only found on bedding planes. Bivalve shell fragments which constitute the burrow wall are concentrically lined. Burrow fill is structureless. Palaeconvironmental interpretation: Diopatrichme is considered to be the trace fossil of a tube-building polychaete worm similar to the onuphid Diopatra (Gibert, 1996). Diopatra has been recorded in water depths to 222 m from California to South America in areas of moderate to strong current energy (Ken, 1978).

2.4.4. Ophiomorpha Lundgren, 1891

Ophiomorpha is a commonly occurring trace fossil. It is a three-dimensional, deep barrow network made of sub-cylindrical to cylindrical burrows. Horizontal galleries are connected to the sediment-water interface by vertical shafts which may be over 1 m long (Uchman, 2009). Burrows are commonly branched with Y- or T-shaped bifurcations. Junctions may be avoilent to allow the tracemaker to turn in its burrow (Frey *et al.* 1978). Burrow walls are internally smooth. External wall may be manillate with small discoid or ovoid pellets partially or completely lining the burrow (Broniey and Pederen, 2009; McIlloy *et al.* 2009). Ophiomorphic has been found from the Permina to the Recent (Swithanks and Laternauer, 1987). The Ophiomorpho-producing animal is most likely a constancem similar to modern thalassith stirps. Members of the genus *Callinavana*. Neorypaora, and Lipogehia are found in shoreface to offshore environments and construct Ophiomorpha-style burrows (Weimer & Hoyt, 1964; Frey et al. 1978). Ophiomorpha is a facies-crossing trace fossil not restricted to any single depositional environment or fullology. It is commonly found in high energy shoreface environments (Puehneton et al. 2001). Some species of Ophiomorpha, specifically O. rudir, are common in deep marine palaecenvironments (Uchman, 2001, 2009). The Ophiomorpha-making organism is interpreted to range from deposit feeding to suspension feeding to farming (Bronky, 1996). Ophiomorpha is considered to be the burrow of a highly adaptive and opportunistic group of erganisms which make palaecenvironmental interpretation challenging.

2.4.4.1. Ophiomorpha annulata Książkiewicz, 1977

Plate 2.1D

Description: Vertical shafts and more common horizontal tunnels on turbidite soles. Burrows 5–7 mm wide. Y-shaped branches common. With or without a pelleted wall but always lined. Mudstone pellets ~2 mm wide, regularly spaced.

Palaceomirinmental interpretation: O. annulato is a common trace fossil in deep-water facies found in turbidite successions (Uchman, 2001)). This ichnospecies of Ophiomorpha is thought to reflect deposit-feeding activity of small erustaceans (Uchman et al. 2004).

2.4.4.2. Ophiomorpha ?nodosa Lundgren, 1891

Plate 2.1E

Description: Horizontal tunnels, 30–50 mm wide. Wall is made of discoid mudstone pellets, regularly spaced, -10 mm wide. T- and Y-shaped branching characterizes the galleries.

Palaocentriormentati interpretatione: O. nodour has long been thought of as the dwelling structure of a burrowing shrimp due to its merphological similarity to modern-day burrows of Callichirus (Germetry Callianussa) major, a shoreface and shallow-water mud shrimp. The modern burrow of C. major has a mamillate walt and dimensions similar to that of O. nodosu (Weimer & Hoyt, 1964), Frey et al. 1978; Brontley, 1996), O. nodosu is a common trace fossil in estuarine and near shore environments (Miller & Curran, 2001; Pemberton et al. 2001). This idenospecies is generally recorded from sand-rich palaecervironments (Pullard et al. 1993). Finding O. modosu in turbidites is atypical as it is usually considered to be a shallow-water idenspecies.

2.4.4.3. Ophiomorpha rudis Książkiewicz, 1977

Plate 2.1F-G

Description: Sub-splindrical tunnels and shafts 10–30 mm wide. Burrows are straight or curved, filled with mud or sand. Durrow walls are made of dine-shaped mudstone pellets 3–7 mm long. Pellets may completely or parially cover the wall. Burrows have Tshaped bifurcations. Swellings observed at many junctions. Some specimens have very large weelings for which multiple tunnels emerge (Phule 2.1). actively backfilled (Plate 2.4B). Deep-penetrating burrows, some >2 m in length are documented here (Plate 2.3F).

Palaocemetroemental interpretation: O. rulas is environmentally diagnostic of sandy deep-water environments (Uchman, 2001, 2009). It is common in deep-aea proximal fan lobes as well as channels and channel margins (Uchman, 2001). The Ophiomorphar rulas ikhnosubhicies of the Nervites ichnolicies was creted for its occurrence in these sandrich, high current energy settings (Uchman, 2001, 2009). The O. rulas animal is considered to be predominantly a deposit feeder, feeding en organic matter or from microhes cultured in organic-rich facies (Uchman, 2009). As with many burrows, other fiscultaries behaviours may occur in the same hurrow (Herringshaw *et al.*, 2010). The ability to penetrate great thicknesses of sediment is considered to be an adaptation of the aminat to exploid expl-variest organic carbon-rich inter-turbilis mudstance.

2.4.5. Paleodictyon Meneghini, 1850

Paleodictvon majus Meneghini in Peruzzi, 1880

Plate 2.1H

Description: Honsycomb-like network of hexagonal polygons, complete or incomplete convex mesh-like structure. Polygons 8–12 mm in diameter. Casts of burrows 0.9–1.0 mm wide. Found in irregularly shaped patches, 10 cm wide. Randomly distributed on the bedding plane.

Palaeoenvironmental interpretation: Paleodictyon is a deep-water trace fossil thought to be constructed for trapping meiobenthic organisms or cultivating micro-organisms within the sediment (Selialener, 1977). The lack of scratch marks on the burrow wall has been used to suggest that the substrate was soft at the time of burrowing (Wetzel & Uchman, 1997). The lack of bioglyphs could also suggest that the organism had neither scate nor burrowing appendiques. *Paleotlogova* is indicative of deep marine oligotrophic waters from the Lower Palaecoxolc to the Recent (Uchman, 2003). It is only preserved in comparatively quiescent palaecoxiconments where low-frequency, slow, or distal (usually turbiditic) events and-caset the burrows immediately after exposure by erosion (Seliaker, 1977, Orn, 1995).

2.4.6. Phycodes Richter, 1850

Phycodes isp.

Plate 2.2A

Description: Numerous smoothly curved lateral branches from a master stem producing bunches of burrows on one side. Individual side branches 5 mm wide. Whole specimen, 30 mm long. This matches the description of *Phycodes* as "flabellate or broconlike are developed from a single or few initial (or proximal) tunnels" (Han & Pickerill, 1994, p. 37).

Palaceomironmental interpretation: Phycode is a facies-crossing ichnogenus found from shallow marine (Schlirf, 2000) to deep marine environments (Han & Pickerill, 1994; Miller, 2001), Phycodes is common trace fossil in the Phanerozoic shallow marine bati is ess common in deep marine and non-marine palaceomironments (Han & Pickerill,





1994). It is made by endobenthic deposit feeding organisms with systematic, bedding parallel, probing behaviour.

2.4.7. Phycosiphon Fischer-Ooster, 1858

Phycosiphon isp.

Plate 2.2B

Description: Meandering tubes arranged in an antiter pattern characterized by incomplete hook-shaped burrows enclosing poorty preserved spreite. Found parallel to bedding. Burrow 1–2 mm vide. Filled with a paler material than host sediment. Found parallel to bedding in patches to 0 em vide.

Palaceomritonmental interpretation: Phycosiphon is another facies-crossing ichnogenus constructed by the deposit feeding activity of a verniform organism. It is found in a variety of depositional settings from lower shoreface to bathyal environments (Wetzel & Bromley, 1994). Phycosiphon is most often found cross-cut by other ichnogenera in new vididies implying that the progenitor was one of the first organisms to colonize the sediment (Wetzel & Uchman, 2001). This suggests an opportunistic organism found within deep marine or deep-shelf sediments (Uchman et al. 2004). Phycosiphon has been found associated with dysocic environments in low diversity monopecific assemblages (Edale & Mason, 1988). Recent Phycosiphon has been found at abysal depths (below 4400 m) in the Sulu Basin, Philippines, in settings subjected to low bottom water

2.4.8. Planolites Nicholson, 1873

Planolites isp.

Plate 2.2C

Description: Unlined, straight or gently curved horizontal, circular to sub-circular burrows, 1–3 mm wide. T-shaped branching occasionally seen. Most are unbranched. Burrow fill is structureless and composed to the same material as the host rock.

Palacoenvironmental interpretation: Planslites has been found in a wide range of palacoenvironments from soils and freshwater settings to the deep marine (Keighley & Pickerill, 1995; Pemberton et al. 2001). An abundance of *Planslites* is idicative of well oxygenated bottom waters in shallow marine settings (Bromley, 1996) while low abundances have been inferred to result from lowered bottom water oxygen levels. It is thought to have been formed by a vermiform organism (Häntzschel, 1975; Pemberton et al. 2001).

2.4.9. Scolicia de Quatrefages, 1849

Scolicia prisca de Quatrefages, 1849

Plate 2.2D-E

Description: A trilobate structure consisting of one central lobe of either poorly preserved or structureless material 2-20 mm wide separating two parallel strings. I mm wide. Gentle to tightly meandering structures found parallel to the bedding. Can occur in high-density patcher (Patte 221). Palaceonvironmental interpretation: Scolicia is a facies-crossing trace fossil documented from a range of depositional settings (Uchman, 1995a; Tchoumatchenco & Uchman, 2001). Scolicia is interpreted as a grazing trace produced by irregular echinoids (Uchman, 1995a) commonly found in sand-rich environments (Wetzel & Uchman, 2011). The two parallel strings inflicative of some ichnospecies of *Scolicia barve* been interpreted as the casts of drainage tuffs of spatangoid echinoids (Uchman, 1995a). *Scolicia prisca* is found in Bouma turbidite divisions T_{eff} in the transition between sandstones and muddones (Uchman, 1995a, 1998). It has been noted that the *Scolicia organism* is tolerant of porewater anoxia in that they are thought to utilize endosymbiotis sulpluroxidizing bacteria and are usually found close to the redox boundary (Bromley *et al.* 1995).

2.4.10. Thalassinoides Ehrenberg, 1944

Thalassinoides suevicus Rieth, 1932

Plate 2.2F-G

Description: Cylindrical to sub-cylindrical burrows, 15-30 mm wide, seen as vertical shafts up to 1 m long branching horizontally with Vs-shaped bifurcations and junction swellings. Burrows are unlined. Burrow fill is structureless. Tunnels have tightly packed tongitudinal arcovers, less than 1 mm wide (Plate 2.20).

Palaeoenvironmental interpretation: Thalassinoides is a common trace fossil from the Ordovician to Recent (Swinbanks & Luternaur, 1987). It is a facies-crossing ichnogenus documented from the shallow marine (Pemberton et al. 2001) and, less frequently, the deep marine (Uchman, 1998). A non-lithified stable substrate is needed for the preservation of the burrows (Schlirf, 2000) and a firm substrate is needed for the preservation of bioglyphs (seen as longitudinal grooves) which were made by the burrowing animal scratching the interior wall of the burrow (Frey *et al.* 1978). Lithology is not a controlling factor on the distribution of *Thulassistone*. It has been documented from sandstones and mudstones and from firmgrounds where *Thulassinoides* is a constituent of the *Glossifingites* ichnofacies (MacEachern *et al.* 1991); Martin & Pollard, 1996). The burrow is generally interpreted to be formed by crustaceans (Frey *et al.* 1984). The Grie's d'Annot *Thulassinoide* is interpreted as a deposit feeder that burrowed through thick sandstone turbidies, before branching horizontally along mudstonesandstone interfaces. It is inferred that this behaviour reflects the search for organic carbon-rich inter-turbifter mudstones.

2.4.11 Zoophycos Massalongo, 1855

Zoophycos isp.

Plate 2.2H

Description: Two stacked whorts filled with poorly-preserved laminae, each lamina-set (or specien) preserves the previous position of the active burrow as the organism mixed the sediment in a radial manner. The Zoophycos found within the Greis d'Annot Formation is morphologically comparable with the Eocene Zoophycos described by Stellaber (2007). Palaceomironmental interpretation: Zoophycor is found from the Ordovician to the Recent (Selacher, 2007). It is interpreted as the burrow of an efficient deposit feeding animal. It appears to be abundant during periods of quiescence of the seathere (Pomberton *et al.*, 2001). It is found in association with *Chondrites* during dysocic intervals (Bromley & Ekdale, 1984). *Zoophycos* is inferred to be produced by an opportunistic organism capable of exploiting oxygen-depleted environments (Bromley, 1996). The ethology of the Zoophycos tracemakers is debatable. Some authors consider the burrowers to be detritus feeders (Kotake, 1989). It has been suggested that the burrow usus off or culturing micro-organisms (V & Wrmer, 1995). This has been questioned based on the minimal difference in 8¹³C_{eng} values between Zoophycos spreiten and host sediment with a food cache burrow model suggested in place of gardening (Lövenark *et al.* 2007). Modern examples of Zoophycos have been found in slope and rise aediments from the Sulu Basin in the Phippines (Wetzel, 1983) and in water depths of >2 km off the WW Afriace continental slope (Wetzel & Werne, 1981).

2.5. Sedimentary facies

2.5.1. Sand-dominated facies

2.5.1.1. Facies 1

Description: This facies consists of thick (50 cm to >5 m) coarse- to fine-grained sandstone beds (Plate 2.3A) that are either massive or normally graded. Fragments of





leaves and plant stems can be found on upper surfaces (Plate 2.3B). A distinctive feature of this facies is the presence of bioturbated musticone intraclasts (Plate 2.3C) which are randomly distributed. Flute casts occur on the soles of some beds while other bedding surfaces show no discernable erosion and are planar and undirupted at outcrop scale. *Chonology*: BI 0-1. *Ophinomplan rulis*, and less common *Thalastoniolas* merican, are observed. Vertical shafts of *O*-rulia are scen penetrating beds >2 m thick (Plate 2.3F). Some of the mudstone intraclasts are intensely bioturbated by *O*-rulia (Plate 2.3C). *Interpretation*: Facies 1 was deposited in a deep-water setting from concentrated, sandrich turbidity currents. These currents probably encountered an obstacle to low or a decrease in slope gradient leading to apid deceleration. Such conditions led to proding and rupid deposition of massive sandatone beds. Consequently, only deep burrows like *O*, rulia and *T*. *maricus* are preserved.

2.5.1.2. Facies 2

Description: This facies consists of fine- to medium-grained sandstone beds 2–40 cm thick. Physical sedimentary structures include planar parallel, ways, and convolute lamination. Alternatively, these sandstones can be massive. Rare coalified wood clasts, 10-30 cm long, are randomly distributed and recorded basin-wide (Plate 2.3D). The coalified clasts are unbioturbated.

Ichnology: BI 0-2. This facies contains an abundant but unevenly distributed ichnological assemblage including *Chondrites* isp., *Ophiomorpha rudis* and *O. annulata*, *Paleodictron majus*, *Pircodes* isp., *Planolites* isp., and *Thalassinoides suevieus*. Interpretation: This facies is composed Bouma T₂ divisions (massive sandstone) with Bouma T₂ divisions (parallel and convolute laminated sandstone) deposited under low flow regime conditions. Lower hydrodynamic energy conditions allowed preservation of a more diverse ichnofumal assemblage.

2.5.1.3. Facies 3

Description: Very coarse-grained sandstones and conglomeratic sandstones are characteristic of this facies. The bots are normally graded or massive and may be amalgamated into 7 m thick sandstone successions. The sandstones typically have coarse-grained basal lags (Plate 2.3E). This facies differs from facies 1 in being very much coarser with pronounced basal lags to beds. The coarse-grained pebby lags can be demonstrated to fill flute-like secons 30 cm to >1 m wide and 5-60 cm deep (Plate 2.3G). The facies is described from the Col de la Castolle area only.

Ichnology: This facies is poorly bioturbated (BI 0-1) with a low diversity trace fossil assemblage. Shafts of *Ophiomorpha rudis* are uncommon and occur with rare *O*. *Thodosa*.

Interpretation: It is inferred to have been deposited from high volume and high concentration flows. Although not proximal to the source area, the Col de la Cayolle area could have been supplied with this very coarse material directly during high concentration, high volume turbidite events. The depositing currents are inferred to have been highly turbulent as suggested by the presence of scour-and-fill structures. These depositional conditions are inconducive to shallow burrow preservation. Only deep penetrating *chylomorpha* ichnospecies are documented from this facies.

2-29

2.5.1.4. Facies 4

Description: This facies is composed of medium- to very coarse-grained sandstone beds 1-2 m in thickness. No tractional sedimentary structures are present in the beds which display a chaotic internal structure. Intraclasts are common and are distributed throughout the bed.

Ichnology: No trace fossils were described from this facies.

Interpretation: The sandstones of this facies are interpreted to have been debrites deposited as a result of slope failures on a confining slope or at a channel margin. This facies is only recorded from the Braux outcrop.

2.5.2. Heterolithic facies

2.5.2.1. Facies 5

Deucryption: This heteroilithis facies is composed of thin- to medium-bedded (5–40 en in thickness) successions of introbedded claystones, allstones, and very fine- and finegrained sandstones (Plate 2.4A). The claystones and siltstones have either parallel and convolute laminae or and homogeneous. Sandstone beds have a range of sedimentary structures including asymmetrical ripple eross laminae, planar parallel laminae, and convolute laminae. The madstone to sandstone ratio in this facies is typically 1:3. There is neither a discernible cyclicity to these bed thicknesses, nor trend in mud to sand ratio. *Ichnology: Ophiomorphic radis and O. annulasa* dominate this facies with *Chondrizes* isp., *Paleodictyon majus*, *Planolites* ipa, *Thalassimides suevieus*, and Zoophycori sip. also present. Plate 2.4. (Overleaf). Field images of heterolithic and mud-dominated facies.

A. Facies 5. A heterolithic succession of medium- and thin-bedded turbidites and inter-turbidite mudstones. Field assistant for scale. Montagne de l'Avalanche, Col de la Cayolle.

B. Facies 5. Ophiomorpha rudis with meniscate backfill from the outcrop shown in A.

C. Facies 6. Ophiomorpha rudis penetrating thin-bedded turbidite beds. Lens cap is 5 cm wide. Braux.

D. Facies 6. Sandstones interbedded with fine-grained turbidite material and hemipelagite. Measuring tape is 20 cm wide. Argenton.

E. Facies 7. Medium-bedded inter-turbidite claystone with numerous Ophiomorpha rudis (arrowed). Baisse de l'Aiguille.

F. Facies 7. Ophiomorpha rudis on top of an inter-turbidite claystone forming open polygons. Baisse de l'Aiguille.



Interpretation: This facies is only found in the Col de la Cayolle area. The heterolithic beds are in sharp non-erosive contact with the thick-bedded turbidites of facies 1 and facies 3. They are interpreted as the deposits of low velocity and low concentration turbidity flows deposited as thin-bedded unconfined turbidites. This facies is undefault by blick-bedded and conse-grained sund-rich turbidites (fickies 1 and 3). This change in deposition is considered to represent channel abandonment with thin- to medium-bedded turbidites filling accommodation space. The ichnotaxa present are inferred to represent the burrows of a deposit-feeding community of organisms. Burrows are concentrated at sand-mud interfaces and within mudstones with the exception of *Paleodicyon* which probably represents microbe farming in mud-rich sediments at depths of approximately 2 nm (Selicher) (77).

2.5.2.2. Facies 6

Description: This facies is characterized by thin- to medium-bedded, very fine-grained sandstone or siltstone turbidites with musistone interbeds. Fining-upward cycles of 10+ or even 30+ rhythmic beds with clear cyclicity are observed (Plate 24D). The very fine sandstone or siltstone units are calcite cemented. These beds are 5-30 em thick with parallel, wavy, or convolute lamination. Deposited on top of these are homogeneous, calarcoust claystones 5-40 em thick.

Lehnology: Bl 0-3 in the sandstonexististone unit. The claystone has a Bl 6 as it has been completely homogenized. *Phycosiphon* sip, is the most volumetrically dominant trace fossil in this facies. *Optionnorpha annulata* and 0. *rudis* are also common, with accessory *Materosana maliciferma*, *Planolites* inp, and *Sociela pricea*. Interpretation: Facies 6 is found exclusively on intra-basin slopes that onlapped during deep-basin sedimentation. It is interpreted to have been deposited from decelerating, relatively low concentration, turbidity currents and is representative of the Marres Branes Inférieures Formation. The classtones are thought to be a biourbated mixture of claygrade turbidite and hemipelagic material. Low hydrodynamic energies generated from low volume flows allow preservation of a diverse ichnofanan while fine-grained, possible untrilisus, material could surport three worken of the increased burbid divergive recorded.

2.5.3. Mud-dominated facies

2.5.3.1. Facies 7

Description: Thin- to medium-bedded, siltstones and claystones are characteristic of this facies. The dominant lithology is claystone with minor siltstone horizons. The facies can be parallel laminated or massive (Plate 2.4E). Facies 7 is found basin-wide.

Ichnology: BI 2-6. Ichnodiversity is low with only post-depositional, deep Ophiomorpha rudis and Thalassinoides suevicus recorded. In some areas this facies is burrowed solely by O. rudis in high density monospecific assemblages.

Interpretation: This facies represents a burrow-homogenized mudstone deposited from waning, relatively dilute, turbidity currents and background sedimentation in the deep basin. These subsequently barried inter-turbidite units were a significant source of nutrition for deep-burrowing tracemakers as near-surface environments appear to have been nutrien-deficient.
5.3.2. Facies 8

Description: This facies consists of blue, massive, calcareous claystones. It is distributed basin-wide.

Ichnology: Diopatrichnus isp. is the only ichnotaxon recorded from this facies (Plate 2.4D).

Interpretation: This facies is the Marnes Bleues Formation, which is thought to have been deposited on a slope or distal ramp setting from the Priabonian to the Lower Oligocene based on micropalaeontological determinations of Bouroulloc *et al.* (2004).

2.6. Ichnofabrics

Idemothries are described as "those aspects of the texture and internal structure of the bed resulting from all phases of bioturbation" (Ekdala & Bromley, 1983, p. 110). Ichnofabrics documented from the Grès d'Annet Basin are *Ophisomorpha*-dominated reflecting the abundance and/or productivity of the preducing organism in the basin during turbilitie deposition. Ichnofabrics are volumetrically dominated by large *Ophisomorpha rudu* with variable propertions of other, less prominent, trace fossils. Modified ichnofabric constituent diagrams (Taylor & Goldring, 1993; McIlroy, 2004a) were produced for all of the ichnofabrics documented (Fig. 2.3). Owing to significant potential for patchiness of ichnofabrics, the approach of producing ichnofabric associations is followed herein (McIlroy, 2007). These ichnofabrics are facies-controlled (i.e., each ichnofabric is).



Fig. 2.3 Ichnofabric constituent diagrams for fhree ichnofabric associations and six ichnofabrics documented. The vertical axis indicates the order of events starting with either pre-turbidite ichnotaxa. Numbers associated with each event indicate the percentage (by area) of the ichnofabric constituted by each event.

2.6.1. The Ophiomorpha rudis ichnofabric association

This association is defined by the abundance of *Ophiomorpha rudis*, the commonest trace fossil in facies 1, 3, and 7. *O. rudis* is the most abundant ichnotaxon volumetrically and by a bedding plane bioturbation index (Miller & Smail, 1997).

2.6.1.1. Ophiomorpha rudis ichnofabric

This ichnofabric is observed throughout the Grès d' Amort Basin in thick- and thinbedded massive sandscores and their associated mudstones. The ichnofabric consists exclusively of vertical shafts and/or horizontal tunnels of *Ophiomorpha* rankl. In the thick-bedded andscone turbidites of facies 1. *O. rudus* penetrates thick layers of sediment down to sand-mud interfaces more than 2 m below the colonization surface (Plate 2.3F). Some sandstone soles show numerous burrows; with abandoned burrows being cross-cut by active ones (Plate 2.1H). In facies 7, extensive horizontal galleries of *O. rudus* were found to over up to 50% of the surface area of exposed surfaces. *O. rudus* in this setting is inferred to have been deposit foeding either on organic matter and/or microbes in the fine-grained sediment (Globwig) Uchama, 2009).

Ophiomorpha rudis galleries are also found in association with coarse-grained led tops in the thick-hedded sandstones of facies 3. These features are inferred to result from current-winnowing turbidity currents carrying away fine-grained material and leaving a lag of coarser grained sand and gravel behind. The Ophiomorpha minatas in these situations are interpreted to have employed a suspension feeding mode of life, extracting nutrients from persistent currents rather than burrowing to find organic carbon-rich layers below.

2.6.1.2. Ophiomorpha rudis-Thalassinoides suevicus ichnofabric

The massive claystones of facies 7 have a low ichnodiversity. *O. rudit* is recorded in high abundance with *T. survivas* as an accessory trace fossil. Burrows extand from bed tops to bed soles, a thickness of 10–50 cm. *O. rudit* is also seen as irregular, incomplete obligoms on the top surface of claystone beds (Plate 2.4F). This expression of *O. rudit* is documented from other localities where the tracemaker constructs large boxvort-style burrows in the sediment (Uchman, 2009). The beds that contain this ichnofabric have no primary sedimentary fabric; the matrix is burrow mottled. The trace fossils within this ichnofabric are inferred to represent a dense community of deposit-feeding crustaceans. The Ophiomorpha organisms most likely burrowed down from the colonization surface to feed on the per-turbitic organic carbon-rich layers.

2.6.1.3. Ophiomorpha rudis-Ophiomorpha ?nodosa ichnofabric

This is found within course-grained channelized sandstones with very-course-grained lags and scours. This ichnofabric is only found associated with facies 3 and is very rare. The trace fossils are present in low abundance assemblages in massive sandstone beds approximately 2 m thick massive sandstone beds. *Ophiomorpha rulis* is the dominant trace fossil in the assemblage while rare 0. *Prodosa form horizontal galleries* on the tops of sandstone turbidites. This ichnofabric is inferred to have been produced by burrowing constancements in a denosif-feedim mode of life in settings with a litch/ordynamic energy, possibly with shifting sands. This is inferred from the close morphological similarities between O anadoxa and the burrow of a modern progenitor, Callchrins major, which lives in high current energy settings such as estuaries, shoreface, and nearshore environments (Weiner & Hoyt, 1964).

2.6.2. The Ophiomorpha annulata ichnofabric association

The ichnofabrics of the Ophiomorpha annulata ichnofabric association are dominated by O. annulata at sandstone-mudstone interfaces in heterolithic successions of thin-bedded turbidites.

2.6.2.1. Ophiomorpha annulata-Ophiomorpha rudis ichnofabric

This ichnofabric is found in the fine-grained, massive or parallel laminated sandstone and mudstone abeds of facies 2 and 5. Trace fossils are seen as vertical shafts and as interface burrows at both sand-sand and sand-mud contacts. *O annulata* and *O nuclia* are found to be mutually cross-cutting and no systematic succession of colonization is inferred. This ichnofabric is found in much of the Gres d'Annot Formation in sandstone beds interpreted to be formed in association with low volume turbidity current events.

2.6.2.2. Ophiomorpha annulata-Planolites ichnofabric

Successions of thin-bedded, fine-grained sandstone turbidites and inter-turbidite siltstones and claystones are commonly dominated by *O. annulata* and *Planolites*. Both these trace fossils are abundantly represented by narrow tunnels at sand-sand, sand-mud, and mudmud contacts. This ichnofabric is associated with facies 5, and is indicative of a lowenergy hydrodynamic regime. Low flow-regimes and infrequent, weakly erosive turbidite events are also inferred from the presence of *Paleodicyon*. Deep burrows such as *Chondrites and Zoophycos* are present but rare. *Ophiomorpha rudu* is found in this beterolithic facies but is less common than in the ichnofabrics associated with sand-rich facies.

2.6.3. The Phycosiphon-Ophiomorpha rudis ichnofabric

In this ichnofabric, *Phycosoflovin* is the most abundant trace fossil. It occurs as shallowtice pervavive burrows found in small patches on the bedding planes of thin-bedded turbidites. *Ophomorpha rulis* may penetrate multiple turbidite beds (Plate 24.C) but a colonization surface could not be unequivocally identified to determine the maximum depth of burrowing (which can be greater than 2 m below the sediment-water interface; Plate 2.37). *Ophiomorpha amufaut* is a common interface trace fossil tourd along thinbedded turbidites in this ichnofabric. The palaecenvironment is inferred to be relatively quiescent compared with other parts of the basin. Accessory trace fossils include are *Naterssonan radic/arme* with *Socilica pricea* which is found in high density patches. This low ichnological abundance may be attributed to the patchy nature of endobenthic communities (cf. Meltroy, 2007). This ichnofabric indicates a community of largely vagile deposit feeding organisms probably dominated by echinoids, crutaceanas, and worms. 2.7. Ichnological interpretation of depositional environments in the Grès d'Annot Basin

2.7.1. Basin floor settings

2.7.1.1. Channel environments

The sedimentary succession of the CoI de la Cayolle area is shown in Fig 2.4. The stratigraphy includes thick-bedded, coarse-grained, and sand-rich tarbidites (exposed to the northeast) replaced upwards by a heterolithic succession of very fine andstone, siltatone, and classtone (exposed to the southwest; Fig. 2.4). The lower part of the succession exposes thick-bedded, 1-4 m, corrse- to medium-grained, amalgamated sandstones associated with facies 1 and 3 (Figs 2.4–2.5A, C). The basal sandstones thicken and coarsen upwards in metre scale packages that contain leads on interbedded middatone. These thick-bedded packages are interpreted a chalment sand deposited from high volume tarbidity carrents. Massive sandstones are upwardly replaced by thin- to medium-bedded sandstones and an interbedded succession of very fine sandstone, siltatone, fing and classtone (Fig. 2.5-AB). These beds are interpreted to be clanuel-fill deposite filling accounted by volume tarbidity carrents.

Ophiomorpha is abundant in both the thick-bedded and thin-bedded facies despite the change in hydrodynamic regime. Thick and massive sandstones are devoid of trace fossils except for the occasional Ophiomorpha rauls. In this case, the tracemakers were probably opportunistic animals, repopulating the environment during inter-aubidity current periods, or possibly transported in the most buoyant part of the flow (crimm &





Föllmi, 1994), then taking advantage of the newly oxygenated seafloor. There is no evidence of escape traces or colonization from below as documented by the multilayer colonizers of Uchman (1995b).

The thick-bedded and coarse-grained sandstone turbifiers of the CoI de la Cayoile area exhibit the Ophiomorpha rula'i chnofabric and the rare Ophiomorpha Rula' Ophiomorpha 'modusa ichandbrite' which is characteristic of this depositional setting, The low diversity i chnofagical suite of low abundance, post-depositional Ophiomorpha emphasizes the palacobiological stresses present. These stresses probably included low nutrient levels in the clean organic-poor turbifite sandstones as well as high current energies. Other workers have found similar patterns of low diversity in channelized facis (Crinser al., 1981; Uchman, 2001; Hard & Pickering, 2008).

The heteroilithic sandstone and mudstone turbidities related to channel fill are also burrowed by *O. radia*. The resultant ichnofabric contains other trace fossils indicating gradually ameliorating palaceenvironmental conditions with deposition of more organic cardon-rich, fine-grained sediment. Ichnogenera include *Chandrites, Ophiomorpha Paleodictyon, Physosiphon, Plannilies, Thalassinoidas, and Zoophycosa. Apart from Paleodictyon, these trace fossils preserve deposit feeding communities, where <i>Ophiomorpha annulata, Ophiomorpha radis, and Planolites* represent the activity of bulk sediment processors searching for organic-rich material. This higher ichnological diversity suggests the establishment of an equilibrium community. Low density turbidity currents, whil how rosive power, increase the preservation potential of shallow tie trace fossils (Dr. 1994).



Fig. 2.5. Field images of the logged sections shown on Fig. 2.4. A. Montape de TAvalanche: channel sands (thickening: and coarsening-sproving packages of sandsone turbitistes, facies 1 and 3) dominate the lower stratigraphy with thin-bedded fine-grained, heterofilist accession of andstones, sithorsens, and madstone limited atoperaphic low (channel fill facies; facies 5). B. Tête Moulone: thin-bedded facies virial interbedder andstones and mutationes, interpreted as latenel quivilents of the channel fill facies; facies 5) shown in B. C. Pin Gimat thick-bedded and coarse-grained andstone turbidites (facies 5) shown in B. C. Pin Gimat thick-bedded and coarse-grained andstone turbidites (facies 1 and 3) interpreted as latenel quivilents for the channel stands.

7.1.2. Proximal fan environment

The Blasse de l'Alguille outerop consists of fining upward successions of thick- and medium-bedded sands with interhedded medium- to thin-bedded mudstoners (Figs 26– 2.7). Bed thicknesses are variable and the sandstone to mudstone ratios increasing upwards. The interpretation of this succession as a paroutal fan is based on field observations of a sheet-like geometry for the sandstone beda, suggestive of deposition from unconfined flows (Fig. 2.6B; Uchman, 2001). Sedimentation rates associated with turbidity current events tend to be high in fan settings. This results from flow expansion as turbidity currents leave the confines of a channel (Pickering et al. 1989). The turbidity current becomes reduced in thickness and losse turbatence, cassing rapid deposition.

The turbidite fan deposits contain very few trace fossils and little variability in ichnofabete. The Ophiomorpha rular ichnofabre is characteristic with galleries of O. rular being especially abundant in the finer grained, inter-turbidite mudstones. The only kinological variability is the rare development of the Ophiomorpha rular-Traducsionides suevices ichnofabric, which is documented from a limited number of inter-turbidite mudstone horizons. The burrows penetrate thick sandstone intervals (seen as vertical shafts), to exploit organic-rich inter-turbidite mudstones beneath. This behaviour implies a natrient stress at the sediment-water interface with only deep-burrowing animals able to survive in this low nutrient setting.



Fig. 2.6. Field images from the biases del 7/ajuille proximal fun deposit. A. The outcrop whose whick- and mediam-backed sandhone turbidities (ficies) 11 with a decrease in the sandmad ratio up section (see Fig. 2.7). The graphic log presented in Fig. 2.7), The drawa long the inte XX, B. Thit probability the sandhone turbidities (ficies) 1. The sandhone turbidities (ficies) 1.





Fig. 2.7. Graphic log from the Baisse de l'Aiguille proximal fan deposit within the Grès d'Annot Formation. The graphic log is drawn along the line XX' on Fig 2.6. Graphic log of the section indicating facies distributions, (see legend), bioturbation index (BI; see Goldring, 1995), and the locations of beds containing Ophiomorpha and Thalassinoides (the only ichnogenera found from this location; trace fossil distributions). The sandstone to mudstone ratio increases upwards. The scale bar in m. CS, coarse-grained sandstone; MS, medium-grained sandstone: FS, fine-grained sandstone; VFS, very fine-grained sandstone; S, siltstone; C, claystone.

2.7.2. Ichnology of confining basin slope settings

Confining basin slope settings are those areas along a basin margin or inter-basin relief which influence the flow of turbidity currents, resulting in deposition (Kneller & McCaffrey, 1999, 2003). Confining basin floor settings studied include Montagne de Chalufy and the Brux locality (Fig. 2.1). The complex arrangement of sub-basins and turba-basin structural features in the Greis d'Annot Basin influenced the style of deposition of incoming turbidity currents (Sinclair & Tomasso, 2002). Through time, the confining basin slopes were progressively draped and locally onlapped by the hemipelagic Marnes Bleues Formation. This Formation was in turn buried by the Marnes Brunes Inferieures Formation which is the lateral and distal equivalent of the Greis d'Annet Formation (Figs 2.8–2.9). This stratigraphic succession is accompanied by an increase in sedimentation rate and bed hickness up section. The change in formation and facies is also associated with a change in the trace fossil assembage and lchoofabrie.

A diverse and abundant trace fossil assemblage was recorded from the interbedded successions of the Marress Brunes Inferieures Formation. A nutrient-rich palacenvironment with no significant biological stresses is demonstrated by a diverse kinofianal assemblage. Preservation potential of shallow tier trace fossils (eg. Phycosiphon) was enhanced by deposition of beds with low erosive power. An kehnological assemblage inferred to represent the activity of mobile and sessile deposit feeders is preserved. The relatively quiescent palacenvironment of the Marres Dunnes Inferieures Formation is dominated by the Phycosiphon-Chiomorphar andis islinolabric.



A. The Braux outcrop along the D110 road. Hemipelagic maristones change to thick-bedded, coarse-grained sandstone turbidites (Grés d'Annot Formation; facies 1 and 4). YY' is the line of section for the graphic log on Fig. 2.9. B. The Montagne de Chalufy onlap section. Thick-bedded turbidites of the Grès d'Annot Formation Mames Bleues Formation: facies 8) with interbedded thin-bedded turbidites (Mames Brunes Inférieures Formation; facies 6) highlighted) punctuate thin-bedded lateral and distal equivalents (i.e. the Marnes Brunes Inférieures Formation) and pinch out onto the Marnes Bleues Formation on the ancient palaeo-slope. Fig. 2.8. Field images of confining basin slope settings. GAF, facies 1; Both formatic This ichnofabrie includes ?Asterosoma, Ophiomorpha rudis, O. annulata, Phycosiphon, Planolites, and Scolicia.

A dramatic change in the sedimentological and ichnological character of the successions comes with the deposition of the thick-bedded turbidites of the Grès d'Annot Formation. The onset of thick-bedded turbidite deposition marks a change to the Ophiomorpha rudis ichnofabric with some O. rudis penetrating turbidite sandstone beds up to 2 m thick (Plate 2.3F). These thick sandstone turbidites with their inter-turbidite mudstone and mudstone intraclasts contain O. rudis as their only trace fossil component. The Ophiomorpha rudis-Ophiomorpha annulata ichnofabric is observed in areas where the start of Grès d'Annot Formation deposition is marked by thin- to medium-bedded turbidites of facies 2. In most cases, however, the Phycosiphon-Ophiomorpha rudis ichnofabric changes abruptly to the Ophiomorpha rudis ichnofabric. Thick sandstone beds of facies 1 (Grès d'Annot Formation) are deposited on top of thin-bedded turbidites of facies 6 (Marnes Brunes Inférieures Formation: Fig. 2.9). There is a concomitant change to the Ophiomorpha rudis ichnofabric from the Phycosiphon-Ophiomorpha rudis ichnofabric with this change in depositional conditions and facies. The shift in ichnological assemblage indicates that the near-surface deposit feeding community was replaced by organisms which were forced to burrow to deeper levels in the sediment to find nutrition





2.8. Conclusion

This paper described the ichnotasa and ichnofabries of the Grès d'Annot Basin for the first time and demonstrated that race fossils and ichnofabries can be used to indicate changes in depositional and palaceenvironmental conditions in deep-water palacenvironments. The alliciclattic fill of the Grès d'Annot Basin is characterized by a high abundance, low diversity assemblage dominated by the trace fossil Ophiomorpha radir. Channel sands and thick-bedded sandstone turbidites have a low diversity assemblage restricted to post-turbidite colonization of locally abundant O *rudir*. The Ophiomorpha radirs ichnofabric is dominant in these settings. Vertical shafts of deep O *Ophiomorpha radirs* ichnofabric is dominant in these settings. Vertical shafts of deep O *palks* branch into horizontal galleries at deph along turbidite/met-turbidite interfaces where the organism is inferred to have been deposit feeding. This is inferred by intensely bioturbated post-turbidite hemipelagites, perhaps due to high organic matter contents. O *rudir* has been recorded parterna en interpreted to reflect fluctuations in nurient availability and turbidity current energy.

Decreased volume, frequency, and erosive power of turbidity current events increase the preservation potential of shallow tier, pre-turbidite trace fossils. The diversity and complexity of ichnofabrics is amplified in these situations. Thin-bedded channel-fill and thin-bedded turbidites on confining basin slopes are characterized by episodic low volume turbidity currents. Such environments are dominated by the trace fossils of vagile, deposit feeding communities represented by the *Pherocaphare*

Ophiomorpha rudis and Ophiomorpha annulata-Planolites ichnofabrics. These ichnofabrics have an ichnofauna that includes Paleodictyon, Phycosythen, Planolitee, as well as Ophiomorpha annulata, and O. rudis with rare and patchy occurrences of "Autorscome, Chonethere, Scholet, and Deopheron.

Shallow to mid tier trace fossils are uncommon and are found and reatricted to thin-bedded facles probably as a result of non-preservation in high current energy settings. Some common deep marine ichnotaxa are peorly represented (e.g., *Chondrice* and Zoophytoy) and other (largely interface) trace fossils characteristic of many ancient deep water systems (e.g. graphoglyptids; Seilacher, 1977) are absent. A sampling bias could account for a percentage of this imbalance (see McIlroy, 2004a, 2007) but could be attributed to low preservation potential due to the frequent occurrence of high volume, attrongly ensoinal turbidity currents. Classic models of turbidite ichnological successions and probably, in themselves, not entirely representative of max turbidity settings. The confined nature of the Gres d'Annot Basin may also have contributed to low ichnodivensity through ponding of large volumes of sediment and concomitant suppression of the development of distat, thin-bedded facies. In combination, turbidity current energy, nutrient stress, and basin structure may have been based to the structures at the stress of the settings. The controls on trace for alsocity appresentities of methods facies. In combination, turbidity current energy, nutrient stress, and basin structure may have been based to thesi significant suppression of the development of distat, thin-bedded facies. In combination, turbidity current energy, nutrient stress, and basin structure may have been based to the significant structures to trace for structures therein for more the the totes of Annot Basin.

References

- APPS, G. M. 1987. Evolution of the Grès d'Annot Basin, SW Alps. Ph.D. Thesis, University of Liverpool.
- APPS, G. M., PEEL, F. & ELLOTT, T. 2004. The structural setting and paleogeographical evolution of the Greis d'Annot Basin. In: JOSEPH, P. & LOMAS, S. A. (Eds) Deepwater sedimentation in the Alpine Basin of SE France: new perspectives on the Greis d'Annot and related systems. Geological Society of London Special Publication, 221, 65–96.
- BOREOULER, R., CARTWREIT, J. A., JOINSON, H. D., LANSEG, S., QUEMENER, J. M. & SAVANIE, D. 2004. Syndpositional faulting in the Crise 47 Annet Formation, SE France: high-resolution kinematic analysis and stratigraphic response to growth faulting. In: IOSERIP, & E. LOMAS, S. A. (1d5) Deepwater sedimentation in the Alpine Bartin of SE France: new perspectives on the Gris 47 Annot and related systems. Geological Society of London Special Publications, 21, 21–266.
- BROMLEY, R. G. 1996. Trace Fossils: Biology, Taphonomy and Applications. Chapman and Hall, London, United Kingdom, 280p.
- BROMLEY, R. G. & EKDALE, A. A. 1984. Chondrites: a trace fossil indicator of anoxia in sediments. Science, 224, 872–874.
- BROMLEY, R. G. & HANKEN, N. 2003. Structure and function of large, lobed Zoophycos, Pliocene of Rhodes, Greece. Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeocology, 192, 79–100.
- BROMLEY, R. G., JENSEN, M. & ASGAARD, U. 1995. Spatangoid echinoids: deep-tier trace fossils and chemosymbiosis. *Neues Jahrbuch für Geologie und Paldeontologie*, *Abhandlungen*, 195, 25–35.
- BRUNET, C., MOINE, P., JOLIVET, L. & CADET, J. P. 2000. Migration of compression and extension in the Tyrrhenian Sea, insights from ⁴⁰At³⁹Ar ages on micas along a transect from Corsia to Tuscany. *Tectonophysics*, **321**, 127–155.
- BUATOIS, L. A., NETTO, R. G., MÁNGANO, M. G., 2007. Ichnology of Permian marginalto shallow-marine coul-bearing successions: Rio Bonditio and Palermo Formations, Paranta Basin, Brazil. In: MACRECHERE, J. A., BANN, K. L., GINGRAS, M. K. & PEMBERTON, S. G. (Eds) Applied Ichnology. SEPM Short Course Notes, 52, 167– 177.
- CALLEC, Y. 2004. The turbidite fill of the Annot sub-basin (SE France): a sequencestratigraphy approach. In: JOSEPH, P. & LOMAS, S. A. (Eds) Deep-netre sedimentation in the Alpine Basin of SE France: new perspectives on the Grès d'Annot and related systems. Geological Society of London Special Publication, 221, 111–135.
- CHAMBERLAIN, C. K. 1978. Recognition of trace fossils in cores. In: BASAN, P. (Ed) Trace fossil concepts, SEPM Short Course, 5, 133–183.
- CRIMES, T. P. 1977. Trace fossils of an Eocene deep-sea fan, northern Spain. In: CRIMES, T. P. & HARPER, J. C. (Eds) Trace fossils 2. Geological Journal Special Issue, 9, 71–90.

- CRIMES, T. P., GOLDRING, R., HOMEWOOD, P., VAN STULIVENBERG, J. & WINKLER, W. 1981. Trace fossil assemblages of deep-sea fan deposits, Gurnigel and Schlieren flysch (Cretaceous-Eocene), Switzerland. *Eclogae Geologicae Helvetiae*, 74, 953–995.
- EKDALE, A. A. 1977. Abyssal trace fossils in worldwide Deep Sea Drilling Project cores. In: CRIMES, T. P. & HARPER, J.C. (Eds) Trace fossils 2. Geological Journal Special Issue, 9, 163–182.
- EKDALE, A. A. & BROMLEY, R. G. 1983. Trace fossils and ichnofabric in the Kjolby Gaard Marl, uppermost Cretaceous, Denmark. Bulletin of the Geological Society of Denmark, 31, 107–119.
- EKDALE, A. A. & MASON, T. R. 1988. Characteristic trace-fossil associations in oxygenpoor sedimentary environments. Geology, 16, 720–723.
- FORD, M. & LICKORISH, W. H. 2004. Foreland basin evolution around the western Alpine Arc. In: JOSEPH, P. & LOMAS, S. A. (Eds) Deep-water sedimentation in the Alpine Basin of SE France: new perspectives on the Griss d'Annot and related systems. Geological Society of London Special Publication, 221, 39–63.
- FREY, R. W., HOWARD, J. D. & PRYOR, W. A. 1978. Ophiomorpha: its morphologic, taxonomic, and environmental significance. Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology, 23, 199–229.
- FREY, R. W., CURRAN, H. A. & PEMBERTON, S. G. 1984. Trace making activities of crabs and their environmental significance: the ichnogenus *Psilonichnus. Journal of Paleontology*, 58, 333–350.
- FU, S. E. & WERNER, F. K. 1995. Is Zoophycos a feeding trace? Neues Jahbruch für Geologie und Paläeontologie, Abhandlungen, 195, 37–47.
- GHIBAUDO, G., GRANDESSO, P., MASSARI, F. & UCHMAN, A. 1996. Use of trace fossils in delineating sequence stratigraphic surfaces (Tertiary Venetian Basin, northeastern Italy). *Palaeogeography, Palaeocelogy, 120, 261–279.*
- GIBERT, J. M. DE 1996. Diopatrichnus odlingi n.isp. (annelid tube) and associated ichnofabries in the White Limestone (M. Jurassie) of Oxfordshire: sedimentological and palaeontological significance. Proceedings of the Geologists' Association, 107, 189–198.
- GRIMM, K. Ä. & FOLLMI, K. B. 1994. Doomed pioneers: allochthonous crustacean tracemakers in anaerobic basinal strata, Oligo-Miccene San Gregorio Formation, Baia California Sur. Mexico. PAL10(28, 9, 313–334.
- HAN, Y. & PICKERILL, R. K. 1994. Phycodes templus isp. nov. from the Lower Devonian of northwestern New Brunswick, Eastern Canada. Atlantic Geology, 30, 37–46.
- HÄNTZSCHEL, W. 1975. Trace fossils and problematica. In: TEICHERT, C. (Ed) Treatise on Invertebrate Paleontology, part W. Miscellanca, Supplement I. Geological Society of America and University of Kanasa Press, 269p.
- HEARD, T. G. & PICKERING, K. T. 2008. Trace fossils as diagnostic indicators of deepmarine environments, Middle Eocene Ainsa-Jaca basin, Spanish Pyrenees. *Sedimentology*, 55, 809–844.

HERRINGSHAW, L. G., SHERWOOD, O. A. & MCILROY, D. 2010. Ecosystem engineering by bioturbating polychaetes in event bed microcosms. *PALAIOS*, 25, 46–58.

KOTAKE, N. 1989. Paleoecology of the Zoophycos producers. Lethaia, 22, 327-341.

- KEIGHLEY, D. G. & PICKERILL, R. K. 1995. The ichnotaxa Palaeophycus and Planolites: historical perspectives and recommendations. *Ichnos*, 3, 301–309.
- KERN, J. P. 1978. Paleonenvironment of new trace fossils from the Eocene Mission Valley Formation, California. *Journal of Paleontology*, 52, 186–194.
- KNELLER, B. C. & MCCAFFREY, W. D. 1999. Depositional effects of flow nonuniformity and stratification within turbidity currents approaching a bounding slope: deflection, reflection, and facies variation. *Journal of Sedimentary Research*, 69, 980–991.
- KNELLER, B. C. & MCCAFFREY, W. D. 2003. The interpretation of vertical sequences in turbidite beds: the influence of longitudinal flow structure. *Journal of Sedimentary Research*, 73, 706–713.
- LÓWEMARK, L., LIN, I., WANG, C. & SCHOFELD, J. 2007. A test of the gardening hypothesis for the trace fossil Zoophyces. In: BROMLEY, R. G., BUATOIS, L. A., MÁNGANO, M. G., GENISE, J. & MELCHOR, R. N. (Eds) Sediment-organism interacticeted ichnology. SEPM Special Publication. 88, 77–86.
- MACEACHERN, J. A. & HOBBS, T. W., 2004. The ichnological expression of marine and marginal marine conglomerates and conglomeratic intervals, Cretaceous Western Interior Seaway, Alberta and northeastern British Columbia. *Bulletin of Canadian Petroleum Geology*, 52, 77–104.
- MACEACHERN, J. A., PEMBERTON, S. G., RAYCHAUDHURI, I. & VOSSLER, S. 1991. Application of the Glossifungites ichnofacies to the recognition of sequence stratigraphic boundaries: examples from the Cretacous of the Western Canada sedimentary basin, Alberta, Canada. American Association of Petroleum Geologists Bulletin, 75, 526-626.
- MACEACHER, J. A., GINGRAS, M. K., BANN, K. L., PEMBERTON, S. G. & RIICH, L. T. 2007a. Application of ichnology to high-resolution genetic stratigraphic paradigms. *In:* MACHEACHERN, J. A., BANN, K. L., GINGRAS, M. K. & PEMBERTON, S. G. (Eds) Applied Ichnology. SEPM Short Course Notes, 52, 95– 129.
- MACEACHERN, J. A., PEMBERTON, S. G., BANN, K. L., GINGRAS, M. K., 2007b. Departures from the archetypal ichnofacies: effective recognition of environmental stress in the rock record. *In:* MACEACHERN, J. A., BANN, K. L., GINGRAS, M. K. & PEMBERTON, S. G. (Eds) *Applied Ichnology*. SEPM Short Course Notes, **52**, 65–93.
- MACEACHERN, J. A., GINGRAS, M. K., BANN, K. L. & PEMBERTON, S. G. 2007c. The ichtrofacies paradigm: high-resolution palaecenvironmental interpretation of the rock record. In: MACRACHERN, J. A., BANN, K. L., GINARA, M. K. & PEMBERTON, S. G. (Eds) Applied ichnology. SEPM Short Course Notes, 52, 27– 64.
- MARTIN, M. A. & POLLARD, J. E. 1996. The role of frace fossii (ichnofabric) analysis in the development of depositional models for the Upper Janussie Fuluma Formation of the Kittivake Field Quadrant 21 UKCS). In: HURST, A., JOINSON, H. D., BURLIY, S. D., CANILMA, A. C. & MACRERTICH, D. S. (Edd) Goodogy of the Humber Group: Central Graben and Moroy Firth, UKCS. Geological Society of London Social Publication. 114, 163–183.

- MCILROY, D. 2004a. Some ichnological concepts, methodologies, applications and frontiers. In: MCILROY, D. (Ed) The application of ichnology to palaeoenvironmental and stratigraphic analysis. Geological Society of London Special Publication, 228, 3–27.
- MCLROY, D. 2004b. Ichnofabrics and sedimentary facies of a tide-dominated delta: Jurassie IIe Formation of Kristin Field, Haltenbanken, offshore mid-Norway. In: MCLROY, D. (Ed) The application of ichnology to palaeoenvironmental and stratigraphic analysis. Geological Society of London Special Publication, 228, 237–272.
- MCILROY, D. 2007. Lateral variability in shallow marine ichnofabrics: implications for the ichnofabric analysis method. *Journal of the Geological Society of London*, 164, 359–369.
- MCILROY, D. 2008. Ichnological analysis: The common ground between ichnofacies workers and ichnofabric analysts. *Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeocology*, 270, 332–338.
- MCILROY, D., TONKÍN, N. S., PHILLIPS, C. & HERRRINGSIAW, L. G. 2009. Comment on "Ophiomorpha irregulaire, Mesozoic trace fossil that is either well understood but rare in outcrop or poorly understood but common in core" by R. G. Bronley and G. K. Pedersen: [Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoceology, 284, 392–395.
- MILLER, M. F. & SMAIL, S. E., 1997. A semiquantitative field method for evaluating bioturbation on bedding planes. *PALAIOS*, 12, 391–396.
- MILLER, M. F. & CURRAN, H. A. 2001. Behavioral plasticity of modern Cenozoic burrowing thalassinidean shrimp. *Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeocology*, 166, 219–236.
- MILLER III, W. 2001. Thalassinoides-Phycodes compound burrow systems in Paleocene deep-water limestone, Southern Alps of Italy. Palaeogeography, Palaeocelimatology. Palaeoecology. 170, 149–156.
- NETO DE CARVALHO, C. & RODRIGUES, N. P. C. 2007. Compound Asterosoma ludwigae Schlirf, 2000 from the Jurassic of the Lusitanian Basin (Portugal): conditional strategies in the behaviour of Crustacea. Journal of Iberian Geology, 33, 295– 310.
- ORR, P. J. 1994. Trace fossil tiering within event beds and preservation of frozen profiles: an example from the Lower Carboniferous of Menorca. *PALAIOS*, 9, 202–210.
- ORR, P. J. 1995. A deep-marine ichnofaunal assemblage from Llandovery strata of the Welsh Basin, west Wales, UK, Geological Magazine, 132, 267–285.
- PEMBERTON, S. G., SPILA, M., PULHAM, A. J., SAUNDERS, T., ROBBINS, D. & SINCLAIR, I. K. (Eds) 2001. Ichnology and sedimentology of shallow to marginal marine systems. *Geological Association of Canada Short Course Notes*, 15.
- PICKERING, K. T., HISCOTT, R. N. & HEIN, F. J., 1989. Deep Marine Environments: Classic Sedimentation and Tectonics. Unwin Hyman, London, United Kingdom, 416p.
- POLLARD, J. E., GOLDRING, R. & BUCK, S. G. 1993. Ichnofabrics containing Ophiomorphic significance in shallow-water facies interpretation. Journal of the Geological Society of London, 150, 149–164.

- SAVRDA, C. E. & BOTTJER, D. J. 1986. Trace-fossil model for reconstruction of paleooxygenation in bottom waters. *Geology*, 14, 3-6.
- SCHLIRF, M. 2000. Upper Jurassic trace fossils from the Boulonnais (northern France). Geologica et Palaeontologica, 34, 145–213.
- SEILACHER, A. 1977. Pattern analysis of *Paleodictyon* and related trace fossils. *In:* CRIMES, T. P. & HARPER, J. C. (Eds) *Trace fossils 2*. Geological Journal Special Issue, 9, 289–334.
- SEILACHER, A. 1990. Aberration in bivalve evolution related to photo- and chemosymbiosis. *Historical Biology*, 3, 289-311.

SEILACHER, A. 2007. Trace Fossil Analysis. Springer Verlag, Heidelberg, 226p.

- SERANNE, M. 1999. The Gulf of Lion continental margin (NW Mediterranean) revisited by IBS: an overview. In: DURAND, B., JOLIVET, L., HORVATH, F. & SERANNI, M. (Eds) The Mediterranean Basins: Tertiary extension within the Alpine Orogen. Geological Society of London Special Publication, 156, 15–36.
- SINCLAIR, H. D. 1997. Tectonostratigraphic model for underfilled peripheral foreland basins: an Alpine perspective. *Geological Society of America Bulletin*, 109, 324– 346.
- SINCLAIR, H. D. 2000. Delta-fed turbidites infilling topographically complex basins: a new depositional model for the Annot sandstones, SE France. *Journal of Sectimentary Research*, **70**, 504–519.
- SINCLAIR, H. D. & TOMASSO, M. 2002. Depositional evolution of confined turbidite basins. Journal of Sedimentary Research, 72, 541–456.
- STANBOOK, D. A. & CLARK, J. D. 2004. The Mames Brunes Inferieures in the Grand Coyer remnant: characteristics, structure and relationship to the Grès d'Annot. In: JOSEPH, P. & LOMAN, S. A. (Eds) Deep-water sedimentation in the Alpine Basin of SE France: new perspectives on the Grès d'Annot and related systems. Geolorical Society of London Special Publication. 221, 285–300.
- SWINBANKS, D. D., LUTERNAUER, J. L. 1987. Burrow distribution of thalassinidean shrimp on a Fraser Delta tidal flat, British Columbia. *Journal of Paleontology*, 61, 315–332.
- TAYLOR, A. M. & GOLDRING, R. 1993. Description and analysis of bioturbation and ichnofabric. Journal of the Geological Society of London, 150, 141–148.
- TAYLOR, A. M., GOLDRING, R. & GOWLAND, S. 2003. Analysis and application of ichnofabrics. *Earth-Science Reviews*, 60, 227–259.
- TCHOUMATCHENCO, P. & UCHMAN, A. 2001. The oldest deep-sea Ophiomorpha and Scolleia and associated trace fossils from the Upper Jurassic-Lower Cretaceous deep-water turbidite deposits of SW Bulgaria. Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology, 169, 85–99.
- UCHMAN, A. 1995a. Taxonomy and palaeoecology of flysch trace fossils: the Marnosoarenacea Formation and associated facles (Miocene, Northern Apennines, Italy). *Beringeria*, 15, 1–115.
- UCHMAN, A. 1995b. Tiering patterns of trace fossils in the Palaeogene flysch deposits of the Carpathians, Poland. *Geobios Memoir Special*, 18, 389–394.

- UCHMAN, A. 1998. Taxonomy and ethology of flysch trace fossils: revision of the Marian Książkiewicz collection and studies of complementary material. *Annales Societatis Geologorum Poloniae*, 68, 105–218.
- UCHMAN, A. 1999. Ichnology of the Rhenodanubian flysch (Lower Cretaceous Eocene) in Austria and Germany. Beringeria, 25, 65–171.
- UCHMAN, A. 2001. Eocene flysch trace fossil from the Hecho Group of the Pyrenees, northern Spain. Beringeria, 28, 3–41.
- UCHAMN, A. 2003. Trends in diversity, frequency and complexity of graphoglyptid trace fossils: evolutionary and palaecenvironmental aspects. *Palaeogeography, Palaeocoloumatology*, 192, 123–142.
- UCHMAN, A. 2004. Deep-sea trace fossils controlled by palaeo-oxygenation and deposition: an example from the Lower Cretaceous dark llysch deposits of the Silesian Unit, Carrenthians, Poland, *Fossils and Strata*, **51**, 39–57.
- UCHMAN, A. 2009. The Ophiomorpha rudis ichnosubfacies of the Nereites ichnofacies: characteristics and constraints. Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeocology, 276, 107–119.
- UCHMAN, A., JANBU, N. E. & NEMEC, W. 2004. Trace fossils in the Cretaceous-Eocene flysch of the Sinop-Boyabat Basin, Central Pontides, Turkey. Annales Societatis Geologorum Polonice, 74, 197–235.
- WEIMER, R. J. & HOYT, J. H. 1964. Burrows of Callianassa major Say, geologic indicators of littoral and shallow neritic environments. Journal of Paleontology, 38, 761–767.
- WETZEL, A. 1983. Biogenic structures in modern slope to deep-sea sediments in the Sulu Sea basin (Philippines). Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoccology, 42, 285–304.
- WETZEL, A. & WERNER, F. 1981. Morphology and ecological significance of Zoophycos in deep-sea sediments off NW Africa. *Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeocology*, 32, 185–212.
- WETZEL, A. & BRÖMLEY, R. G. 1994. Phycosiphon incertum revisited: Anconichnus horizontalis is its junior subjective synonym. Journal of Paleontology, 68, 1396– 1402.
- WETZEL, A. & UCIMANN, A. 1997. Ichnology of deep-sea fan overbank deposits of the Ganei Slates (Eocene, Switzerland) – a classic flysch trace fossil locality studied first by Oswald Heer. *Ichnos*, 5, 139–162.
- WETZEL, A. & UCHMAN, A. 2001. Sequential colonization of muddy turbidites in the Eocene Beloveža Formation, Carpathians, Poland. Palaeogeography, Palaeocolimatology, 168, 171–186.

CHAPTER 3

Mining buried redox interfaces: an endobenthic feeding strategy in marine sediments



This paper will be submitted to PALAIOS

CHAPTER 3

Mining buried redox interfaces: an endobenthic feeding strategy in

marine sediments

CHRISTOPHER PHILLIPS, DUNCAN MCILROY, RICHARD CALLOW & LIAM G. HERRINGSHAW

Department of Earth Sciences, Memorial University of Newfoundland, St. John's, NL A1B 3X5, Canada

Abstract

The juxtposition of buried corgenated pore waters and organic carbon-tich, fine-grained sediment in turbidite systems presents a food resource for vagile endofauna. Numerous studies on the distribution of trace fossils in turbidite systems have recorded high abundances and densities of ichnogenera at andstone mutdatone interfaces. This poper provides a possible explanation for the observed preference for burrowing along tithological contacts which has hitherto been unexplained. Sand-mud interfaces provide ideal opportunities for micro- and macro-organisms to feed and respire in the softment. Based on field observations, laboratory mesocoms experiments, and theoretical considerations it is here suggested that the interface between deep-buried sand and mud is a zone of high microbial activity and productivity for both aerobia and anerobie microbes, which attract deep-burrowing endobenthic organisms to this ord resource. be the burrows of deposit feeding organisms that fed on: (1) detritial organic matter in fine-grained sediment; (2) microbes (possibly cultivated) that exploit geochenical gradients between vell-oxygenated sand and organic matter found in mud; and (1) disabled organic carbon produced by microbial metabolism in these zones of enhanced productivity. Using modern *Ophiomorpha* tracemakers we combine mesocosm experiments, CT image analysis, and geochemical data to explain our field observations that deep burrowing organisms commonly exploit sand-mud interfaces in turbidite systems.

3.1. Introduction

Trace fossils from deep marine turbidite palaecenvironments are commonly preserved at sandstone-mudstone interfaces with post-depositional trace fossils like *Clybiomorpha* and *Thalaxinoidas* common in post-Mesozoic turbidite systems (Chapter 2; Seilacher, 1962; Uchman, 1995, 1998, 2009; Heard & Pickering, 2008; Phillips *et al.* 2011). Both inhongenera are characterized by horizontal or sub-horizontal branching galleries at depth in the substrate connected to the sediment-water interface by vertical or oblique shafts which can be over 1 m long (Uchman, 2009). At depth these horizontal galleries commonly anastenose producing burrow networks that may be polygonal or irregular (Bromley, 1996; Uchman, 2009). Horizontal galleries are commonly constructed at sandstone-mudstone interfaces at the base of turbidities (Fig. 3.1A) or in burted menipeslane (Fig. 3.1B; Uchman, 1909; 1998; Hend & Pickering, 2008; Phillips *et al.*



Fig. 3.1. Field images showing trace fossil distribution in an ancient turbidite system, the focenceOligonese Grief of A more Formation, SF France. A. Namerous horizontal and pelletwalled Ophinomphrane track and the state of the state of the state of the state of the Ophinomphrane state and patients (arrowed) in inter-utilitäti manatome. C. Talacistonides Ophinomphrane tracks and and the state of the state of the state of the state of the Ophinomphrane tracks and the state of the

2011). Ophiomorpha and Thalasstmides are similar in gross morphology but the Ophiomorpha wall is lined, at least partially, by small packets of susully fine-grained sediment termed pellets (Frey et al. 1978). In contrast, Thalassinoides is unlined and when excavated in a firm substrate the burrow wall may be ornamented with scratch masks (biologlobp) produced during burrow execution (Fig. 3.1C; Frey et al. 1978).

Ophiomorpha is seen in high abundance, and often mono-ichnogeneric, assemblages in thick-bedded turbidites in the Eocene/Oligocene Grès d'Annot Formation. SE France (Chapter 2; Phillips et al. 2011). The most common taphonomic expression of Ophiomorpha in the Grès d'Annot Formation is in convex hyporelief at sandstonemudstone interfaces (e.g. as interface trace fossils; Fig 3.1A). These interfaces are commonly found to be highly bioturbated with numerous generations of burrows seen cross-cutting each other (Fig. 3.1A). We have also observed that large mudstone intraclasts incorporated into base of slope turbidites are bioturbated by Ophiomorpha (Fig. 3.1E). The intensity of bioturbation of the intraclasts (80-90%) is high relative to the surrounding sandstone suggesting that the mud clasts, and by extension the preturbidite mud, were a valuable resource for the Ophiomorpha and Thalassinoides tracemakers. The inferred behaviour is deposit feeding. The abundance of trace fossils (particularly Ophiomorpha) at sandstone-mudstone interfaces and within mudstone intraclasts in the Grès d'Annot turbidite system suggests that the deep-burrowing progenitors sought out sand-mud interfaces deep in the sediment. Further field observations have indicated that sandstone-sandstone interfaces in turbidite successions (i.e. surfaces of amalgamation) can provide insight into Ophiomorpha-producer behaviour. Ophiomorpha can be seen in a sandstone bed above a surface of

amalgamation, but is absent below it (Fig. 3.2). This provides an important insight regarding the feeding strategy of the *Ophiomorpha*-forming organism (discussed below).

This paper poses the question: why did the *Ophiomorpha* and *Thalaxinnides* tracemakers burrow through thick sandstone belos to produce extensive horizontal galaries at underlying sand-mud interfaces? What are the possible feeding strategies of the op-burrowing organisms in turbifies testings? The distribution of *Ophiomorpha* and *Thalaxinnides* were studied in a siliciclastic system in the field (the Grish d'Anott Basin; Chapter 2; Phillips et al. 2011). The distribution of modern *Ophiomorpha* and *Thalaxinnides* tracemakers were studied in mesocosm laboratory experiments to elucidate the behaviour of deep-burrowing organisms at sand-mul interfaces. Burrow distribution and tracemaker behaviour are examined through mesocom tank experiments and CT imagery and are considered in a biogochemical context. The effects of bioturbating and hioritrjating organisms on the organic carbon content (TOC) and carbon isotope fractionation (d¹³Cm₂) of the host sediment were measured to investigate how burrowing animals altered the sediment geochemistry and if this can be attributed to tracemaker behaviour. This paper a limits powled a behaviourd model for the distribution of interface trace forsitis in ancient turbifie settings.

3.2. Marine sediment geochemistry

Modern marine sediments are predominantly a reducing environment capped by a thin oxic surface layer in contact with oxygenated bottom waters (Kristensen, 2000). The



depth of oxygen penetration, by molecular diffusion, is on the order of millimetres where surface sediment has a high respiratory activity (Reimers et al. 1984). This penetration depth is increased by benthic animals mixing the sediment resulting in a thicker oxygenated surface layer. The bioturbated layer is typically c. 6 cm thick in modern deep-sea sediments under steady-state conditions (Teal et al. 2008). Non-steady state conditions such as those influenced by turbidite deposition can change environmental conditions on the ocean floor (Wilson et al. 1986; Buckley & Cranston, 1988). Turbidity currents may deliver oxygen-enriched waters (Sholkovitz & Soutar, 1975) and rapidly denosit thick layers of sediment which are likely to be well-oxygenated as oxygen is entrained during turbidity current flow (Wetzel & Uchman, 2001). Consequently, turbidity currents can deposit thick layers of oxygenated sediment suppressing the depth of the redox boundary in the sediment (Wilson et al. 1986). Sediment oxygenation is short-lived as free oxygen is used by microbial processes causing the redox front to rise through the turbidite back to its near-surface position (Colley et al. 1984: Thomson et al. 1984: Wilson et al. 1986). Numerous studies have described the movement of the redox boundary in response to turbidite deposition but they have not examined its rate of return to its near-surface position (Colley et al. 1984; Thomson et al. 1984; Wilson et al. 1986). This, as yet, has not been quantified in the literature. Despite the inevitable rise of the redox boundary, deep-sediment oxygenation can be locally maintained by bioirrigation.

Bioirrigation is the pumping of water into, and out of a burrow by biologically induced currents generated by the burrow inhabitant (Gust & Harrison, 1981; Herringhaw et al. 2010). Burrow ventilation delivers oxygenated water (and possibly mutrition for suspension feeders) to the burrower and allows oxygent to peterteta the

sediment to greater depths than can be achieved by molecular diffusion. Organisms that bioirrigate can live deeper in the sediment profile and are able to exploit deep-buried sources of organic carbon. As a result of bioirrigation, open burrows can be simplisically bought of an a section of the sediment-water interface (Alter, 1982; Papaspore *at al.* 2006) increasing the sediment surface area in contact with oxygenated water and increasing the total oxygen flux into the sediment (Zorn *et al.* 2006). Free oxygen can diffuse into the sediment through the burrow wall resulting in a geochemical gradient that is, relative to the burrow surface, a three-dimensional extension of the sedimort (Fig. JaY, Alter, 1922).

Organic carbon in particulate organic matter (POM) is the most important electron-donor oxidized by microbial reactions within the sediment (Canfield, 1949, 1943, Coleman & Raiswell, 1943). POM is oxidized in a number of microbial pathways in geochemical zores that utilize different electron acceptor species (Table 3.1). These zones are stratified vertically away from the source of available oxygen, which can either be the seafboor or a burrow margin (Fig. 3.3; Aller, 1942; Sundby, 2006). This stratification is a result of micro-organisms utilizing available electron acceptors the the highest yield of energy. The most energetically favourable electron acceptors the less energetically favourable electron acceptors are used at increasing depths (Freohlich *et al.* 1979; Berner, 1980). The order of the principal electron acceptors follows a trend reflecting the Gibbs free energy yield for the reduction of each species (Table 3.1). Microbes that preferentially use oxygen as an electron acceptor in the metabolism of comparic carbon have a competivice abruating in the oxiz orone because oxygen provides



Fig. 3.3. Pump priming of the softmatury system for dop-softmater misers based on the model of Alies. The Alies and Alies and
Reaction Free energy	yield, AG' (KJ mol-1 of CH2O)
Oxic respiration:	
$CH_{2}O + O_{2} \rightarrow CO_{2} + H_{2}O$	-475
Nitrate reduction:	
5CH ₂ O + 4NO ₃ - 2N ₂ + 4H ₂ CO ₃ + CO ₂ + 3H ₂ O	-448
Manganese reduction:	
CH ₂ O + 3CO ₂ + H ₂ O + 2MnO ₂ → 2Mn ²⁺ +4HCO ₅	-349
Iron reduction:	
$CH_{2}O + 7CO_{2} + 4Fe(OH)_{3} \rightarrow 4Fe^{2*} + 8HCO_{3} + 3H_{2}O$	-114
Sulphate reduction:	
$2CH_2O + SO_4^2 \rightarrow H_2S + 2HCO_3$	-11
Methane production:	
$2CH_2O + 2H_2O \rightarrow CH_4 + CO_2$	-58

ons (taken from Berner, 1980). Table 3.1. Oxidation pathways and free energy yields of microbial the highest yield of energy per mole of carbon (Table 3.1; Glud et al. 1994). It must be noted, however, that not all microbes in the oxic zone will use oxygen as the terminal electron acceptor as anoxic microsenvironments may be present, especially if the system is non-steady state (Proteich et al. 1979). When oxygen levels drop below a concentration sufficient for this reaction to be energetically favourable, either in microsenvironments or in deeper oxygen-depleted zones, microbes that utilize the next most energy efficient electron acceptor will dominate the microbal community and contribute greatest to the oxidation of organic matter. The net effect of microbal decomposition in the sediment is the production of habite dissolved organic carbon (DOC) from refrastory POM. The breakdown of POM is greatly enhanced by the surface-nart to volume ratio of the detrilal organic matter. POM can be broken down by: (1) physical sedimentary processes; (2) by the passive activities of burrowing organism; (3) by active disaggregation during matication and ingestion by benthic organism, and (4) by the metabolic activities of arearchis micro-reasines, subhur-deviced not benching the state of the protein during frameworks and the state of the protein during frameworks protein betterin in protein (2016) (1999).

3.3. Hypothesis: burial of organic-rich horizons

Fine-grained inter-turbidite and hemipelagic sediments may contain organic matter sourced from shallower depths offering a potential source of nutrition for benthic organisms. Rapid burial of inter-turbidite mud by oxygenated turbidies and can isolate potentially organic carbon-rich horizons from the water column. The deep-burrowing progenitors of *Ophisomythen* and *Thalacsinoides* are here bypothesized to exploit these buried horizons. Constructing and bioirrigating burrows along buried sand-mud interfaces produces a geochemical microenvironment suitable for hubitation by endobenhic organisms. The presence of free oxygen within ventilated burrows leads to the development of zones of microbial remineralization (Aller, 1982). In this situation the redox gradients are reversed as oxygen is delivered to deep-buried sediments diffusing upwards through britzontal burrows along sand-mud interfaces (Fig. 3.3B).

Our model predicts that this biologically induced source of free oxygen encourages microbial productivity in the near-burrow environment, especially where mud pellets or mucus lines the burrow margin (i.e. where microbial concentrations and POC concentrations are likely to be high). We predict that the profusion of interface trace fossils observed in the Grès d'Annot Formation, and other turbidite systems, is a result of deep-burrowing organisms generating and maintaining geochemical gradients at sandmual interfaces. It is here postalated that bioirrigation allows aerobic microbial reactions to occur deep in the sediment profile associated with oxygenated burrows. Further, we suggest that by culturing microbes within the burrow walls the inhabitant can produces a substantial DOC resource to meet or supplement in nutritional requirements at depth in the sediment, This is proposed as an otherwise unexploited niche which confers a unique advantage to deep-burrowing organisms like the progenitors of *Ophiomorpha* and *Thalassinolics* observed in the Greis d'Annet Formation (Chapter 2; Phillips et al. 2011). This model is tested below.

3.4. Methods

3.4.1. Experimental design

Two mesocoom experiments were constructed to simulate the vertical stratigraphy made by sand-rich event beds overlying natural fine-grained sediment (containing organic matter), analogous to a turbidite-hempelagite succession (Plate 3.1). Mesocoums (measuring 75 cm long by 40 cm wide by 35 cm high) were fed by recirculating, chilled saltwater to provide an oxygenated marine water column at 14°C. Salinity was monitored and maintained at 34 %.

3.4.1.1. Tank 1 (Plate 3.1A)

Two-layer starting conditions. Mud-rich sediment [mean grain size = 17 µm, Standard Deviation (S,D) = 29 µm] was added as a 5 cm thick basal layer. Organic matter within this fine-grained material was a potential food source for bioturbating organisms. Orderign the mud was well-sorted, coarse-grained, 99% quartz and [mean grain size = 852 µm, Standard Deviation (S,D) = 423 µm]. The sand layer material was bought builders sand (organic-poor). This set up was designed to simulate the sediment profile after a single turbidity current event, enabling assessment of whether burrowing organisms would burrow down through a bed of sand in order to find and mine an organic carbon-rich horizon below. This could then be assessed by examining the distribution of burrown through the sediment column.





3.4.1.2. Tank 2 (Plate 3.1B)

This messecome contained alternating layers of sand and fine-grained material. Two 7 en-thick layers of well-sorted, fine-grained, 99% quart sand (mean grain size $+76 \ \mu m$, Standard Deviation (S.D.) = 196 μm) were interlayered with mud-rich marine sediment (mean grain size $=70 \ \mu m$, Standard Deviation (S.D.) = 69 μm], 3 cm thick. The finegrained sediment was collected from an estuary near Fox Trap. Conception Bay South, Newfoundland. Again, the material for the sand layers was bought builders sand. The sediment profile of this tank was designed to simulate two thin event beds deposited by turbidity currents. The experiment was designed to test the idea that a bioturbaing organism would burrow through multiple beds and ramify along multiple and-mud interfaces thereby maximizing in spotential food sources. Both mesocoms were left to equilibrate for one week before tracemakers were introduced.

3.4.1.3. The tracemaker

Modern thalassinid crustaceans construct burrows that are morphologically similar to *Ophiomorpha* and *Thalexistioides* and are considered analogues for the ancient tracemakers (Weimer & Hoyt, 1964; Frey et al. 1978). The ghost shrimp *Neutryawa outryawa Constructional Construction Construction* (Selfer, 1991) was chosen for this experiment. *N. californiensis* (forward) and well-studied; mostly deposit feeding, shallow-water species chosen because of the similarities between the morphology of its burrow and *Ophiomorpha* and *Thalexistionides* (Miller & Curran, 2001). *N. californiensis* is known from muditas and tidal plains along the North American esbader from Alascia to Mexico (MacGinitic, 1934) where it construct deep alleries in the sediment, 50-100 cm below the sediment-water interface (Miller, 1984). Specimens of *N. californiensis* were collected from the coast of Oregon, USA. Five tracemakers were introduced to each tank and left to acclimatize and barrow. A period of eight months followed where burrowing and feeding behaviours were observed. At the end of this time morphological and geochemical data were collected.

3.4.1.4. CT scanning

Mapping the distribution of burrows was achieved using Computed Axial Tomography (CT) scanning with a Toshiba Xpress/GX medical CT scanner at Memorial University. Tanks were placed on the patient gantry and scans made using a source radiation of 130 kV and an intensity of 200 mA. Transverse slices 1 mm thick were imaged every 10 mm. Each slice/image was image processed to highlight the open burrows. This stack of images was rendered volumetrically to produce a three-dimensional reconstruction of the burrow system using VOI/we 2.0 (Khware Inc.).

3.4.1.5. Sampling

After CT scanning, the tanks were serially sliced to retrieve samples for goochemical data; total organic carbon (TOC) and stable isotope analysis ($6^{13}C_{expl}$). Slices were excavated to the full depth of the tank in 3 cm increments. Photographs were taken to help understand burrow system distributions. Samples were taken for geochemical analysis from Tank 2, from bioturbated material (burrow linings and pelts) and nonbioturbated muds. Samples were crushed with a pestle and mortar to produce a fine proder. The powder was the heated at 40^oC for several days to dry. Samples were the added to vials of 10% HCI to dissolve any carbonate present. This process was repeated three times before the samples were washed with distilled water and maintained at 40°C for several days to day. Geochemical analyses were carried out at the TERRA Facility at Memorial University. Prepared samples weighing 0.02 o.01 mg were placed into tin capsules and combusted at 1800°C. The liberated CO₂ was analysed using a Carlo Erba Elemental Analyser connected to a Delta/Plus mass spectrometer. Total organic carbon values are measured in weight percent while stable isotope values ($\delta^{11}C_{arg}$) are measured in party erm in elative to the PcDe Bellemine standard (Coper *at*. 2006).

3.5. Observations and results

3.5.1. Behaviour and burrow distribution of Neotrypaea californiensis

Neurypona culforniensis construct their burrows in stages. Initially the shrimp burrowed vertically from the sediment-water interface to a sund-mud interface (Plate 3.1D-E). At the sand-mud interface, N. culforniensis burrowed horizontally above the mud layer. The shrinps used the mud to latter the siles and roofs of their burrows producing a wall with a textured exterior, ornamented with mud pellets, and smoothed on the interior. These burrows (Plate 3.1E-G) are morphologically comparable to the trace fossil Ophiomorpha rudir, a burrow circular-to-varia in cross-section with a roof partially lined with oval or clongate muddy sand pellets, 2-4 mm in diameter (Uchman, 2009; Phillips et al. 2011). In our mescome experiments, N. culforniemotis, N. culforniemo with pellets and partially lined the sides (cf. O. rudir, Plate 3.17). Burrows were 10-15 mm in diameter. All the individuals of N. californionis lined their burrows with either a thin, smooth mual lining (1 mm thick; Plate 3.10) or the mud-pelleted wall (pelles 2 mm thick; Plate 31:EO, morphologically similar to ancient O. rudir (Uchman, 200).

Observations made of burrows along the glass walls of the tanks showed that Neotrypara californiensis preferentially constructed burrows along mud-sand interfaces (Plut 3.1F-G). Burrow morphologies clsewhere in the tanks were investigated using CT scanning. Three-dimensional reconstructions of these scans show that N. californiensis preferentially burrowed along sand-mud interfaces throughout the messcensus (Fig. 3.4). Visual observation and CT images analysis has revealed that our shrimp burrow along sand-mud interfaces in both of the mesocoms (Plat 3.1; Fig. 3.4).

After burrows were constructed Nootzynaea californianis was observed engaging in two principle behaviours: bioirrigating and feeding. The shrimps were seen bioirrigating for the vast majority of time. This involved the organisms positioning themselves in the vertical shafts of their burrows (close to the sediment-water interface) and beating their pleopods (back three appendages, or swimmerets) ventilated their burrows (20ta 2.112). We observed N. californianis periodically destroying, partially ingesting, and reforming the wall pellets which could suggest that there was possibly some martitoinal value in the mad-rise pellets (Pates 2.117).



Fig. 3.4. Three-dimensional burrow reconstructions from Tank 1 (Plate 3.1A). A. Numerous vertical shafts ramifying to horizontal tunnels at the sand-mud interface. B. The same burrow system shown from a different angle demonstrating that much of the sediment volume was unbioturbated.

3.5.2. Geochemical changes associated with burrowing

Samples were taken from mucl-lined walls (from Tank 2; Plate 3.1B) and the organic fraction analysed for its total organic carben content and stable carbon isotopes. These macro-biologically redistributed mud-rich samples were compared with unbiotarbated fine-grained sediment collected from the same levels with the mescoom (Fig. 3.5).

3.5.2.1. TOC (Fig. 3.5A)

Unbioturbated mud shows the lowest concentrations of organic carbon (mean 7.44.19% TOC, range 5.22-9.7% TOC). Barrow lining pellets have higher values (mean 9.84.7% TOC, range 1.10-14.78% TOC). These results indicate that organic carbon considerably richer in the burrow wall compared to the host sediment. The highest TOC value in this data set was found in a burrow pellet (sample UG]; 14.8% TOC). The lowest TOC value was found from an unbioturbated sample taken from a burrow floor where a shrimp constructed a burrow no of a far und layer (sample BH]; 1.10% TOC).

3.5.2.2. 813Corg (Fig. 3.5B)

The unbioturbated samples show uniform $\delta^{10}C_{eq}$ values (mean -23.5+0.03%n, range -23.44%n to -23.54%n). Data acquired from the biologically manipulated mud samples (barrow walls) had a greater pread of values (mean -23.5+0.3%n, range -23.20%n to -23.90%n). Most of the bioturbated samples are similar to the unbioturbated values or heavier (Fig. 3.58). The average value of the bioturbated samples in made lighter by a highty negative value for UGI (Fig. 36.1). This is consider an anomalous reading



Fig. 3.5. Graphs showing the geochemical data acquired from the burrow seen in Tank 2. A. TOC data. B. $\delta^{13}C_{eee}$ data (see text for discussion of results).

(discussed below). Both the highest and lowest values of $\delta^{12}C_{org}$ were found in the burrow walls. A mud pellet (sample UG1) had the most negative value with -23.96‰.

3.6. Discussion

This paper attempts to provide an explanation for the abundance of barrows along sandstone-muddone interfaces commonly observed in turbidite systems (e.g., Fig. 31; Phillips et al. 2011). This distribution can potentially be explained by: (1) a need for abunov-stabilizing mud-lined walls in unstable (closegreuoui) substrates (Weimer & Hoyt, 1964; Shinn, 1968; Frey et al. 1978; Miller & Curran, 2001); (2) conceiled firmgrounds that are impenetrable to the burrowing organism focusing burrow activity at the surface of a lithological heterogeneity (Miller & Curran, 2001); (3) toxicity of a buried horizon (e.g. high concentrations of hydrogen sulfide) that act as a biogeochemical barrier to bioturbation (Volkenborn et al. 2007); and (4) the search for organic carbon in sediments buriet at eph.

Observations from the Grès d'Annot Formation and our mesocosms provide evidence that allows us to test these various possibilities. A mud-free shaft of OphicomyPha over 2 m deep through a massive turbidite (Fig. 3.1D) suggest that stabilization of the burrow wall with mud pellets was unnecessary to ensure burrow stability in the loose turbidite stad (contru Shinn, 1968). Hydrodynamic energy was minimal in the mesocosms but the sands were loose, being free of organic material, mesons, and microide lextracellular provenci substances. It is nossible that *X*

3-23

californiemis could have constructed its pellet-lined burrows for burrow reinforcement. In regions without mud linnings, however, shrinp were able to stabilize the burrow without collapse (Plate 3.1C); indicating that pellets are not necessary for burrow wall stabilization.

Bioglyphs found on *Thalassinoides* demonstrate the presence of a concealed firmground (Fig. 3.1C), probably produced by burial dewatering and early diagenesis of the underlying clay-rich sediment. The preservation of burrows in full relief suggests that excavation of a concealed firmground was not a significant impediment to burrowing (Fig. 3.1C).

Visual and CT imaging data indicate a systematic burrow distribution, with Neartypase californiemis preferentially burrowing along sand-mud interfaces (Pile 3).1F-G; Fig. 3-A). Our captive specimens display similar burrowing behaviour to ancient wild Ophiomorpha and Thelastaniodis tenemakers. The distribution pattern of burrows is consistent with observations made on the distribution of Ophiomorpha and Thalacsimoides seen in ancient turbilite settings (Fig. 3.1; Chapter 2; Uchman, 1995, 1998; 2009; Phillips et al. 2011). It has previously been suggested that the tracemakers of Ophiomorpha and Thelastaniotic in ancient settings were feeding off microbes in finegrated organic carbon-rich sediment (carbon in biofflus), rather than the organic carbon itself (Pans-Ginitie, 1978; Miller, 1984; Bremley, 1996; Uchman, 2009; this paper). The data presented in this study presents several lines of evidence for microbial communities being an important factor influencing, and influenced by, the distribution of ancient tracemakers.

- 1. The reconstruction in Fig. 3.4 shows that most of the sediment volume is devoid of burrows. This could indicate that once burrows were constructed, no further expansion of the burrow networks took place. The low bioturbated volume suggests that deposit feeding from organic carbon in fine-paraied sediment was not a primary source of nutrition for *Neutrypara californiumis* as much of the much layers remained multilized. Serial slicing of sediment from the tanks demonstrated no evidence of filled in or collapsed burrows; a sign that the unbioturbated tank volume might have been previously mined (Fig. 3.6). It is possible feeding was not the primary source of nutrition for the shrimps and they utilized another food source that did not require expansion of the burrow network. Microbial tarinning is a possible source of nutrition which would not require continual burrowing activity represented by the behaviour of *N*. *californiculi* to our tady.
- 2. Nearsyance californiemis were seen to ingest fine-grained sediment from the burrow-lining pellets (Plate 3.17). This behaviour was regularly seen in the mesocosms and suggests that the pellets acted as a food source for the strings. The sediment is inferred to have been enriched in microbial biomass and DOC (based on relatively high TOC values; Fig. 3.5A). Observations made of the shrings recall that the animals exploited a different peller each feed, perhaps allowing the microbial communities to recover between feeding sessions. This is the first time such behaviour has been observed in laboratory experiments and may provide an explanation for the pelleted wall of Ophiomorphu, particularly in deep-sea turbible sertings.



Fig.3.6. Photographs taken during the excavation of tank 2. A-B. During the excavation the mol interbed were found to be structurelses. No signs of Durow collapse or backfill were found in the fine-grained interbedded musik. These observations support the interpretation from the C1 reconstructions in Fig.3.4 that suggests that the animals defined on extend their burves network after its as constructed (see Fig. 3.4). So that suggest that deposit feeding was not the main mode of feeding to *N*. californiensis during its lifetime in the hanks.

3. The geochemical data presented herein could also support the hypothesis that microbial farming was the key mode of nutrition during the lifetime of the burrowing organism. N. californiensis was seen to sift material using its maxillipeds, either sifting the grains to feed on organic carbon directly or possibly selecting organic carbon-rich grains to make into pellets, suitable for sites of significant microbial colonization. Increased TOC values from burrow walls could have been derived from an increased microbial biomass and microbially generated DOC. Microbially rich burrow walls have been recorded from other studies (Hines & Jones, 1985; Dufour et al. 2008). Higher TOC values are not considered to be a result of incorporation of faecal material into the burrow lining or pellets. N. californiensis faecal pellets are stiff, rod-shaped packages, 1 mm in diameter and up to 5 mm long (Powell, 1974). These were not found in burrow pellets or linings nor were animals observed placing faecal material into their burrow walls. The highest TOC values were found from burrow-lining pellets (Fig. 3.6A). This organic carbon could either be: (1) mechanically sorted from the host sediment and concentrated into the wall-lining pellets, or (2) a result of increased microbial biomass. 813Cont data show a mostly heavier set of values in the burrow wall than from the non-bioturbated material (Fig. 3.5B). Positive deviations from the uniform values of the non-bioturbated samples are interpreted as evidence of isotopic fractionation occurring in the burrow walls. Heavier values are most likely due to aerobic microbial respiration, removing the lighter carbon isotope during metabolic processes (e.g. Haves et al. 1989; Haves, 1993, 2001: Olive et al. 2003). Only one value is significantly lighter relative to unbioturbated mud samples and considered to be anomalous (sample UG1; Fig. 3.5B). The negative shift may indicate incorporation of C_3 terrestrial plant material into the barrow wall and used as a food source, or as a medium for microbial culturing. C_1 plants have an arrange $\delta^{11}C_{au}$ value of -27% (Cerling *et al.* 1989). Cold emperatures and plentful ground water encourage the dominance of C_3 plants such as consifers (Wallshleger, 1993), debris from which is abundant in the organic-rich extuarine mud used in these messcooms. Alternatively this more negative value could be due to anaerobic fractionation (sulphan reducing or methanogenesis, in a microenvironment within the pellets) producing enrichment in the linkter C_{i0} isotope (Haves, 1993).

3.6.1. Finding deep-buried nutrition in turbidite systems

The location mechanism by which our shrimps and the ancient Ophiomorpha and Thalaxinvides tracenakers found buried organic earbon-rich horizons is unclear. Sensory detection of organic compounds (including carbohydrate) has been observed in crustaceans (Prosser, 1061). The extent to which this detection method was used cannot be quantified in the ancient or in the present study. In the clean, organic-free sands of our mesoccours Neotrypaca californiensis did not have more than 7 cm of sand to burrow through to reach a source of nutrition. Turbidite sandstones are often much thicker. Ophiomorpha penetrating bedg greater than 1 m thick have been described (Fig. 3.1D; Seilacher, 1962; Hubbard & Shultz, 2008; Phillips et al. 2011). One possible mechanism is a continued downward burrowing sing a 'hti or miss' approach. When N. californiemic encounters a barrier on its downward path it has been observed to burrow herizontally along the obstacle and then continue vertically downwards from the obstacle's edge (Miller & Curran, 2001). This behaviour can be interpreted as a strong initianci for vertical burrowing in search of nutrition. The *OphiomorphalTolacismides* tracemaker may also encounter an amalgumation surface between two sandstone turbidites (Fig. 3.2). The continued downward burrowing instinct of the tracemakers could be grain-size dependent and that during burrowing, the tracemakers sought interfaces with a sudden decrease in grain-size (i.e. from sand to mud) corresponding to the location of a possible organic-rich horizon. At amalgumation surfaces a grain-size change would not be accompanied by an increase in organic carbon content. As a result the *Ophiomorpha* tracemakers appear to cease burrowing (Fig. 3.2). This may suggest that the search strategy for identifying organic carbon-rich horizons in turbidite successions is granulemetric, coupled with a drive for vertical downward burrowing until a fine-grained horizon is found or the search is shandnoord.

3.6.2. Pre-adaptations to deep marine colonization by thalassinids

Thalassinid crustaceans are an adaptable group of organisms found in a many depositional settings, bathymerics, and depths within the sediment (Dworschak, 2000). Intertidal Halassinid species such as *Neotrypowa californiemis* are adapted to oxygenpoor or anoxic pore water conditions (Thompson & Pritchard, 1969; Grimm & Föllmi, 1994). Subaerial exposure during low tides leaves burrows isolated from oxygenated wanter which agively become hypoxic (Thompson & Pritchard, 1969; winbank & Luternauer, 1987). Thalassinids have demonstrable physiological adaptations including redox tolerance and resilience to the effects of lowered oxygen. *N. californiensis* has a low metaballic rate and can survive anoxia for 138x27 hours (5.7 days; Thompson & Pritchard) [1669]. Thalassinids show the ability to sense oxygen concentration. Under low oxygen levels *N. californiensis* was observed to rhythmically beat its ploopods in an attempt to ventilate its surroundings and increase its oxygen supply (Fatley & Case, 1968).

It has been suggested that thalassinids could survive transportation in turbility currents, enabling them to construct burrow networks in offshore event beds (Föllmi & Grimm 1990; Grimm & Föllmi 1994). Thalassinids could exploit possible organic automorich herizons buried beneath the deposit of the turbility current that transported them. The 'doomed pioneer' hypothesis was proposed in which shrimp lived only for a short period before conditions became lethal (Föllmi & Grimm 1996; Grimm & Föllmi 1994). This does not, however, take into account the possibility that burrowing decapeds were already inhabitants of the deep seafleer (cf. Harmoll *et al.* 1992; Kern & Warne, Pi/4] Hayward, 1976; Uchama, 2009). The adaptations of thalassindi crustaesms to low oxygen conditions and short periods of anoxia certainly suggest that thalassinids would be able to survive such events but also indicate that they can be a natural component of the deep-sea fauna. It is entirely possible that hen ancient progenitors of *Clythomorpha* and *Thalassinducks* in deep-water palaecenvironments could have been decaped erustaceans found as part of the natural deep-water betthos.

3.7. Conclusion

The geological record preserves *Ophiomorphia* and *Thalastinoides* in high abundances at sandstone-mudstone interfaces in turbidite systems (Chapter 2; Uchman, 1995, 2009; Phillips *et al.* 2011). This paper and the experiments presented herein provide a model for the apparent preference for burrowing along lithological contexts and propose an explanation for transcemaker ethology in these instances. Inter-urbidite and hemipleagic muds at the basis of the basis slope are commonly buried beneath metres of rapidly deposited turbidite sand. From an ecological perspective, turbidite events produce an organic matter-poor sediment-water interface: clean sand buries organic carbon-rich muds to a depth inaccessible to many benthic organisms. Exploitation of these deeply buried food stores is thus restricted to deep-burrowing macrofiuma such as the *Ophiomorpha* and *Thalastinoides* tracemakers.

Though the biological affinities of the Ophiomorphia and Thalassinoides tracemakers cannot be confidently inferred from the trace fossill record, similarities in burrow structure and morphology between ancient and modern examples lead us to conclude that the tracemakers were physiologically and behaviourally comparable with modern thalassinid shrimp (Fig. 3.1A-E; Frey *et al.*, 1978; Uchman, 2009). Previous studies on *Ophiomorphia* and *Thalassinoides* considered their tracemakers to have been either suspension feeders (e.g., Anderson & Droser, 1988) or deposit feeders (e.g. Weimer & Hoyt, 1964; Uchman, 1995). Deposit feeding forms are interpreted to have fed directly or organic carbon in fine-grainal addiment (Wetzel, 1990) or indirectly on microbial biomass and DOC produced by microbial respiration (MacGinitic, 1978; Miller, 1984; Uchman, 2009). We have presented evidence herein for an alternative mode of feeding: microbial cultivation. It is proposed that burrow-lining pellets of ancient Ophiomorpha in decep-sea turbidit settings could have burrow and as a medium for cultivating microbes.

Observational data and CT imagery of our mesocosm experiments suggests that Neotrypaea californiensis preferentially burrow along sand-mud interfaces (Plate 3.1; Fig. 3.4). Geochemical data shows increased total organic carbon values from the burrow walls of the N. californiensis compared to unbioturbated samples as well as evidence for aerobic microbial respiration within burrow walls. Relatively high TOC values in burrow walls are probably due to the organism actively selecting and packaging organic carbonrich sedimentary particles into its burrow wall pellets. This provides a suitable medium for microbial cultivation either to feed on the microbes themselves or DOC produced by them as they respire. Heavier 813Core values in wall pellets infer isotopic fractionation by microbial processes (Fig. 3.5B). Bioirrigation of deep burrows maintains geochemical gradients allowing aerobic microbes to respire and break down refractory POC to bioavailable DOC for consumption by the burrow occupant. Our data could provide an explanation for the preferred distribution of Ophiomorpha and Thalassinoides along sandstone-mudstone interfaces in ancient turbidite systems. Microbial farming in the burrow-lining pellets of Ophiomorpha is postulated to be able to maintain a community of deep-burrowing organisms in deep-sea, deep-sediment settings.

References

- ALLER, R. C. 1982. The effects of macrobenthos on chemical properties of marine sediment and overfying water. In: MCCALL, P. L. & TEVESZ, M. J. S. (eds) Animal-Sediment Relations. Plenum, New York, 53–102.
- ANDERSON, B. G. & DROSER, M. L. 1998. Ichnofabrics and geometric configurations of Ophicomorpha within a sequence stratigraphic framework: an example from the Upner Cretaceous US western interior. Sedimentology, 45, 379–396.
- BERNER, R. A. 1980. Early Diagenesis: A Theoretical Approach. Princeton University Press, Princeton, 241p.
- BROMLEY, R. G. 1996. Trace fossils: Biology, Taphonomy & Applications. United Chapman & Hall, London, 361p.
- BUCKLEY D. E. & CRANSTON, R. E. 1988. Early diagenesis in deep sea turbidites: the imprint of paleo-oxidation zones. *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta*, 52, 2925– 2939.
- CANFIELD, D. E. 1989. Sulphate reduction and oxic respiration in marine sediments: implications for organic carbon preservation in euxinic environments. *Deep-Sea Research*, 36, 121-138.
- CANFIELD, D. E. 1993. Organic matter oxidation in marine sediments. In: WOLLAST, R., MACKENZIE, F. T. & CHOU, L. (eds) Interactions of C, N, P and S Biogeochemical Cycles and Global Changes. Springer-Vorlag, 333–363.
- CERLING, T. E., QUADE, J., WANG, Y. & BOWMAN, J. R. 1989. Carbon isotopes in soils and palaeosols as ecology and palaeoecology indicators. *Nature*, 341, 138–139.
- COLEMAN, M. L. & RAISWELL, R. 1993. Microbial mineralization of organic matter: mechanisms of self-organization and inferred rates of precipitation of diagenetic minerals. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London*, A344, 69-87.
- COLLEY, S., THOMSON, J., WILSON, T. R. S. & HIGGS, N. C. 1984. Post-depositional migration of elements during diagenesis in brown clay and turbidite sequences in the North East Atlantic. *Genchimica et Commonlinia Acta*, 48, 1223-1235.
- COPLEN, T. B., BRAND, W. A., GEHRE, M., GRÖNING, M., MEUER, H. A. J., TOMAN, B. & VERKOUTEREN, R. M. 2006. New guidelines for δ¹³C measurements. *Analytical Chemistry*, 78, 2439–2441.
- DUFOUR, S. C., WHITE, C., DESROSIERS, G. & JUNIPER, S. K. 2008. Structure and composition of the consolidated mud tube of Maldane sarsi (Polychaeta: Maldanidae). *Estimatine*, *Coastia and Shelf Science*, 78, 560–568.
- DWORSCHAK, P. 2000. Global diversity in the Thalassinidea (Decapoda). Journal of Crustacean Biology, 20, 238–245.
- FARLEY, R. D. & CASE, J. F. 1968. Perception of external oxygen by the burrowing shrimp Californias californiers and C. affinis Dana. Biological Bulletin, 134, 261–265.
- FÖLLMI, K. B. & GRIMM, K. A. 1990. Doomed pioneers: gravity-flow deposition and bioturbation in marine oxygen-deficient environments. *Geology*, 18, 1069–1072.

- FREY, R. W., HOWARD, J. D. & PRYOR, W. A. 1978. Ophiomorpha: its morphologic, taxonomic, and environmental significance. *Palaeogeography*, *Palaeocolimatology*, *Palaeoecology*, 23, 199–229.
- FROELCH, P. N., KLINKHAMMER, G. P., BENDER, M. L., LUEDTKE, N. A., HEATH, G. R., CULLEN, D., DAUPHIN, P., HAMMOND, D., HARTMAN, B. & MAYNARD, V. 1979. Early oxidation of organic matter in pelagic sediments of eastern equatorial Atlantic suboxic diagenesis. *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta*, 43, 1075–1090.
- GLUD, R. N., GUNDERSEN, J. K., JORGENSEN, B. B., REVSBECH, N. P. & SCHULZ, H. D. 1994. Diffusive and total oxygen uptake of deep-sea sediments in the eastern South Atlantic Ocean: in situ and laboratory measurements. *Deep-Sea Research*, 41, 1767–178.
- GRIMM, K. A. & FÖLLMI, K. B. 1994. Doomed pioneers: allochthonous crustacean tracemakers in anaerobic basinal strata, Oligo-Miocene San Gregorio Formation, Baja California Sur. Mexico. PAL1005, 9, 313–334.
- GUST, G. & HARRISON, J. T. 1981. Biological pumps at the sediment-water interface: mechanistic evaluation of the Alpheid shrimp Alpheus mackayi and its irrigation pattern. Marine Biology, 64, 71–78.
- HARTNOLL, R. G., RICE, A. L. & ATTRILL, M. J., 1992. Aspects of the biology of the galatheid genus *Munida* (Crustacea, Decapoda) from the Porcupine Seabight, Northeast Atlantic, *Sursia*, 76, 231–246.
- HAYES, J. M. 1993. Factors controlling ¹³C contents of sedimentary organic compounds: Principles and evidence. *Marine Geology*, 113, 111-125.
- HAYES, J. M. 2001. Fractionation of carbon and hydrogen isotopes in biosynthetic processes. In: VALLEY, J. W. & COLE, D. R. (eds) Reviews in Mineralogy and Geochemistry Volume 43. Mineralogical Society of America and Geochemical Society, 225-277.
- HAYES, J. M., POPP, B. N., TAKIGIKU, R. & JOINSON, M. W. 1989. An isotopic study of biogeochemical studies between carbonates and organic carbon in the Greenhorn Formation. Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta, 53, 2961–2972.
- HAYWARD, B. W., 1976. Lower Miocene bathyal and submarine canyon ichnocoenoses from Northland. New Zealand. Lethaia, 9, 149–162.
- HEARD, T. G. & PICKERING, K. T. 2008. Trace fossils as diagnostic indicators of deepmarine environments, middle Eocene Ainsa-Jaca Basin, Spanish Pyrenees. Sedimentology, 55, 809–844.
- HERRINGSHAW, L. G., SHERWOOD, O. A. & MCILROY, D. 2010. Ecosystem engineering by bioturbating polychaetes in event bed microcosms. *PALAIOS*, 25, 45–57.
- HINES, M. E. & JONES, G. E. 1985. Microbial biogeochemistry and bioturbation in the sediments of Great Bay, New Hampshire. *Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science*, 20, 729–742.
- HUBBARD, S. M. & SHULTZ, M. R. 2008. Deep burrows in submarine fan-channel deposits of the Cherro Toro Formation (Cretaceous), Chilean Patagonia: implications for firmground development and colonization in the deep sea. *PALAOS*, 23, 223–232.

- KERN, J. P. & WARME, J. E., 1974. Trace fossils and bathymetry of the Upper Cretaceous Point Loma Formation, San Diego, California. Bulletin of the Geological Society of America, 85, 893–900.
- KRISTENSEN, E. 2000. Organic matter diagenesis at the oxic/anoxic interface in coastal marine sediments, with emphasis on the role of burrowing animals. *Hydrobiologia*, 426, 1–24.
- MACGINITIE, G. E. 1934. The natural history of Callianassa californiensis Dana. American Midland Naturalist, 15, 166–177.
- MACGINITIE, G. E. 1978. The role of bacteria as a food source for bottom animals. *Science*, 76, 490.
- MANNING, R. & FELDER, D. 1991. Revision of the American Callianassidae (Crustacea: Decapoda: Thalassinidea). Proceedings of the Biological Society of Washington, 104, 764–792.
- MILLER, M. F. 1984. Bioturbation of intertidal quartz-rich sands: a modern example and its sedimentologic and paleoecologic implications. *Journal of Geology*, 92, 201– 216.
- MILLER, M. F. & CURRAN, H. F. 2001. Behavioral plasticity of modern and Cenozoic burrowing thalassinidean shrimp. *Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeocology*, 166, 219–236.
- OLIVE, P. J. W., PINNEGAR, J. K., POLUNIN, N. V. C., RICHARDS, G. & WELCH, R. 2003. Isotope trophic-step fractionation: a dynamic equilibrium model. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, 72, 608-617.
- PAPASFYROU, S., GREGERSEN, T., KRISTENSEN, E., CHRISTENSEN, B. & COX, R. P. 2006. Microbial reaction rates and bacterial communities in sediment surrounding burrows of two nereidid polychaetes (*Nereis diversicolor* and *N. virens*). Marine Biology, 148, 541–550.
- PHILLIPS, C., MCILROY, D. & ELLIOTT, T. 2011. Ichnological characterization of Eocene/Oligocene turbidites from the Grès d'Annot Basin, French Alps, SE France, Palaeogeograph, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoccology, 300, 67–83.
- POWELL, R. R. 1974. Functional morphology of the fore-guts of the Thalassinid crustaceans, Callianessa californiensis and Upogebia pugetensis. University of California Publications in Zoology, 104, 1–41.
- PROSSER, C. L. 1961. Chemoreception. In: PROSSER, C. L. & BROWN, F. A. JR. (eds) Comparative animal physiology. W.B Saunders Company, London, 319–334.
- REIMERS, C. E., KALHORN, S., EMERSON, S. R. & NEALSON, K. H. 1984. Oxygen consumption rates in pelagic sediments from the Central Pacific: first estimates from microelectrode profiles. *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta*, 48, 903–910.
- SEILACHER, A. 1962. Paleontological studies on turbidite sedimentation and erosion. Journal of Geology, 70, 227–234.
- SHINN, E. A. 1968. Burrowing in recent sediments of Florida and the Bahamas. Journal of Paleontology, 42, 879–894.
- SHOLKOVITZ, E. & SOUTAR, A. 1975. Changes in the composition of the bottom water of the Santa Barbara Basin: effect of turbidity currents. *Deep-Sea Research*, 22, 13– 21.

- SUNDBY, B. 2006. Transient state diagenesis in continental margin muds. Marine Chemistry, 102, 2–12.
- SWINBANKS, D. D. & LUTERNAUER, J. L. 1987. Burrow distribution of thalassinidean shrimp on a Fraser Delta tidal flat, British Columbia. *Journal of Paleontology*, 61, 315–332.
- TEAL, L. R., BULLING, M. T., PARKER, E. R. & SOLAN, M. 2008. Global patterns of bioturbation intensity and mixed depth of marine soft sediments. *Aquatic Biology*, 2, 207–218.
- THOMPSON, R. K. & PRITCHARD, A. W. 1969. Respiratory adaptations of two burrowing crustaceans, Callianassa californiensis and Upogebia pugettensis. Biological Bulletin, 136, 274–287.
- THOMSON, S., WILSON, T. R. S., CULKIN, F. & HYDES, D. J. 1984. Non-steady state diagenetic record in eastern equatorial Atlantic sediments. *Earth and Planetary Science Letters*, 71, 23-30.
- UCHMAN, A. 1995. Taxonomy and palaeoecology of flysch trace fossils: the Marnosoarenacea Formation and associated facies (Miocene, Northern Apennines, Italy). *Beringeria*, 15, 1–115.
- UCIIMAN, A. 1998. Taxonomy and ethology of flysch trace fossils: revision of the Marian Ksiazkiewicz Collection and studies of complementary material. *Annales Societatis Geologorum Polonice*, 68, 105–218.
- UCIMAN, A. 2009. The Ophiomorpha rudis ichnosubfacies of the Nerettes ichnofacies: characteristics and constraints. Palaeogeography. Palaeoclimatology, Palaeocology, 276, 107–119.
- VOLKENBORN, N., HEDTKAMP, S. I. C., VAN BEUSEKOM, J. E. E. & REISE, K. 2007. Effects of bioturbation and bioirrigation by lugworms (*Irenicola marina*) on physical and chemical sediment properties and implications for intertial habitat succession. *Estuarine: Coastal and Shelf Science*, 74, 331–343.
- WEIMER, R. J. & HOYT, J. H. 1964. Burrows of *Callianassa major* Say, geologic indicators of littoral and shallow neritic environments. *Journal of Paleontology*, 38, 761–767.
- WETZEL, A. 1991. Ecologic interpretation of deep-sea trace fossil communities. Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology, 85, 47–69.
- WETZEL, A. & UCHMAN, A. 2001. Sequential colonization of muddy turbidites in the Eocene Beloveža Formation, Carparthians, Poland, Palaeogeography, Palaeocolimatology, 168, 171–186.
- WILSON, T. R. S., THOMSON, J., HYDES, D. J., COLLEY, S., CULKIN, F. & SORENSEN, J. 1986. Oxidation fronts in pelagic sediments: diagenetic formation of metal-rich layers. *Science*, 232, 972–974.
- WULLSCHLEGER, S. D. 1993. Biochemical limitations to carbon assimilation in C₃ plants—A retrospective analysis of the A/C₁ curves from 109 species. *Journal of Experimental Boards*, 44, 907–920.
- ZORN, M. E., LALONDE, S. V., GINGRAS, M. K., PEMBERTON, S. G. & KONHAUSER, K., 2006. Microscale oxygen distribution in various invertebrate burrow walls. *Geobiology*, 4, 137–145.

CHAPTER 4

Ichnfabrics and biologically mediated changes in clay mineral assemblages from a deep-water, fine-grained, calcareous sedimentary succession: an example from the Upper Cretaceous Wyandot Formation, offshore Nova Scotia



Published in Bulletin of Canadian Petroleum Geology (2010) Volume 58 (3), 203-218.

CHAPTER 4

Ichnofabrics and biologically mediated changes in clay mineral assemblages from a deep-water, fine-grained, calcareous sedimentary succession: an example from the Upper Cretaceous Wyandot Formation, offshore Nova Scotia

CHRISTOPHER PHILLIPS & DUNCAN MCILROY

Department of Earth Sciences, Memorial University of Newfoundland, St. John's, NL A1B 3X5, Canada

Abstract

The Upper Cretaceous Wyindot Formation is a 400 m thick reservoir facies composed of autochthorous fine-grained calcareous mudstone deposited in an outer shelf to upper budyal setting. The formation contains two lithofacies: (1) homogeneous chalk; and (2) an interbedded kaolinite-bearing, calcareous claystone. Ichnofabric analysis reveals arreads of environmental deterioration and amelioration linked to fluctuations in the supply of organic matter to the sediment-water interface. Increased supply of organic matter led to a rising of the redox front and low porevater/sediment oxygenation excluding many endobenthic organisms. Mineralogical and textural differences between burrow fill and host sediment demonstrate that biotarbation affects sediment texture by altering abativenic day integra assemblases. Charming assemblases in hurrow fills are more diverse than in the host sediment, most likely a result of low temperature authigenesis in the digestive system of deposit feeding endobenthos. These findings show that deposit feeding endofauna can alter the abundance and diversity of elay mineral assemblages in finge-grained ealersous sediments.

4.1. Introduction

Deep-sea settings away from terrigenous input are aerially the most extensive depositional environment for fine-grained material (Ekdale *et al.* 1984). In settings above the calcie compensation depth (CCD) almost all the material reaching the occan floor is sourced from the photic zone (Brasher & Vagle, 1996). Foraminifers and nannoplanktom may be incorporated in faceal pellets and annalgamate into macroaggregates or 'marine anow' for transport to the seafborr (Schlanger & Douglas, 1974; Gooday & Turley, 1990; Brasher & Vagle, 1996). Steady-state pelagic conditions are typified by lower sediment accumulation rates and productivity-derived sediments compared to settings with more terrestrial influence (Doeven, 1983; Bromley & Ekdale, 1984; Wetzel, 2022). Consequently, fine-grained pelagic sediment may be bioturbated, possibly multiple times, by bethic organisms before being buried beneath the zone of bioturbation (Ekdale & B

Animals live and feed at different depths in the substrate based on species-specific needs such as sediment firmness, oxygenation, and organic matter content (Ausich & Bottjer, 1982; Savrda & Bottjer, 1986; Wetzel, 1991). This vertical partitioning of the

4-2

sediment is seen in box cores taken from numerous localities in modern oceans and in the geological record from deep marine settings (Wetzel, 1983, 1991; Ekdale & Bromley, 1984, 1991; Ekdale et al. 1984; Locklair & Savrda, 1998). Bioturbated pelagic sediment can be defined in three layers; an upper mixed layer, an intermediate transition layer, and a lower historical layer (Fig. 4.1; Berger & Heath, 1968; Berger et al. 1979; Wetzel, 1983; Savrda & Bottjer, 1989). The mixed layer is a thin zone of soupy sediment, typically 3-15 cm thick (Savrda & Bottjer, 1989), which is continually bioturbated by deposit feeding benthic animals (Berger et al. 1979; Ekdale & Bromley, 1991). As a result, the primary sedimentary fabric of the sediment is removed (from the geological record) by the burrowing activity of the endobenthic community (Ekdale & Bromley, 1991; Locklair & Savrda, 1998). The transition layer contains feeding and dwelling structures of organisms that burrow deeper in the sediment (Savrda & Bottier, 1989). Many generations of burrowing organisms may be preserved in the transition layer leading to complex overprinting that can be difficult to subdivide into component ichnocoenoses (Ekdale & Bromley, 1983a, 1984; Bromley & Ekdale, 1991; Wetzel, 1991; McIlroy, 2004). The historical layer lies below the depth of bioturbation (Goldring, 1995). The historical layer enters the rock record as a modification of the mixed layer: a mottled fabric formed by biodeformational structures with deep-tier and elite trace fossils from the transition layer superimposed (Fig. 4.1: Sayrda & Ozalas, 1993).

This paper consider deep-water, fine-grained carbonates, principally composed of productivly-derived calcareous material. The effects of bioturbation on auch deposits are illustrated in the chalks and interlayered marktones of the Upper Cretaceous Wyando Formation, effbore Nova Social. This paper is the first to document, in detail, the trace

4-3



Fig. 4.1. Schematic diagram showing the generalized stratigraphy and archetypical tiering of trace fossils as can be found under steady-state conditions. This model is based on the tiering of trace fossils found in the Waynoft Formation. *Thalastisnides* (th) is overprinted by deeper-tier *Zoophysox* (z) which is overprinted by the deepest-burrowing *Chondrites* constructor(ch).

fossils and ichnofabrics of the Wyandot Formation and examines changes in ichnofabric frelated to palaecenvironmental perturbations. The Wyandot Formation is a reservoir facies with an oil and gas show (Wielens *et al.* 2002; Ings *et al.* 2003). This paper show cases the utility of leinofabric analysis to identify environmental changes in reservoir facies and how endobenthic animals affect gostechnical properties of the sediment. Environmental changes interpreted through changes in the palaeobenthic community and ichnofabrics can be used to illustrate changes in depositional conditions that can have an effect on reservoir facies. There is an increasing contribution of work on the impact of bioutuation on reservoir facies (Gingras *et al.* 1999, 2007); Punberton & Gingras, 2005; Tonkin *et al.* 2010) but there are very few studies focused on chaik reservoirs compared to silicidastic systems. The effect bioturbation has on the texture and mineralogy of finegrained calcareous sediments is also assessed. This is of particular interest since biologically induced textural heterogeneities have significant controls on reservoir anality (Mellory *et al.* 2016). Demberton & Gingras, 2005; Tonkin *et al.* 2010.

4.2. Regional geology

The Scotian Shelf is located on the continental margin of south-eastern Canada covering an area of 300,000 km³ and extending for 500 km along the Scotian Margin (Fig. 4.2; Hansen et al. 2004). The Wandot Formation is a 400 m thick Upper Cretaceous (Santonian-Maastrichtian) succession of autochthonous chalk and interlayered marktone Wielens et al. 2002). Using the transmit classification of chalk (based on the



Fig. 4.3. A-B. A location map of the Scoian Shelf along the continental margin of eastern Canada. C. Location of pertoleme region potention wells, norbitly the Eagle D-21, Primose A-41, and Subenacadie H-100 wells. The shaded region indicates the extent of the Wyandot Formation on the Socian Shelf. The dashed landward burght of th depositional mechanism) the Wyandot Formation is a Category I chalk (i.e. autochthonous in origin; Brasher & Vagle, 1996).

In the modern ocean calcareous oze (incipient chalk) is deposited above the CCD in water depths of 2-4.5 km, and distal to terrigenous sources (Ekdale & Brennley, 1983b). The Wyandet Formation was deposited below storm wave base in an offshore 180-200 m is implied from the abundance of the coccolith species *Lucianarhabhas cagenzeti* (Deeven, 1983). Newly deposited calcareous ocze has a primary porosity of 70-80% (Schlanger & Douglas, 1974) which can be preserved by diagenesis, overpressuring, and hydrocarbon saturation (Brasher & Vagle, 1996). The Wyandot Formation records porosities of 15-35%, having been buried to depths less than 1.5 km (logs *et al.* 2005) (avourable for hydrocarbon reservoir fines. The Social Shoff has been targeted for hydrocarbon exploration and both oil and gas have been discovered in the Wyandot Formation and the Petrel Member of the underlying Davoson Caryon Formation (Eq. 4.3, Wieless *et al.* 2002). Despite these finds the Wyandot Formation is understudied compared to the underlying Jurassis and Lover Cretaceous treasvoirs (Ings *et al.* 2005).

The origins of the Scotian Shelf can be traced to the break-up of Pangea and the Late Triasise to Middle Jarassic deposition of syn-rift sediments (Wade & MacLean, 1990; Wade et al. 1995). These include salt beds precepitated from shallow hypersaline seas before marine transgressions resulted in the deposition of dolomite and linestone (Argo and Irequisis Formations on Fig. 4.3; Wade, 1981). These are overlain by interbedded marine sandstone and shale as the initiation of scattoor spreading linked to

4-7



Fig. 4.3. Generalized Scotian Shelf lithostratigraphy. Redrawn from Ings et al. (2005).
the opening of the proto-North Atlantic increasing accommodation space (Abenda, Mic Mac, Verrill Canyon Formations on Fig. 4.3; McIver, 1972; Wade, 1981). Post-rift facies, were deposited in open marine conditions after marine transgressions and further tectonism increased accommodation space. The Socialm Sheff shows gradual deepening through the later Mesozcie with the deposition of, amongst others, the Wyandot Formation (McIver, 1972; Elink, 1978; Wade, 1981). The Wyandot Formation is a postrift formation deposited distal to terrigenous sources. Latest Cretacous and Early Cenoxoic the Bhanquereau and Laurentian Formation and continue through the Cenoxoic the Bhanquereau and Laurentian Formation and continue through the

4.3. Methods and dataset

This paper examines split cores from three wells drilled through the Wyandot Formation housed at Canada-Nova Scotia Offshore Petroleum Board, Darimouth, Nova Sotia, These wells are Eagle D-21, Primova A-41, and Shubencadie H-100. Each well was diledla to different depths in the Wyandot Formation; the Eagle D-21 well being the deepest, then Primrose A-41, followed by shallowest drilled well, Shubencadie H-100. There is no stratigraphic overlap between the wells. Cores were described sedimentologically and ichnologically on a bed-by-bed scale to produce an integrated ichnological-sedimentological analysis (see methodology in McIlroy, 2008). This paper discusses changes in depositional conditions interpreted through observed changes in chonobrie, an ichnologic ichnologies of the texture and internal structure of the hostory. bed resulting from all phases of bioturbation" (Ekdale & Bromley, 1983, p. 110; see also Mellroy, 2004).

Table 4.1 lists the ichnogenera found in the Wyandot Formation. Identification of trace fossils in cores can be problematic since they can only be viewed in two dimensions. Concomitantly, some diagnostic information, such as wall structure, goes unseen which can make identification subjective (McIlroy *et al.* 2009). To eliminate as much misinterpretation as possible trace fossils were described at the ichnogenus level only (following Werkel, 1987).

The bioturbation index (BD) is a semi-quantitative method of describing the amount of bioturbation on a graded scale; BI 0 having preservation of all primary fabric to BI 6 being complete burrow homogenization (Goldring, 1995). Low lithelogical contrast between trace fossils and host sediment due to textural and chemical purity of the chalk makes identification difficult. Selected photographic images were digitally enhanced to improve contrast between burrow fill and surrounding sediment.

Percentage abundances of foraminifers and authigenic and detrial grains were obtained from thin sections by point counting. Areas of core that showed the greatest lithological and ichnological interest were sampled for petrographic and backscattered electron imagery. Thin sections were analyzed in a FEI Quanta 400 with a Bruker XFLash 4010 energy discriminating (EDX) X-ray detector at Memorial University of Newfoundland.

There are no marker beds in the Wyandot Formation (sedimentological or geophysical) that can be used for regional correlation as primary sedimentary fabric has been removed by burrowing organisms. Bioturbation also disrupted sedimentary bedding

	to the cennedy orthern	aing an 82).	sments: 1984).	-Wetzel	kdale &	m in the kotale & x cores letzel & }
Remarks	ese specimens conform in size and character guality amilying unwei structures' described by K 87°, p. 148) of the English Cretaceous chalk and n popean chalks (Ekdala & Bromley, 1983a).	iseophycos is described as a lined tude m genated addments by verform organisms mants en connection to the surface (Pemberton & Frey, 186	ase burrows resemble Planolites from modern sed ined, horizontal tunnels (Wetzal, 1983; Exdale et al.	niar in morphology to the Teichichnus described by 187, p. 627), roof guitters stacked on top of each of I last open burrow on top.	alissainoides resemble the forms described by El- mely (1983a, 1984); sub-circular burrows, unlined te	and Zoophorce are comprehendle in the forma see per Createoux Ketry Caard Mari of Dennak (E mitty, 1963, 1984, 1981) and from modern bo an from numerous deep-seater environment (N ann (1981, Nezaci, 1985, 1984; Dicale et al. 1984, anner, 1981, Nezaci, 1985, 1984; Dicale et al. 1984
Description	Circular, course or Risemanus babes. Horizontal and writeal Th components, straight and curved. Burnews 1.3 mm in dameter, ''n Filed by structureless chafk or marktone. Chondrides overprint(11 all chongements. Abundam.	Sub-circular tubes, c. 10 mm. Burrow wall 1-2 mm thick and Pa made of muddler calcareous makerial compared with burrow fill co and hold sedment. Structureless burrow fill, Common. op	Sub-circular and lenfocular horizontal tubes 5-12 mm wide Th Unitinud. Homogeneous fill composed of calcarenais material un incher in clays compared to the host sedment. Common.	series of consequences tabled intrinse (preview) to mm (Sk wide. Specifier darker (more day-tab) than inter-greins areas/() and host settiment. Last cavashive burrow (sub-circuit), fits and host settiment. Last cavashive burrow (sub-circuit), fits and host settiment of specifier). Commism	Ovel and lenticular horizontal burrows 12-40 mm wide. Unlined, 77 Burrow fills of structureless chalk or marksone. Abundant. et al.	m) Hotores 2.10 mm hotor commonly with or develop one (7-10) With momenta and the second one of the
Ichnogenera	Chondrifes (Figs 4.5C, 4.7A-D, 4.8C & Plate 4.1E)	Pataeophycus (Plate 4.1A-B)	Planoftes (Figs 4.5A-B, 4.7A & Plate 4.1A	Teichichnus	Thelessinoides (Figs 4.5A, 4.7A & Plate 4.1B,C,E)	Zoophycos (Figs 4.54, 4.7A D.E.& Pitste 4.1D)

Table 4.1. Trace fossil ichnogenera described from the Wyandot Fermation

so there are no identifiable colonization surfaces unlike other coeval Cretaceous chalk deposits (Ekdale & Bromley, 1984; Frey & Bromley, 1985; Locklair & Savrda, 1998). Consequently, the depth of bioturbation could not be unequivocally established from objective sedimentological criteria. A colonization order can be established by crosscutting relationships. The Thalassinoides constructor was one of the first animals to burrow into the sediment. In the Wyandot Formation Thalassinoides is a shallow-tier trace fossil overprinted by other shallow-tier and deep-tier trace fossils related to younger stratigraphic levels such as Planolites and Palaeophycus (Plate 4.1A-B). The Thalassinoides tracemaker was probably a decapod crustacean which maintained an open connection to the surface (Frey et al. 1978). Planolites tracemakers did not maintain a permanent open connection to the sediment-water interface so were restricted to the oxic mixed layer (Plate 4.1A-B; Pemberton & Frey, 1982). Thalassinoides is re-burrowed and overprinted by mixed layer ichnofauna such as Planolites and Palaeophycus (Plate 4.1B). Zoophycos is also seen to cross-cut Thalassinoides, but mutual cross cutting is not documented herein. This indicates that Zoophycos was emplaced after Thalassinoides and that the Zoophycos constructor was a deep-tier organism living and feeding at depth in the sediment (Weztel, 1983). The Chondrites animal was the last to burrow the sediment as evidenced by the fact that it overprints all other ichnogenera (Plate 4.1E). The Chondrites animal is frequently referenced as a deep burrower, burrowing below the redox zone possibly feeding with the aid of chemosymbiotic bacteria (Seilacher, 1990; Fu. 1991) maintaining an open connection to the water column (Ekdale, 1992). Low sedimentation rates (evinced from intense biological reworking of the sediment and overprinting of trace fossils) mean that the true number of burrow generations is not





resolvable. Descriptions below, however, demonstrate that with careful ichnofabric analysis trends can be seen in core that could potentially, with improved core-coverage, be used for correlation of semi-regional sedimentation events on the Scotian Shelf.

4.5. Lithofacies

Fine-grained sedimentary rocks can be divided into three key constituents: (1) autochthonous material (derived from *in situ* primary and secondary production or advected by currents); (2) allochthonous material (detrital components delivered to the accommodation space *ex situ*); and (1) authigenic products resulting from diagenetic reactions within the sediment during or after burial (Macquaker & Adams, 2003). Lithofacies are commonly characterized according to the abundance of these three constituents. Two lithofacies are recorded from the Wyandor formation.

4.5.1. Lithofacies 1

This lithofacies is made of white to light-grey, very fine-grained, carbonate (chalk). There are no physical sedimentary structures due to biolurbation (BI 5-6). Ichnogenera include *Chondrites*, *Palacophysa*, *Planolites*, *Teichichma*, *Thalassinnide*, and *Zoophycon*. Macrofaunal diversity is low and restricted to fragments of inoceramid bivalves (*Inoceramus* sp.; Fig. 44.47, Janas & Wade, 1975). Prominent stylolities are seen in thick successions of white taik (Fig. 4.40). The stylolites are seen



Fig. 4.4. Images of linbchcies 1. A. Fragments of the incertaintid clam, *Incorromater Fig.* 4.4. Images of linbchcies 1. A. Fragments of the incremental field with organic-tech material. Eagle D-21, core 3. C. Abundant foruminatives (f). Pyrite (ty) and organic metter lineage of the second seco

insoluble residue of clay and organic material. They have a maximum thickness of 2 mm and maximum amplitude of 10 mm.

Under optical microscopy, the matrix is composed of a homogeneous, calcareous material (Fig. 4.4C-D). Calcareous, angular inoceramid shell fragments approximately 1 mm long are distributed randomly through the fine-grained matrix (Fig. 4.4D). No siliciclastic grains were seen under optical microscopy (Fig. 4.4C-D). Organic matter occurs in low abundance (<1%) as orange sub-circular grains or filaments 50-100 µm wide (Fig. 4.4D). Euhedral pyrite crystals are rare, less than 50 µm in diameter and also distributed randomly through the matrix (Fig. 4.4C). Foraminifer tests constitute 10-40 % volume of this lithofacies with the highest concentrations found within burrow fills (especially Thalassinoides and Zoophycos; Fig. 4.7). Foraminifers are found as both broken pieces and whole tests (Fig. 4.4C-F). SEM study of polished thin sections reveals a homogeneous matrix composed almost entirely of coccoliths (Fig. 4.4E). Kaolinite is rare and evenly distributed through the matrix; it is the only clay mineral found in lithofacies 1 (Fig. 4.4E-F). The mineralogy was determined by a combination of low back scattered electron coefficients, grain shape (bookish shapes), and low interference colours in XPL. EDS spectra showed Al and Si in a 1:1 ratio, characteristic of kaolinite (Deer et al. 1992). Less than 5% of the volume of lithofacies 1 is made of kaolinite (percentage obtained by point counting). Authigenic pyrite crystals are seen throughout this lithofacies at the SEM scale (Fig. 4.4C-E). Pyrite crystals are 1-5 um wide and have angular shapes (Fig. 4.4E). There is no observable pattern to their distribution, neither preferentially clustering in burrow fills nor in the sediment. Following the nomenclature

of Macquaker & Adams (2003) this lithofacies is classified as a bioturbated, foraminiferand coccolith-rich, calcareous claystone.

4.5.2. Lithofacies 2

Linkoficies 2 is a mid- to dark-grey, very fine-grained, calcareous mudstone, Beds are typically 30 cm to 2 m thick and homogeneous (Pinte 4.2A) but occur also as beds less than 5 cm thick which may have a wispy fabric made of thin (1 mm or less), closely spaced, incipient stylofites (Plate 4.2B). Stylofites are mid- to dark-grey and filled with a clay-rich material. They overprint burrows. In petrographic section, this wipp fabric shows numerous clongated faecal pellets and marine snow textures (Plate 4.2D; cf. Macquaker & Gawthorpe, 1991). Linkoficies 2 is completely bioturbated with no primary sedimentary fabric seen. A bioturbation index of BI 5–6 characterizes much of this lithoficies with sharp-stalled burrows overprinting a burrow motifed sediment their (Plate 4.2A-C). Ichnogenera present include *Chondrine, Palacophycus, Planolites, Thalarusinides*. material Combergen (Plate 4.2A-C).

Optical microscopy shows the matrix to be largely homogeneous carbonate with local concentrations of cluy minerals, irregularly-shaped pyrite crystals up to 50 µm wike, and sub-circular organic detritus up to 100 µm wide (Plate 4.2C-D). Fragmented and intact tests of pelagic foraminifers comprise 30-60% of the rock volume (data obtained by point counting), with the highest concentrations of microfossils found in burrow fills, particularly *Thalassinosides* and *Zoophycoss* (discussed in more detail below; Plate 4.2C). Fig. 4.7. Slit-site-guartz gains are an accessory component of the matrix (Plate 4.2C).





Rare arcute fragments of calcilic bivalve shells approximately 20 μ m long are seen; probably inoceramid fragments (being the only macrofauna identified in the Wyando Formation; Plate 4.2C-D; Janas & Wade, 1975). Backstatter SEM images show coccollish are the primary constituent of the sediment marks both in the host sediment and in faccal petlets (Plate 4.2E-G). Kaolinite (identified through low back scattered electron coefficients and diagnostic EDS spectra showing Al and Si in a 1:1 ration; Deer et al. (1992) is the most common clay mineral (Plate 4.2E-G). Point counting revealed that kaolinite constitue up to 30% volume of lithofacies 2. The demonstrably diagnetic components of this lithofacies include euherlarl frombs of forran and non-ferron dolomite, kaolinite (seen as booklets of kaolinite crystals), and pyrite crystals up to 10 μ m wide (Plate 4.2E-G). Following the fine-grained sediment classification scheme of Macquaker & Adams (2016).

4.5.3. Palaeoenvironmental interpretations derived from lithofacies descriptions

The palaecenvironmental interpretation of lithofacies 1 and lithofacies 2 is similar (Wieldens et al. 2002). The absence of diagnostic shallow-water foraminifer and the high ratio of planktonic to benchic foraminifer in both lithofacies imply that they were deposited in deep-water (McIver, 1972), probably in an outer shelf setting (Doeven, 1983). This outer shelf setting shows that the Wyandot chalk was deposited in water depths much shallower than those that deposite chalk (addy (Ekdale & Bromely, 1988b). The dominance of coccoliths in the matrix of both lithofacies suggests the source for the vast majority of the sedimentary particles was the photic zone with little clastic dilution. Kaolinite is the only clay mineral identified, and in low percentage volumes, with authigenic kaolinite contributing to the percentage volume. Lithofacies 1 is dominantly derived from autochthonous material delivered to the ocean floor by suspension setting from the photic zone. This could indicate that lithofacies 1 was either deposited under a water column with high primary productivity or at the end of a sediment transport path (due to minor detrital components). Lithofacies 2 represents the clay-bearing intervals in the Wyandot Formation and record an increase in the quantity of clay minerals (mostly kaolinite) and detrital material delivered to the ocean floor (although detrital material still has low percentage volumes; <5% quartz from point counting). Some of the clay minerals are authigenic in origin (discussed in more detail below) but some of the argillaceous and detrital content could be terrigenous in origin, probably air-born, as it indicated by the silt-sized quartz (Wetzel, 1984). Lithofacies 2 is interpreted to have been deposited either in intervals of lower productivity than lithofacies 1 when the background siliciclastic sedimentation was less diluted by carbonate production, or during times of increased terrigenous input, or a combination.

4.6. Ichnofabric-based core descriptions

4.6.1. Eagle D-21

Eagle D-21 recovered 26 m of core from depths of 1639 m to 1665 m. Lithofacies 1 (chalk) dominates the well with thin, <5 cm thick, beds of lithofacies 2 (Fig. 4.5). Eagle





D-21 is bioturbated by a Chondrites-Thalassinoides-Zoophycos ichnofabric (Plate 4.3A-B). This ichnofabric is formed by high densities and high abundances of Thalassinoides commonly overprinted by Zoophycos (Plate 4.3A). Chondrites overprint all ichnogenera indicating they were emplaced last in the sediment (Plate 4.3B). Accessory trace fossils include Palaeonhycus and Planolites (Plate 4.3B). Both of these ichnogenera are shallow tier trace fossils found in the oxygenated sediment of the mixed layer close to the sediment-water interface (Pemberton & Frey, 1982). As a result Palaeophycus and Planolites are commonly reworked by mixed layer and deeper-burrowing animals so are not volumetrically abundant in the Wyandot Formation. Abundances of Chondrites, Thalassinoides, and Zoophycos vary but this is considered to be due to the patchy nature of trace fossils in core and the narrow width of core giving a limited perspective of the depositional environment at a particular stratigraphic level. The Chondrites-Thalassinoides-Zoophycos ichnofabric shows no change in trace fossil dimensions (ichnometry) or in trace fossil assemblage (ichnodiversity) throughout Eagle D-21 (Fig. 4.5; Plate 4.3). These observational data along with high bioturbation indices (BI 5-6) imply that the mixed layer was completely bioturbated by shallow burrowing and nearsurface benthos. Ichnofabric analysis implies a well-oxygenated sediment-water interface and stable palaeoenvironmental conditions during deposition of the Wyandot Formation in the locality of Eagle D-21.





4.6.2. Primrose A-41

The base of the well (near the contact between the Wyandot Formation and underlying Dawson Canvon Formation) has abundant authigenic pyrite and glauconite. Nodules of pyrite up to 4 cm across are seen in association with glauconite grains less than 1 mm wide (Plate 4.3C). Chondrites is the only ichnogenus associated with these mineralbearing horizons, forming a 4 m thick interval of a Chondrites ichnofabric (1622 m to 1618 m on Fig. 4.5: Plate 4.3D). The presence of authigenic minerals coupled with the low ichnodiversity imply reducing pore water conditions, probably resulting from an upward migration of the redox boundary due to either (1) lowered bottom water oxygenation (Bromley & Ekdale, 1984; Savrda & Bottier, 1986), or (2) an increase in organic matter delivered to the sediment (Gehlen et al. 1997; Wetzel, 2010). Lowered oxygenation at the sediment-water interface and within the substrate would elicit a concomitant response from the benthic community (i.e. a decrease in trace fossil size, diversity, abundance, and a decrease in the penetration depth; see Table 5 in Wetzel, 1991). Low ichnodiversity is observed; however, there is no decrease in Chondrites burrow dimensions compared to Chondrites preserved in ichnofabrics from welloxygenated settings. Likewise, the bioturbation index remains high (BI 5-6) indicating the mixed layer was bioturbated, removing primary sedimentary fabric, and implying no significant decrease in bottom water/pore water oxygenation at the sediment-water interface (Reimers et al. 1986). Lowered oxygenation is therefore inconsistent with our observations. An increase in organic matter delivered to the seafloor can result in lowered pore water oxygenation and anoxia in bathyal areas (Wetzel, 2010). Oxygen is

metabolized by microbial reactions during the remineralization of organic carbon, increasing the redox boundary in the sediment and water column, leading to pore water anoxia (Gehlen et al. 1997). This is observed in many modern deep-ocean settings (e.g. the South China Sea; Wetzel, 2002, 2008). The unknown Chondrites constructor is suggested to have had a chemosymbiotic relationship with sulphur-oxidizing bacteria therefore able to metabolize organic matter using H2S formed from the reduction of sulfate (Seilacher, 1990; Fu, 1991). Consequently, the deep-burrowing Chondrites tracemaker would have been tolerant to this inferred increase in sedimented organic matter and the ensuing lowered pore water oxygenation. Chondrites-dominated ichnofabrics can be interpreted to represent environmental perturbations affecting the endobenthic community. At stratigraphically higher levels in the core (1618 m to 1565 m on Fig. 4.6) there is a decrease in the abundance of authigenic minerals and an increase in the diversity and abundance of ichnogenera (Plate 4.3E). The Chondrites-Thalassinoides-Zoophycos ichnofabric was described from this section of core. This suggests environmental conditions suitable for benthic life with higher respiratory needs without possible chemoautotrophic symbionts. This interval of ameliorated conditions is interrupted by a 2 m thick succession (1565 m to 1563 m on Fig. 4.6) of heavily stylolitized chalk where the Chondrites-dominated ichnofabric is observed (Plate 4.3F). This change in ichnofabric implies another sedimented organic matter increase which led to the exclusion of other ichnogenera. The Chondrites ichnofabric is replaced by the Chondrites-Thalassinoides-Zoophycos ichnofabric at 1563 m and continues to the top of the well at 1425.5 m (Fig. 4.5). The increase in ichnodiversity, abundance, and density of bioturbation implies a return to more equable conditions probably related to a lowering of

the redox boundary allowing penetrative sediment exploration by an increased number of endofanna. Deep-burrowing endobenhic communities can be supported by sediment organic matter contents of 0.2-0.4% Cup, inferred by comparison with modern day pedigis setting (Wetzel, 1984). Increases in the argillaceous content in the upper part of the cored interval are associated with high densities of biotarbation by Zoophycos tracemakers (Plate 4.3D, G). Modern examples of Zoophycos are found in such sediments, perferring elsay- and sill-grade sediments (Wetzel & Werner, 1981): Wetzel, 1983). This could account for the high abundance of Wyandot Zoophycos in the muddier sections of the well (see below; Plate 4.31).

4.6.3. Shubenacadie H-100

The Shubenscatile well is dominated by the Chondrites-Thulensinoider-Zoophycor ichmofhrie (Plate 4.3H). Shubenscatile H-100 proved challenging to study as constant wetting of the core's surface has caused expansion of clay minerals (mostly kaolinit) and a fluky surface texture. The Wyandot Formation becomes more argillaceous at traitigraphically higher intervals (Fig. 4.5). This caused a problem for identification finding smaller ichnogenera such as Chondrites, which are apparently absent in the more argillaceous intervals of Shubenacadie H-100. The Shubenacadie H-100 well recovered both lithofhcies I and 2 (chalk and marlatone, respectively) with no accompanying change in ichnofabric (Fig. 4.5). Plate 4.3H). The Shubenacadie well is consistently and highly bisturbated (BI 5-6) by Chondrites, Thalaxinoides, and Zoophycor from 985.2 m to 114.6 m, the length of the cored interval with subsidiary Polacophycus and Planoifier (Fig. 4.5). Zoophysors is the most volumetrically dominant trace fossil and was the last trace fossil to be emplaced in this ichnofabric (as it overprints all ichnogenere; Plat 4.311). Zoophysos tracemakers can burrow up to 1.5 m beneath the seafloor (Hidlansson et al. 1974), below the redox boundary (Wetzel, 1983). The abundance of feeding burrows such as Zoophysor have been considered to indicate lowered oxygen (Ekdale & Maon, 1988) in pore waters at depth in the sediment but should not be taken as evidence for lowered bottom water oxygen levels, especially when the depth of bioturbation cannot be established (see Wetzel, 1991). The *Chondrites-Tudacusinoides-Zoophysor* ichnofabrie suggests that there was illute to no significant change in palaecenvironmental conditions throughout this depositional interval and evidenced by the unchanging benthos as there is no significant variations in ichnofabrie, ichnometry, or ichnodiversity noted. This suggests a well-oxygenated sediment-water interface and no environmental perturbations.

4.7. Biological effects on the texture of fine-grained sediment

Biourbation changes the physical and chemical properties of sediments, especially in slowly accumulated pelagic successions, where most sediment grains were probably processed multiple times by burrowing organisms (Ekdale & Bronley, 1984). This is illustrated in the Wyandot Formation by the high bioturbation indices (b) 5-6) and mottled fabrics (Figs 4.4-4.5; Plate 4.2). Burrowing organisms have the potential to honge the chemistry of their surroundings through bioturbation (numeing or seaware into pore waters) and biodeposition (deposition of faccal matter on or within the sediment; Aller, 1982; Herringshaw et al. 2010). Bioirrigation and biodeposition alter the biogeochemical microenvironment in the substrate making burrows and faecal pellets the loci for the early diagenetic processes that effect reservoir quality (*Gingras et al.* 1999, 2007).

Endobenthic organisms cause physical disruption of sedimentary laminae and the redistribution of sedimentary particles (Berger & Heath, 1968; Goldring, 1995; Herringshaw et al. 2010). This bioturbation changes the primary sediment porosity and permeability of the substrate, which can impact upon the reservoir potential and the flow of hydrocarbons through reservoir facies (Gingras et al. 2007). Biogenically enhanced permeability can improve reservoir quality with burrow-controlled flow paths for fluids and can improve connectivity between reservoirs (Gingras et al. 1999; Pemberton & Gingras, 2005). Alternatively, endobenthic organisms can decrease the permeability and porosity of the host sediment by packing fine-grained material into their burrow walls (Tonkin et al. 2010). As endobenthic organisms move through and feed on the substrate they can introduce significant heterogeneity to the sediment. Mineralogical heterogeneities can be introduced by organisms egesting sediment of a different mineralogical composition to the host sediment (McIlroy et al. 2003). This is of particular importance in reservoir facies as the introduction of a significant volume of fine-grained material can impede hydrocarbon flow and reservoir quality (Gingras et al. 2007). The effect of bioturbation on sediment texture and composition was therefore investigated in the Wyandot Formation.

4.7.1. Burrow fill vs. ambient sediment

Selected thin sections were analysed under SEM to examine the mineralogy and texture of chalk and markstone and their relation to biological structures. This sections containing *Chandrices, Planolites, Thalassinoides*, and *Zoophycos* were studied. Apart from the speciene-burrow *Zoophycos*, all burrow fills were found to be homogeneously foraminifer-rich. *Zoophycos* burrows show alternating coccolith-rich and foraminifer-rich specie (Patte 4A).

4.7.1.1. Foraminifers

The burrow (IIIs of Chondrice, Planolites, and Thalaxsinoides are coccellit-dominated and contain abundant foraminifer tests and test fragments (Plate 4.4B-C). The greatest concentration of foraminifers is within burrows (Plate 4.4B). Point ecounting revealed that burrow (IIIs comprise 30-70% foraminifers in burrow fills; Fig. 4.4; Plates 4.2 & 4.4B-C). The increases in foraminifer density in burrow fills could indicate that the trace-making organisms were feeding directly upon foraminifers (cf. Silter, 1971), deposidending organisms were feeding directly upon foraminifers (cf. Silter, 1971), deposifeeding on foraminifer-inch sediment, or that the passively-filled *Thalaxsinuides* and *Copplecov* burrows were rich in winnowed foraminifers. The foraminifer-tich burrow fill of *Planolites* (Plate 4.4B) was probably a result of either direct deposit feeding or secverging as the *Planolites* is actively filled by the burrowing animal (Pemberton & Fry, 1992). Active collection of foraminifer, protozons scerverged from the





sediment surface (Kaminski & Wetzel, 2004). The tracemakers of Planohlitor and Thalassinoides in the Wyandot Formation may similarly represent predation on orotistans. Within the burrow fills, many foraminifer dambars are cemented with eakite (Fig. 4-4E; Plate 4-20 & 4-4E. Q), whilst foraminifer in the host sediment are generally uncemented (Fig. 4.4F). The chamber-filling cement may be derived from recrystallization of foraminifer tests or the ecocolith-rich matrix. Zoophycox spreiten are composed of back-filled bands of tighty packed foraminifer test fragments and ecocoliths (Plate 4-40-E).

4.7.1.2. Clay minerals and pyrite

Kaolinite is the most abundant elay mineral identified in burrow fills of the Wyandot Formation (Plates 4.21-G & 4.4F). Burrow fills of *Chondrites, Plannlites*, and *Thalaxistoides* were found to centain up to 40% kaolinite, compared with up to 30% in some lithofheise (specentages obtained from point counting) Plate 4.4G-11). This equates to a 33% enrichment of elay minerals (kaolinite) in the burrows fills relative to the host sediment. Other elay minerals were found in very low abundances (<5%) in burrow fills and include smectle group minerals and chlorite. These accessory minerals were identified on EDS spectra by their high peaks for Al and Si with minor peaks for K, Ca, Fe, and Mg, in conjunction with their high brefringence when the same this sections are studied using optical microscopy. This combination of characters identifies the elays as smeetite group elay minerals (oldom, 1984; Deer *et al.* 1992). The host sediments are coccolith- and foraminifer-rich but have a less diverse and abundant clay mineral studied to variable amount of kaoliting features diverse in theoretical to the further. Fig. 44; Plates 4.2 & 4.41). Pyrie framboids are equally distributed in burrow fills and host scdiment implying that the burrowing organisms had little, if any, control on the subpur and iron chemistry of the sediment during framboid growth. Burrows that would have been open to the sediment-water interface and possibly actively ventilated (e.g. *Chondrites and Thalassinoides*) might be expected to have a decreased abundance of pyria around oxycented burrow margine. This was not bereved.

4.7.1.3. Biological weathering

Optical and SEM percography of the Wandot Formation has shown that clay mineral assemblages are more diverse and that clay minerals are more abundant in burrow fills than in the host sediment (Fig. 4.4; Plates 4.2 & 4.4). The concentration of fime-grained and the state of the probably represents a feeding strategy, since organic carbon is often associated with clay mineral articles in fine-grained sediments (Wetzel, 1991) and adsorbed onto the more surface-rich fraction of the sediment (Lopez & Levinton, 1987). Some of the differences in clay mineral distribution could also result from biological weathering of sedimentary grains (cf. Mellovy *et al.*, 2003). Deposit feeding on clay mineral-rich sediment can lead to clay mineral authigenesis, breakdown, and minorformation within the digestive yostem of endobenthos (Mellroy *et al.*, 2003). Needham *et al.* 2005). The preferential accumulation of clay minerals such as chlorite group minerals, kaolinite, and smeetite group minerals in the burrow fills of the Wyandot Formation is probably the result of selective deposit feeding and autigenesis alteration of ingested lay minerals in the reducing microsevironment of a deposit feeding to result formation is probably the result of selective deposit feeding can durace for formation is not more sub-selecting microsevironment of a deposit feeding can there are deposited feeding and antigenesis alteration of ingested lay minerals in the reducing microsevironment of a deposit feeding can an eccentrate microsevironment of the disposite of 2005). Deposite feeding can that concentrate microsevironment of the deposite predictive deposited feeding can be concentrate microsevironment of the disposite of deposite feeding can that concentrate microsevironment of the deposite feeding can be concentrate microsevironment of the deposite feeding can that concentrate microsevironment of the deposite feeding can that concentrate microsevironment of the deposite feeding can that concentrate microsevironment of th clay minerals in burrow fills via selective feeding and/or biological weathering. Faecal burrow fills are thus typically enriched in diagenetically reactive clay minerals relative to the cleaner, less mineralogically diverse host sediment. The low volumes of clay minerals in the host sediment of the Wyandot Formation (particularly in lithofacies 1) could suggest that the kaolinite found in burrow fills is mostly authigenic/biogenic in origin. This is supported by observational data that shows irregular euhedral and "books" of kaolinite crystals filling foraminifer chambers within burrow fills when studied under SEM (Plates 4.2F & 4.4E-F). This indicates that the burrow-filling kaolinite grew postdepositionally. The effects of textural heterogeneity on reservoirs as a result of deposit feeding and biodeposition is under-studied with few papers published (McIlroy et al. 2003; Pemberton & Gingras, 2005; Tonkin et al. 2010). This process is of particular importance when one considers that bulk sediment feeding endobenthos can introduce significant amounts of fine-grained material and clay minerals into the sediment by biodeposition. Consequently, endofauna in the Wyandot Formation have the potential to significantly reduce reservoir quality by introducing heterogeneity into chemically and texturally pure chalks (lithofacies 1).

4.8. Conclusion

The Wyandot Formation is thick carbonate reservoir facies preserving primary porosities of up to 35% (Ings *et al.* 2005) with an oil and gas discovery in the Primrose N-50 well and a gas discovery in the Eagle D-21 well (Wielens *et al.* 2002; Ings *et al.* 2005). Assessing the possible distribution of, and controls upon the porosity and permeability in this unit is thus as an important component of assessing the Wvandot as a possible reservoir unit. The Wyandot Formation contains a trace fossil assemblage comparable to many coeval deen-water chalk denosits (Bromley & Ekdale, 1984; Savrda & Bottier, 1989; Locklair & Savrda, 1998). Ichnofabric analysis presented herein has shown that the depositional environment of the Wyandot Formation was relatively stable during the deposition of the recovered wells. The Chondrites-Thalassinoides-Zoophycos ichnofabric dominates most of the recovered wells with only two environmental perturbations interpreted by the appearance of the Chondrites ichnofabric (Fig. 4.4; Plate 4.4). Chondrites-dominated ichnofabrics are conventionally considered as indicators of lowered oxygen levels at the sediment-water interface (Bromley & Ekdale, 1984; Savrda & Bottier, 1986: Uchman, 2004). In the Wyandot Formation the low bottom water oxygen model is inconsistent with observations as there is no decrease in the size of Chondrites and the background chalk is highly bioturbated (BI 5-6). We interpret the Wvandot Formation Chondrites ichnofabric as being related to increases in sedimented organic matter leading to enhanced microbial remineralization and an upward shift of the redox front (Wetzel, 2010). The resulting dysoxic sediment precluded all but the trace maker of Chondrites, which is widely considered to be highly tolerant of a range of physiological stresses. Influxes of organic matter may have been seasonal but there is limited objective evidence for this preserved in the chalks as intense bioturbation (BI 5-6) has removed all primary sedimentary fabrics including bedding. Trace fossil analysis has shown that the Wyandot Formation was entirely deposited under softeround conditions.

No firmgrounds were discovered indicating an absence of erosion and no significant depositional hiatuses associated with seafloor diagenesis,

Perturgraphic analysis of the formation indicates that it is dominantly comprised of preductivly-derived material from the photic zone. Coccoliths and foraminifer are the dominant component of both lithoficeis (Fig. 4.4; Plate 4.2). The kaolinite-bearing host sediment of lithoficeis 2 is interpreted to have been deposited during periods when primary productivity lessened or terrestrial input increased. The only detrial clay mineral found in the host sediment is kaolinite with an increased abandance of clay minerals seen in burrow fills. Chondrite, *Planolites*, *Thalastimoldes*, and *Zuophycos* burrows contain kaolinite along with smeeting group minerals and ethorite-group clay minerals identified from SEM image analysis. The increase in clay mineral budmatice and diversity in burrow fills is there inferred to be the result of clay mineral altentified from SEM image in the prime of passage through the reducing microavironment of an organism's foregati (cf. McHovy *et al.* 2003). Low volumes of clay minerals in lithofacies 1 suggest that the increase in clay mineral action for burrow fills is probably authencient/beroteric noviem.

This study highlights some drawbacks associated with highly bioturbated pelagic deposits. Under low sediment accumulation rates endobenthos can remove all primary sedimentary labric resulting in a preserved fabric dominated by blogenic structures (trace fossils) and homogenized sediment. Continual overprinting of trace fossil iters means no colonization surfaces can be observed. Thin event beds may also be removed from the geologic record by this continual sediment churning by the endobenthic community. This pare also highlights the implications for unfavorable reservoir heterogeneity that can be introduced by burrowing organisms. Large-scale biodeposition may significantly alter the texture of fine-grained sediments and consequently fluid migration paths and reservoir properties.

References

- ALLER, R. C. 1982. The effects of macrobenthos on chemical properties of marine sediment and overlying water. In: MCCALLP. L., TEVESZ, M. J. S. & STEBILJF. G. (eds) Animal-Sediment Relations: The Biogenic Alteration of Sediments. Plenum Press, New York, 53–102.
- AUSICH, W. I. & BOTTJER, D. J. 1982. Tiering in suspension-feeding communities on soft substrata throughout the Phanerozoic. *Science*, 216, 173–174.

BERGER, W. H. & HEATH, G. R. 1968. Vertical mixing in pelagic sediments. Journal of Marine Research, 23, 134–143.

- BERGER, W. H., EKDALE, A. A. & BRYANT, P. P. 1979. Selective preservation of burrow in deep-sea carbonates. *Marine Geology*, 32, 205-230.
- BRASHER, J. E. & VAGLE, K. R. 1996. Influence of lithofacies and diagenesis on Norwegian North Sea chalk reservoirs. American Association of Petroleum Geologists Bulletin, 80, 746–769.
- BROMLEY, R. G. & EKDALE, A. A. 1984. Chondrites: a trace fossil indicator of anoxia in sediments. Science, 224, 872–874.
- DEER, W. A., HOWIE, R. A. & ZUSSMAN, J. 1992. An Introduction to the Rock-Forming Minerals (2rd Edition). Longman, Hong Kong, 696p.
- DOEVEN, P. H. 1983. Cretaceous nannofossil stratigraphy and paleoecology of the Canadian Atlantic Margin. Bulletin of the Geological Survey of Canada, 356, 69.
- EKDALE, A. A. 1992. Muckraking and mudslinging: the joys of deposit-feeding. In: Maples, C. G. & West, R. R. (eds) Trace Fossils. The Paleonological Society Short Courses in Paleontology, 5, 145–171.
- EKDALE, A. A. & BROMLEY, R. G. 1983a. Trace fossils and ichnofabric in the Kjolby Gaard Mart, uppermost Cretaceous, Denmark. Bulletin of the Geological Society of Demark. 31, 107–119.
- EKDALF, A. A. & BROMLEY, R. G. 1983b. Biogenic structures in pelagic carbonates: an ichnofacies comparison of deep-sea and shelf-sea chalks. *American Association* of Petroleum Geologists Bulletin, 67, 455.
- EKDALE, A. A. & BROMLEY, R. G. 1984. Comparative ichnology of shelf-sea and deepsea chalk, *Journal of Paleontology*, 58, 322–332.
- EKDALE, A. A. & BROMLEY, R. G. 1991. Analysis of composite ichnofabrics: a example from the Upper Cretaceous Chalk of Denmark. PALAIOS, 6, 232–249.

- EKDALE, A. A., MILLER, L. N. & NOVAK, M. T. 1984. Quantitative ichnology of modern pelagic deposits in the abyssal Atlantic. *Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology*, 45, 189–223.
- ELIUK, L. S. 1978. The Abenaki Formation, Nova Scotia Shelf, Canada a depositional and diagenetic model for a Mesozoic carbonate platform. *Bulletin of Canadian Petroleum Geology*. 26, 424–514.
- FREY, R. W. & BROMLEY, R. G. 1985. Ichnology of American chalks: the Selma Group (Upper Cretaceous), western Alabama. *Canadian Journal of Earth Sciences*, 22, 801–828.
- FREY, R. W., HOWARD, J. D. & PRYOR, W. A. 1978. Ophiomorpha: its morphologic, taxonomic, and environmental significance. Palaeogeography. Palaeocolimotology. Palaeoecology. 23, 199–229.
- FU, S. 1991. Funktion, Verhalten und Einteilung fucoider und lophoceniider Lebensspuren, Cour. Forsch-Inst, Senckenberg, 135, 1–79.
- GEHLEN, M., RABOUVILLE, C., EZAT, U. & GUIDI-GUILVARD, L. D. 1997. Drastic changes in deep-sea sediment porewater composition induced by episodic input of organic matter. *Limmology and Oceanography*, 42, 980–986.
- GINGRAS, M. K., PEMBÉRTON, S. G., MENDÓZA, C. A. & HENK, F. 1999. Assessing the anisotropic permeability of *Glossifungites* surfaces. *Petroleum Geoscience*, 5, 349–357.
- GINGRAS, M. K., PABBERTON, S., HINN, F., MACEACHERN, J. A., MENDOZA, C. A., RONTRON, B., O'HABER, R., SPILAL, M. & KONHARSER, K. 2007. Applications of ishnology to fluid and gas production in hydrocarbon reservoirs. *In:* MACEACHERR, J. A., BANN, S. L., GINGRAS M. K. & PABBERTON S. G. (eds) *Applied Ichnology*. Society of Economic Paleontologists and Mineralogists Short Course Nets. **32**, 131–145.
- GOLDRING,R. 1995. Organisms and the substrate: response and effect. In: BOSENCE, D. W. J. & ALLISON, P. A. (eds) Marine Palaeoenvironmental Analysis from Fossils. Geological Society. London, Special Publications, 83, 151–180.
- GOODAY, A. J. & TURLEY, C. M. 1990. Responses to benthic organisms to inputs of organic material to the ocean floor: a review. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society, London*, 331A, 119–138.
- HAKANSSON, R., BROMLEY, R. G. & PERCH-NIELSEN, K. 1974. Maastrichtian chalk of north-west Europe – a pelagic shelf sediment. *In:* HSO, K. J. & JENKYNS, H. C. (eds) *Pelagic sediments: on land and under the sea*. Special Publication of the International Association of Sedimentologists. 1, 211–233.
- HANSEN, D. M., SHIMELD, J. W., WILLIAMSON, M. A. & LYKKE-ANDERSEN, H. 2004. Development of a major polygonal fault system in upper cretaceous chalk and Cenozoic mudrocks of the Sable Subbasin, Canadian Atlantic margin. *Marine* and Petroleum Geology, 21, 1205–1219.
- HÄNTZSCHEL, W. 1975. Trace fossils and problematica. In: TEICHERT, C. (ed) Treatise on Invertebrate Paleomology, part W, Miscellanea, Suppl. I. Geological Society of America & University of Kanasa, W1-W269.
- HERRINGSHAW, L. G., SHERWOOD, O. A. & MCILROY, D. 2010. Ecosystem engineering by bioturbating polychaetes in event bed microcosms. *PALAIOS*, 25, 46–58.

- INGS, S. J., MACRAE, R. A., SHIMELD, J. W. & PE-PIPER, G. 2005. Diagenesis and porosity reduction in the late cretaceous Wyandol Formation, offshore Nova Scotia: a comparison with Norwegian North Sea chalks. *Bulletin of Canadian Petroleum Geology*, 53, 237–249.
- JANSA, L. F. & WADE, J. A. 1975. Geology of the continental margin off Nova Scotia and Newfoundland. In: LINDEN WJ.M VAN DER & WADE J.A. (eds) Offshore geology of eastern Canada, Geological Survey of Canada Paper, 74–30, 51–106.
- KAMINSKI, M. A. & WETZEL, A. 2004. A tubular protozoan predator: a burrow selectively filled with tubular agglutinated protozoans (Xenotypotherea, Foraminifera) in the abyssal South China Sea. In: BUBIK, M. & KOMINSKI, M. A. (eds) Proceedings of the Sixth International Workshop on Agglutinated Foraminifera. Grzybowski Foundation Social Publication, 8, 277–283.
- KENNEDY, W. J. 1967. Burrows and surface traces from the lower chalk of southern England. Bulletin of the British Museum, Natural History, Geology Series, 15, 127–167.
- LOCKLAIR, R. E. & SAVRDA, C. E. 1998. Ichnofossil tiering analysis of a rhythmically bedded chalk-marl sequence in the Upper Cretaceous of Alabama. *Lethata*, 31, 311–322.
- LOPEZ, G. R. & LENVINTON, J. S. 1987. Ecology of deposit-feeding animals in marine sediments. The Ouarterly Review of Biology, 62, 235–260.
- MACQUAKER, J. H. S. & GAWTHORPE, R. L. 1993. Mudstone lithofacies in the Kimmeridge Clay Formation, Wessex Basin, southern England: implications for the origins and controls of the distribution of mudstone. *Journal of Sedimentary Petrologue*, 63, 1129–1143.
- MACQUAKER, J. H. S. & ADAMS, A. E. 2003. Maximizing information from fine-grained sedimentary rocks: an inclusive nomenclature for mudstones. *Journal of Sedimentary Research*, **13**, 735–744.
- MCILROY, D. 2004. Some ichnological concepts, methodologies, applications and frontiers. In: MCILROY, D. (ed) The Application of ichnology to palaeoenvironmental and stratigraphic analysis. Geological Society, London, Special Publication, 228, 3–27.
- MCILROY, D. 2008. Ichnological analysis: the common ground between ichnofacies workers and ichnofabric analysts. *Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeocolony*. 270, 332–338.
- MCILROY, D., WORDEN, R. H. & NEEDHAM, S. J. 2003. Faeces, clay minerals and reservoir potential. *Journal of the Geological Society of London*, 160, 489–493.
- MCILROY, D., TONKIN, N. S., PHILLIPS, C. & HERRINSHAW, L. G. 2009. Comment on "Ophiomorpha irregulaire, Mesozoic trace fossil that is either well understood but rare in outcrop or poorly understood but common in core" by R. G. Bromley and G. K. Pedersen [Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoceology, 284, 392–395.
- MCIVER, N. L. 1972. Cenozoic and Mesozoic stratigraphy of the Nova Scotia Shelf. Canadian Journal of Earth Sciences, 9, 54–70.

- NEEDHAM, S. J., WORDEN, R. H. & MCILROY, D. 2004. Animal-sediment interaction: the effect of ingestion and excretion by worms on mineralogy. *Biogeosciences*, 1, 113–121.
- NEEDHAM,S. J., WORDEN, R. H. & MCILROY,D. 2005. Experimental production of clay rims by macrobiotic sediment ingestion and excretion processes. *Journal of Sedimentary Research*, 75, 1028–1037.
- ODOM, I.E. 1984. Smectite clay minerals: properties and uses. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London*, 311A, 391–409.
- PEMBERTON, S. G. & FREY, R. W. 1982. Trace fossil nomenclature and the *Planolites-Palaeophycus* dilemma. Journal of Paleontology, 56, 843–881.
- PEMBERTON, S. G. & GINGRAS, M. K. 2005. Classification and characterizations of biogenically enhanced permeability. *American Association of Petroleum Geologists Bulletin*, 89, 1493–1517.
- REIMERS, C. E., KISCHER, K. M., MEREWETHER, R., SMITH, K. L. JR. & JAINKE, R. A. 1986. Oxygen microprofiles measured *in situ* in deep ocean sediments. *Nature*, 320, 741–744.
- SAVRDA, C. E. & BOTTJER, D. J. 1986. Trace-fossil model for reconstruction of paleooxygenation in bottom waters. *Geology*, 14, 3-6.
- SAVRDA, C. E. & BOTTJER, D. J. 1989. Anatomy and implications of bioturbated beds in "black shale" sequences: examples from the Jurassic Posidonienschiefer (Southern Germany). PALA(DS, 4, 330–342.
- SAVRDA, C. E. & OZALAS, K. 1993. Preservation of mixed-layer ichnofabrics in oxygenation-event beds. PALAIOS, 8, 609-613.
- SCHLANGER, S. O. & DOUGLAS, R. G. 1974. The pelagic ooze-chalk-limestone transition and its implications for marine stratigraphy. In: HSU, K. J. & JENKYNS, H. C. (eds) Pelagic sediments: on land and under the sea. Special Publication of the International Association of Sedimentologists, 1, 117–148.
- SEILACHER, A. 1990. Aberration in bivalve evolution related to photo- and chemosymbiosis. *Historical Biology*, 3, 289-311.
- SLITER, W. V. 1971. Predation on benthic foraminifers. Journal of Foraminiferal Research, 1, 20–29.
- TONKIN, N. S., MCLEROY, D., MEYER, R. & MOORE-TURPIN, A. 2010. How does bioturbation influence reservoir quality? A case study from the Cretaceous Ben Nevis Formation, Jeanne d'Are Basin, Offshore Newfoundland, Canada. *American Association of Petroleum Geologists Bulletin*, 94, 1059–1078.
- UCHMAN, A. 2004. Deep-sea trace fossils controlled by palaeo-oxygenation and deposition: an example from the Lower Cretaceous dark flysch deposits of the Silesian Unit, Carpathians, Poland. Fossils and Strato, 51, 39–57.
- VAN SICKEL, W. A., KOMNIZ, M. A., MILLER, K. G. & BROWNING, J. V. 2004. Late Cretaceous and Cenozoic sea-level estimates: backstripping analysis of borehole data. onshore New Jersey. Basin Research. 16, 451–465.
- WADE, J. Á. 1981. Geology of the Canadian Atlantic margin from Georges Bank to the Grand Banks. *In: KERR, J. W., FERGUSSON, A. J. & MACHAN, L. C. (eds) Geology* of the North Atlantic borderlands. Canadian Society of Petroleum Geologists Memoir, 7, 447–460.

- WADE, J. A. & MACLEAN, B. C. 1990. Aspects of the geology of the Scotian Basin from recent seismic and well data; the geology of the southeastern margin of Canada. *In:* KEEN, M. J. & WILLIAMS, G. L. (eds) *Geology of the continental margin of eastern Canada.* Geological Society of America, 2, 190–238.
- WADE, J. A., MACLEAN, B. C. & WILLIAMS, G. L. 1995. Mesozoic and Cenozoic stratigraphy, eastern Scotian Shelf: new interpretations. *Canadian Journal of Earth Sciences*, **32**, 1462–1473.
- WETZEL, A. 1983. Biogenic structures in modern slope to deep-sea sediments in the Sulu Sea Basin (Philippines). Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology, 42, 285–304.
- WETZEL, A. 1984. Bioturbation in deep-sea fine-grained sediments: influence of sediment texture, turbidite frequency and rates of environmental change. *Geological Society Special Publications*, 15, 595–608.
- WETZEL, A. 1987. Ichnofabries in Eccene to Maestrichthian sediments from Deep Sea Drilling Site 605. In: HINTE, J. VAN & WISE, S.W. (eds) Initial Reports of the Deep Sea Drilling Project, 95, 825–835.
- WETZEL, A. 1991. Ecologic interpretation of deep-sea trace fossil communities. Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology, 85, 47–69.
- WETZEL, A. 2002. Modern Nereites in the South China Sea-ecological association with redox conditions in the sediment. PALAIOS, 17, 507–515.
- WETZEL, A. 2008. Recent bioturbation in the deep South China Sea: A uniformitarian ichnolgoic approach. PALAIOS, 23, 601–615.
- WETZEL, A. 2010. Deep-sea ichnology: observations in modern sediments to interpret fossil counterparts. Acta Geologica Polonica, 60, 125–138.
- WETZEL, A. & WERNER, F. 1981. Morphology and ecological significance of Zoophycos in deep-sea sediments off NW Africa. Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeocology, 32, 185–212.
- WIELENS,H. J. B. W., MACRAE,R. A. & SHIMELD,J. 2002. Geochemistry and sequence stratigraphy of regional upper Cretaceous limestone units, offshore eastern Canada. Organic Geochemistry, 33, 1559–1569.
CHAPTER 5

Contributions to the ichnology and ichnofabrics of deep marine settings: discussion and conclusions



CHAPTER 5

Contributions to the ichnology and ichnofabrics of deep marine settings:

discussion and conclusions

5.1. Introduction

This thesis demonstrates the utility of trace (ossil analysis and the ichnoliarie method in delineating environmental changes using two sedimentological end-member systems (rapid episodic deposition in the Gries d'Annot Basin, SE France, and continuous pelagic deposition in the Waynadet Formation, offbhore Nova Scotia). In addition, using field observations from the Gries d'Annot Basin a neoichnological study is presented that provides an explanation for one of the most common styles of endobemblic colonization in harbidite settings. The aim of this research is to improve the applicability of trace forsil analysis in the identification of depositional environments and environmental stresser through changes in palaes-bentlic communities. The preceding chapters show, independently and cumulatively, that trace fossil analysis is an important tool for sedimentologists, petroleum geologists, and other workers interested in producing depositorial models, making palaeenvironmental reconstructions, and elucidating ancient tracemarks rehaviour.

5.2. Research conclusions

5.2.1. Chapter 2: the response of benthic organisms to event bed deposition

The Grès 47 Annot Basin, SE France, is an ideal natural laboratory for studying trace fossil assemblages associated with turbidity current deposition. With a sedimentological and stratigraphic framework, already in place (Sinclair, 1997; Apps *et al.* 2004; Callee, 2004; Submook & Clark, 2004) the response of benthic organisms to environmental disturbance could be successfully assessed. Fieldwork consisted of bed-by-bed logging and sampling of turbidite system components in the Marses Brunes Inférieures and Grés d'Annot Formations. The trace fossil assemblages and ichnofabries of the Grés d'Annot Basin had been hittero sustudied.

Turbiblic ichnology has been studied in many basins wordwide (Uchama, 1995, 1998, 2011; Heard & Pickering, 2008) but rarely using the ichnolabric method, which can provide more detailed description and has the resolution to document bed-by-bed changes in trace fossil assemblages (Knaust, 2009). Good exposure in the Grès d'Annot Basin allows for the description of thick stratigraphic successions encompassing many different facies that comprise typical turbibilite systems. Ichnological differences in pre- and postdepositional assemblages were identified in different palacenvirtements. from intrabasin doesn to the basin floor. The main results of this field tavda are:

 The Grès d'Annot Basin is a thrust sheet-top basin with a complex topography at the time of turbidite deposition. Consequently, there is a suppression of distal and

thin-bedded faiels which are intrinsic to the preservation of near-surface grazers, shallow deposit feeders, traps and farming structures. As a result, the turbidites of the Greis d'Annot Basin preserve mainly deep-burrows made by tracemakers adapted to living deep in the sediment (e.g. Ophiomorphe and Tablasshoide).

- Turbidite successions in the Grès d'Annot Basin are characterized by low diversity and high abundance assemblages, dominated by the crustacean burrow Optionnorphar ranks. The palaceenvironmental implications for Ophiomorphar ranks are addressed fully in Chapter 3.
- 3. Thin-fedded and distal turbification of the Marnes Brunes Inferiences Tormation are characterized by a largely vagile; mostly doposit feeding community of endobethic organisms with a greater preservation for pre-depositional trans forsit assemblages (Plate 2.4). These assemblages are found on the soles of distal turbidites and hemipelagic deposits on intra-basin slopes or in areas of thin-bedded channel fill facies as a result of channel abandonmert. These settings were characterized by a higher trace fossil diversity and more complex shifts/prever turbifilts current events (Fig. 2.3). Heterolithic and mud-dominated facies have higher isknodiversity and higher bioturbation indices (commonly homogenized by burrowing organisms. Bl 5-6) than sand-dominated facies in the Greb d'Antord Basin.
- Pre-event trace fossil assemblages found in association with thin-bedded turbidites include Asterosoma, Ophiomorpha annulata, O. rudis, Paleodictyon, Planolites, and Scollcia. This ichnological assemblage is indicative of quiescent

palaeoenvironmental conditions punctuated by low power turbidite currents (Plate 2.4).

- 5. Ichnofabries such as the Ophiomorpha annulata Planoliteri ichnofabrie and the Phycolaphon Ophiomorpha rudus ichnofabrie are preserved and are characteristic of the low current energy settings of intra-basin slopes and channel fill facies (Figs 2.3 & 2.5-2.9). The diversity of ichnofauna, dominance of shallon-barrowing and near-surface trace, and lack of significant deep-barrowing suggests that these ichnofabries characterizes a well-oxygenated sediment-water interface with on significant nuterestres.
- 6. Palaecenvironments characterized by episodic, high current energy conditions are found in channelized and tarbidite proximal far settings in the Grès d'Annot Formation (Figs 2.4-2.5). The sand-dominated facies found in these settings have low bioturbation indices (BI 6-1) and a low diversity trace fossil assemblage restricted to large, penetrative barrows constructed by deep-burrowing crustaceans (Ophiomorphic radiu and Thalacistonides surviva).
- 7. Ichnofabries documented from channelized and proximal fan settings belong to the Ophiomorphic rudit ichnofabrie association. Ophiomorphic rudit dominates the ichnofabries in these settings seen penetrating multiple turbidite beds and thick turbidite sandstone, up to 2 m thick, before ramifying into horizontal galaries at sandstone-mudstone interfaces (Plate 23F & Plate 24C, E, respectively). This burrowing behaviour represents a nutritional strategy in the aftermath of turbidity urrent events who endoberthic orazinns were forecast to burrow into the sandstone strategy and the sandstone interfaces of the sandstone.

sediment to find nutrition (burrowing behaviour explored in more detail in Chapter 3).

This naner is the first detailed ichnofabric study of Grès d'Annot turbidite system and one of the first systematic studies of turbidite ichnofabrics in the field (cf. Wetzel & Uchman, 2001). This study is a comprehensive ichnological analysis of one of the most important turbidite depositional system (cf. Joseph & Lomas (eds) 2004). Remarkably, the Grès d'Annot Basin had not previously received focussed ichnological consideration. The data acquired in the course of this thesis demonstrates that trace fossil analysis is an effective tool in delineating environmental stresses (in this case, nutrient stress) and that trace fossils and ichnofabrics can be used to define depositional environments in deep-water turbidite systems. This work in the Grès d'Annot Basin has shown that endobenthic animals construct distinct burrow types as adaptations to substrate type, oxygenation, organic matter content, grain-size, and hydrodynamic energy. In thick-bedded turbidites, only deep burrows are seen while fine-grained, thin-bedded facies are preferentially colonized by shallow and surface grazers such as echinoderms and polychaetes (Wetzel, 1984). The lower diversity compared to other turbidite systems (Crimes, 1973; Crimes et al. 1981; Uchman, 1995, 1998, 2001; Heard & Pickering, 2008) is probably due to the confined nature of the Grès d'Annot Basin and its position as a thrust sheet-top basin causing deposition of sand-rich, highly erosive turbidity currents. The paucity of thinbedded and distal turbidites is considered to account for the low diversity of trace fossils (especially graphoglyptids) relative to unconfined turbidite fan systems (cf. Uchman, 2001).

5.2.3. Chapter 3: a new model for trace fossil distribution at sandstone-mudstone junctions in turbidite systems

The work in the Grès d'Annot Basin presented in this thesis has shown that trace fossils, particularly Ophiomorpha rudis and Thalassinoides suevicus, are found in high abundances on sandstone turbidite soles and at sandstone-mudstone interfaces (Plate 2.1H; Fig. 3.1A; Phillips et al. 2011). This distribution was the most commonly observed taphonomic expression of Ophiomorpha and Thalassinoides throughout the Grès d'Annot Basin and has also been noted by authors from other turbidite systems worldwide (Uchman, 1995, 1998). At present, this distribution of ichnotaxa in has hitherto been unexplained, despite being a common observation in many field studies (Uchman, 1995, 1998, 2001; Heard & Pickering, 2008). Mesocosm experiments were constructed to see if progenitors of Ophiomorpha and Thalassinoides have a preferential distribution relative to buried sand-mud interfaces and to ascertain what are the controls on any burrow distribution observed? Many authors have speculated on a possible link between deepburrowing endofauna and microbial farming (MacGinitie, 1978; Miller, 1984; Uchman, 2009). This paper uses mesocosm experiments, CT imagery, and geochemical data to propose a solid link between burrow distribution and microbial farming in deep marine systems. Our mesocosm experiments were carried out at Memorial University in a laboratory with marine aquaria. The thalassinid crustacean Neotrypaea californiensis was used a modern analogue for the ancient tracemaker of Ophiomorpha rudis. Neotrypaea californiensis is a shallow-water and intertidal mud shrimp which can be collected relatively easily and has been used in many field and laboratory experiments (Thompson & Pritchard, 1969; Miller & Curran, 2001). A Toshiba Xpress/GX medical CT scamer was used to map the distribution burrows constructed in the aquaria. The ichnologically modified sediment in the tanks was then sampled for geochemical analysis, also carried out at Memorial University.

- Neotrypara californiemic constructed a pellent burrow wall morphologically similar to the trace fossil Ophiomorpha rudits (i.e. a partially lined roof with discoid muddy pellets; Plate 3.1D-E; Uchman, 2009). Colonization of the sediment by *N. californianis* was through vertical barrowing activity down through sund and then horizontally along sand-mud interfaces in the mescosm setures (Plate 3.1D-F).
- Tanks were mapped in three dimensions using computed axial tomography to produce a three-dimensional reconstruction of the burrow system beneath the sediment (Fig. 34A-B). The burring followed stand-much interfaces producing burrow distributions that are morphologically similar to ancient Ophiomorpha and Thalaximoider observed in the Gries d'Annot Formation and other turbidite systems (see Chapter 2; Plates 21:Ed14 & 22P-G; Ucleman, 1995, 1998).
- 3. After the hurrow-lining pellets had been constructed Noursyawa californiensis was observed to feed from the pellets. Neursyawa californiensis picked at a single pellet each feeding time passing sedimetary particles over its mouth, probably ingesting the most organic carbon-enriched grains in the pellets. The geochemistry of the mesocous and burrow-lining sediment was investigated using total organic carbon (ToC) and stable isotope analyses.

- 4. Geochemical analysis revealed that samples taken from *Neuropace ardforministis* burrow walls had higher TOC values compared to unbioturbated material taken from the same mesoscom (Fig. 3.5A). These higher values are probably the result of *N. californiensis* selecting erganic-rich grains to place into the burrow walls and pellets. This sieving activity was observed in the mesocosms during wall pellet production. The organic carbon-meriched pellets became sites of higher microbial productivity (indicated with stable isotope analysis) producing dissolved organic carbon (OO) cading as a mitigational essone for the hurrow shifting organic carbon (OO) cading as a mitigational essone for the hurrow harding.
- 5. δ¹C_{ling} data shows a uniform grouping of values in the unbioturbated samples from the host sediment (Fig. 3.5B). The δ¹¹C_{ling} signature obtained from the burrow walls and pellets is heavier relative to the unbioturbated material sampled from the sample mesocom (Fig. 3.5B). This indicates isotopic fractionation in the walls which is probably the result of aerobic microbial productivity in the organic carbon-enriched pellets. Microbial respiratory processes preferentially use the lighter ¹²C isotope which has subsequently been released into the water column enriching the pellets in the heavier ¹²C. Isotopically lighter samples are considered to indicate enrichment of ¹²C by increased microbial biomass and DOC probably due to anaerobic microbial fractionation (unlphate-reducing or methanegenesis).
- 6. It is concluded that *Neurophane californiensis* (and by extension the tracemakers of ancient *Ophicomorpha and Thalastisoids*), at least facultatively, farmed microbes in the pellets that lined their burrow walls, especially when the pellets were produced in a sandy substrate. By bioirrigating their burrows *N*.

californiensis provided a suitable geochemical microenvironment within its burrow walls to allow microbial colonization of the pellets. By maintaining an oxygenated burrow at the interface between sand and organic carbon-rich mad, the shrimp encourage a large microbial community producing a stockpile of DOC to meet its nutritional requirements.

7. This paper demonstrates a nutritional strategy which allows the production of labile DOC from refractory detrilal organic matter in deep matrine sediments. This adaptation is common in shallow-water thalassinkla and might constitute a preadaptation to life in deep matrine sediments which commonly have abundant, but refractory, organic matter buried at depth.

The published literature on geochemistry and its relationship to bioturbation originate from studies in intertidal or shallow-water settings (Aller, 1978; D'Andrea et al. 2002; 2004). This is the first study to combine field and laboratory observations, CT imagery, and geochemical data to provide a link hetween trace fossil distribution and tracemaker ethology in deep marine systems. Fig. 5.1 shows the relationship between TOC in turbidite auccession and biotnetation. Bioirrigation increases the oxygen flux into the sediment (Zorn et al. 2006) providing microbial communities with oxygen and, in equipacitor with organic carbon commonly found in burief inter-turbidite mult, provide microenvironments for high microbial penductivity. This productivity results in higher TOC values in the sediment areas surrounding bioirrigated burrows. The burief interface hetween and and mud in turbidite deposits is pump-primed for exploitation by deep hetworking hand and the tracking the progenities of interface trace foosils such as



Fig. 5.1. Pump-priming of a hypothetical turbidite sedimentary system for deep-sediment miresr. The black insel sangingic decise Solitemetry oclums base was increase or decrease in microbial productivity through the succession. As hosbituffation (mal horizon produces microbial productivity through the succession. As hosbituffation (mal horizon produces hospital) productivity is temporarily high at the interface. Ba A hostivation that Microbial productivity is emporarily high at the interface. Ba A hostivation of the microbial productivity compared to unbiorutisted strant. The gradual change from muld organ in the lindogo column demonstrates the incorporation of and into the mody roof pellets constructed by *Netrypace Californisonsi* and introduced to the entire said boys the middle column incorporates the geocenetical data from the mescosons and show that and continual, aerobic respiration and remineralization of equals. Ophinomerphae and Thadiastionidee can maintain this high microbial productivity and farm microbes at depth in the sediment. This paper provides a model for the patterns of Ophinomerphae and Thadiastionides seen in deep-water and turbidite settings in basins worldwise frastlest on deep-sediment farming strategy.

5.2.3. Chapter 4: high resolution ichnofabric analysis of pelagic deposition and clay mineral alterations

The Upper Cretaceous Wyandot Formation, offshore Nova Scotia is an autochthonous cardonate composed of chalk and interbedded markstone. The Wyandot Formation is recovered from three wells drilled on the Scotian Shelf (see Fig. 4.2 for locations). These wells are the Eagle-D21, Primrose A-41, and Shubemacaide It-100. Split cores drilled through the Wyandot formation were examined at the Canada-Nova Scotia Offshore Petroleum Board, Dartmouth, Nova Scotia. The Wyandot Formation was used to examine how palaeceenvironmental changes affect endobenthic organisms in pelagic sediment and how high resolution ichnofabric analysis can be used to identify environmental perturbations in the reck record. Petrographic analysis revealed biologically mediated changes in the texture and mineralogy of these deposits. The main conclusions of fibre are rare:

 The Wyandot Formation can be divided into two autochthonous lithofacies which are both dominated by the products of primary production. These lithofacies are:
a bioturbated, foraminifer- and coccolith-rich, calcareous claystone (chalk; Fig. 4.4), and (2) a bioturbated, foraminifer- and coccolith-rich, kaolinite-bearing, calarcous claystone (markstone; Plate 4.2). These descriptions follow the classification scheme for fine-grained sediments defined by Macquaker & Adams (2003).

- The Wyandot Formation carbonates are intensely bioturbated with all primary sedimentary structures removed in the mixed layer (BI 5-6). Ichnogenera described from the Wyandot Formation include *Chandrites, Palacophycan, Planolites, Teichichmus, Thalaasinoides, and Zouphycas* which have been documented from coeveal chalk and maristone deposits worldwide (Plate 4.1; Ekdale & Hornely, 1983, 1984). Locklar & Savrda, 1998. 1989b).
- 3. A Chambries-Thalassimide-Zauphyors lehnolihric characterizes the vast majority of the resovered cores drilled through the Wyandot Formation (Fig. 4.5; Plate 4.3). The eportymous ichnogenera are found in high dentities and abundances in the inholabiric. *Chambries, Thalassimoide*, and Zouphyora III maintain an open (and permanent) connection to the water column. Consequently, the *Chambries-Thalassimoide-Zauphyorus* (chandrific is indicative of long, stable periods on the deep seafloor with a well-oxygenated sediment-water interface. There is no evidence for deposition of thick event beks.
- 4. Monogeneric Chandritics istinohabrics represent the only ichnotabric variability documented from the Wyando Formation (Fig. 4.5, Plate 4.3). Primary sedimentary fabrics are not preserved in the Chandrities ichnofabrics as they have a burrow-homogenized background (BI 5). This suggests that there was no decrease in oversenition at the sediment-water interface as the mixed lawr was

highly bioturbated; contrary to the traditional low oxygenation interpretation of Chondrites-only ichnofaural assemblages (Savrda & Bortjer, 1986; Ekdale & Mason, 1988). Increases in sedimented organic matter are interpreted to result in Chondrite inhendrisches. Verswater anoxic an ensult from increases in organic matter input into the sediment, causing rapid use of free oxygen by arobic microbial respiration and a rising of the redox boundary in the sediment (Reimers *et al.* 1986; Wetzel, 2010). The Chondrites tracemaker with its inferred chemosymbionts had a competitive advantage in low oxygen environments which exclude other deep-burrowing tracemakers (Bromley & Ekdale, 1984; Savrda & Bortjer, 1986).

- 5. Perographic analysis of the Wyandst Formation has shown that bioturbation can change the texture and mineralogy of sediment. Formatinifer tests and test fragments were found to be 80% enriched in the burrow fills of *Chandrites*, *Planolites*, and *Thalassinuides* compared to the host sediment (Plate 4.4). The progenitors of these trace fossils were most likely deposit feeding on the formatinifer, concentrative them in burrow fills (eff. 1971).
- 6. Kaolinite was identified as the most abundant clay mineral within the Wyandot Formation (identified by its low back scattered electron coefficient and diagnostic 1:1 ratio of A1 to S1 in EDS spectra; Deer et al. 1992). Burrow fills were found to contain up to 40% kaolinite compared to 30% in the ambient sediment (percentages obtained by point counting and dependent on lithofacies; Plate 4.4). Burrow fills are thus 33% more enrichment in kaolinite than the surrounding sediment.

7. The enrichment of eday minerals (principally laadinitie) in burrow fills relative to the host sediment implies that some of the eday mineral assemblages of burrow fills are authigenic. Booklets of kaolinite filling formainifer chambers and large enderdal kaolinitie crystalis in the burrow fills indicate that these crystals are not detrial but formed as a result of biological weathering (Plate 4.4; cf. McIlony *et al.* 2003). Deposit feeding endobenthos ingest elay minerals, and via low temperature authigenesis in the acidic microenvironment of the organism's digestive system, egest faceal material of a different mineralogy (Needham *et al.* 2004, 2005).

This paper illustrates the utility of iclinofabric analysis in the palaeoenvironmental interpretation in pelagic settings. Trace fossils are in star records of environmental stresses. Changes in depositional conditions (i.e. increases in sedimented organic matter) effect a change in the benthic community. In the Wyandot Formation the physiological stress on the biological community, and the iclinocentose preserved, can be interpreted via perturbation from the *Chondrites-Thalaxinoidez-Zoophycos* iclinofabric to the *Chondrite* iclinofabric. The results of this paper show that changes in the trace fossil assemblages and iclinofabrics can identify periods of stress on the deep seafloor which could potentially be ued as semi-regional markers in pelagic systems.

The Wyands Formation has an oil and gas discovery in the Primose A-50 well and a gas show in the Eagle D-21 well (Wielense 4d. 2002; Ings et al. 2005). Other chalk reservoirs are sites of active petroleum production, particularly in the North Sea (Van der Bark & Thomas, 1980; Needlam & Jacobs, 1995). The Eddfah Field in the

Nowegin Central Trough, North Sea, is an active chalk reservoir (Branker, 1995). The EMB& Field chalks are more favoranble as a reservoir facies as they are mostly category III chalks (i.e. they are allochthonous) which preserve a greater provisity than category I Malks (Brasher & Vagle, 1996). The Wyando Formation are autochthonous deposits made of category I chalks as defined by Brasher & Vagle (1996). This category, due to their slowly accumulated nature, tighter packing, and intense bioturbation make them less desinbles any document exploration targets because of the accompanying reduction in provsity with burial (Brasher & Vagle 1996).

Further to exploration, production pertoleum geology is affected by bioturbation (Gingras et al. 1999, 2007; Pemberton & Gingras, 2005; Tonkin et al. 2010). The potential to introduce a significant amount of heterogeneity into reservoir facles by burrowing organisms is illustrated herein. Ingestion, passage through a reducing foregat, and egestion can change clay mineral assemblages and can have subsequently and significant implications for porosity and permeability. Biological weathering and clay mineral authigenesis can also introduce clay-grade material into sand-rich substrates, reducing the permeability, porosity, and reservoir quality of the sediment (Needham et al. 2005). This is of particular concern in type I chaik reservoirs, like the Wyandot Formation, which have already lost primary porosity by mechanical and chemical compaction (Braher, 1995; Basher & Xuga, 1996).

5.3. Discussion: deep-water ichnology

Trace fossils are in situ biological structures which record the environmental, sedimentological, and depositional conditions at the time of their construction. They have been used as palaeoenvironmental indicators, in stratigraphic studies, and deciphering physiologically stressful conditions in many ancient depositional systems (Crimes, 1977; Ekdale & Bromley, 1983, 1984; Ekdale & Mason, 1988; Wetzel, 1991; Uchman, 1995, 1998; McIlroy, 2004, 2007; Buatois et al. 2001, 2009; MacEachern et al. 2007a, 2007b, 2007c; Heard & Pickering, 2008; and in this thesis; see also Phillips & McIlroy, 2010; Phillips et al. 2011). Despite this abundance of literature, the application of trace fossil analysis has primarily focused on marginal and shallow marine systems (MacEachern et al. 1992a, 1992b; Pemberton et al. 1992, 2001; Martin & Pollard, 1996; McIlroy, 2004), with deep-water systems understudied in comparison. Likewise the ichnofabric method is rarely utilized in studies of turbidite systems (Knaust, 1998, 2009; Chapters 2 & 4 and Phillips & McIlroy, 2010; Phillips et al. 2011). This thesis makes a significant contribution, and highlights through a well-documented and well-studied field area how using a combined sedimentological and ichnological framework can lead to a better palaeoenvironmental reconstruction of ancient deep-water depositional systems. Ichnofabric analysis has been used in this thesis as a palaeoecological and palaeoenvironmental indicator of changing conditions in two end-member sedimentological systems in deep-water palaeoenvironments.

Palaeoenvironmental analysis uses trace fossil analysis to great effect (Pemberton et al. 2001; McIlroy, 2004, 2007; MacEachern et al. 2007c). This work has shown that to better understand ancient deep-water depositional systems, make more refined depositional models, and link ancient and modern settings trace fossil and ichnofabric analysis can be integrated with sedimentological facies analysis. Taking into account the biological factors, as well as the sedimentological, makes for higher resolution field- and core-based studies. Ichnofabric analysis can be used to decipher environmental change when there is a lack of primary sedimentary structures (e.g. in highly bioturbated settings; Chapter 4; Phillips & McIlroy, 2010). Enhanced palaeoenvironmental analysis is a significant tool used in petroleum geology, particularly in exploration geology (Martin & Pollard, 1996; McIlroy, 2004). In core-based work, trace fossils and ichnofabrics can be used as facies indicators, as well as indicators of depositional and environmental conditions (Chapter 2 & 4). The work done in the Grès d'Annot Basin is an example of this application (Chapter 2). Turbidite systems include a wide range of environments with differing styles of deposition (Pickering et al. 1989). Palaeoenvironmental analysis was carried out in the Grès d'Annot Formation using a combined ichnological and sedimentological approach. Trace fossil analysis and the ichnofabric method were successfully used to understand the depositional conditions controlling tracemaker behaviour, and from these data extrapolate the depositional palaeoenvironment within the turbidite system. This is more easily done in the field, as good exposure allows greater data collection to refine models, but the method employed in this thesis (Chapter 2) can be applied to core-based studies of turbidite systems.

Trace fossils can also be used to identify stressed conditions on the ancient seafloor (Bromley & Ekdale, 1944; Savrda & Bottjer, 1946; Uchman, 2004; MacEabern et al. 2007b). This thesis used trace fossil analysis to identify palaecenvironmental stresses on the ancient seafloor by investigating stratigraphic changes in trace fossil assemblages (Chapter 2 & 4). Nutrient stress and oxygen stress where identified as the leading causes of ichnofabric variability and changes in trace fossil assembles in the Grels d'Annot Basin and Wyandst Formation, respectively (Chapter 2 & 4, respectively). This information is vital for reconstructing high resolution analyses and models to identify stresses affecting the benthic community that can be used in palaecelimatic and palaeceennerphic studies.

Noichhology is an expanding science with numerous studies using modern tracemaking animals as analogues for ancient tracemakers (Miller & Curran, 2001; Gingras et al. 2008; Herringshaw et al. 2010). This paper showed that ancient tracemaker behaviour califormienuix, Chapter 3 provided a model for ancient burrows, like Ophiomorpha raufa, found in high abundance at analotone-mudatone interfaces in turbilite systems. This research too, has significant implications for palaecenvironmental analysis which can be used by other workers. This work allows us to refine the Ophiomorpha raufa lehnosubfacies is currently used as an indicator of high current energy, proximal turbilite settings (Uchman, 2001, 2009). Field observations, presented herein, agree with this. For example, the Ophiomorpha raufa temolative data consequent of the Gest 40 and Formiton (Chapter 2) is seen in thick-badded, coarse-grained turbilite. settings with high current energy, such as intra-channel areas and proximal fan systems. It is oencluded from further research, presented in Chapter 3, that the distribution of *O*. *radia* is not necessarily related to high energy currents but is found to be more closely linked the presence of buried matrients. Consequently, the *Ophiomorphar nular* ichnoshthcics (crected by Uchman (2001) and analogous to the *Ophiomorphar nular* ichnoshthcic screeted by Uchman (2001) and analogous to the *Ophiomorphar nular* ichnoshthcic association in Chapter 2) can be refined to include in ot only sandy, high current energy settings, but areas where hemipelagic material in deeply buried by thick sands by turbidite deposition. This neoichnological research has demonstrated common tracemaker behaviour that can be used in other palaecenvironmental studies in deep-water and turbidite systems. This new model can be used by other workers in ichnology, sedimentology, and petroleum geology as tool for better palaecenvironmental reconstruction.

This thesis presents new data on deep-water ichnology and shows how ichnofibric analysis can be applied to deep marine palacenvironmental reconstructions. Three different approaches were used in this thesis to describe deep-water ichnology: (1) a fieldbased study in the Greis d'Annot Basin; (2) a core-based study on the Wyandor Formation, and; (3) a novel neoichnological approach to a hitherito unsolved paradigm. These three papers have shown that trace fossil and ichnofibric analysis have applications to studies in deep-water settings and can make a significant contribution to palacenvironmental analysis, when integrated with sedimentiological faceis analysis. This improved palacenvironmental analysis, facies characterizations, and reservoir Unstructionize marcial analectionic for errotesum evoletists. The noblibled work

arising from this thesis will be a first step towards making ichnological analysis in deep

marine facies a routine and useful tool for petroleum geology and sedimentology.

References

- ALLER, R. C. 1978. Experimental studies of changes produced by deposit feeders on pore water, sediment, and overlying water chemistry. *American Journal of Science*, 278, 1185–1234.
- Areys, G., M., PEEL, F. & ELLIOTT, T. 2004. The structural setting and paleogeographical evolution of the Greis d'Annot Basin. In: JOSEPH, P. & LOMAS, S. A. (eds) Deepwater sudimentation in the Alpine Basin of SE France: new perspectives on the Greis d'Annot and related systems. Geological Society, London, Special Publications, 221, 65–96.
- BRASHER, J. E. 1995. Local tectonics and effects on sediment distribution within the Eldisk Field. In: HANSLIER, S. (cd) Petroleum Exploration and Exploitation in Norway. Norwegian Petroleum Society, Special Publication, 4, 67–84.
- BRASHER, J. E. & VAGLE, K. R. 1996. Influence of lithofacies and diagenesis on Norweglan North Sea chalk reservoirs. American Association of Petroleum Geologists Bulletin, 80, 746–769.
- BROMLEY, R. G. & EKDALE, A. A. 1984. Chondrites: A trace fossil indicator of anoxia in sediments. Science, 224, 872–874.

BUATOIS, L. A., MANGANO, M. G. & SYLVESTER, Z. 2001. A diverse deep marine ichnofauna from the Eocene Tarcau Sandstone of the Eastern Carpathians, Romania. *Ichnos*, 8, 23–62.

- BUATOIS, L. A., GINGRAS, M. K., MACEACHERN, J., MÁNGANO, M. G., ZONNEVELD, J. P., PEMIERTON, G. S., NEITO, R. G. & MARTIN, A. 2005. Colonization of brackishwater systems through time: Evidence from the trace-fossil record. *PALAIOS*, 20, 321–347.
- BUATOIS, L. A., MÁNGANO, M. G., BRUSSA, E. D., BENEDETTO, J. L. & POMPEI, J. F. 2009. The changing face of the deep: colonization of the Early Ordovician deep-sea floor, Puna, northwest Argentina. *Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology*, 280, 291–299.
- CALLEC, Y. 2004. 'The turbidite fill of the Annot sub-basin (SE France): a sequencestratigraphy approach. In: JOSEPH, P. & LOMAS, S. A. (eds) Deep-water sedimentation in the Alpine Basin of SE France: new perspectives on the Gress d'Annot and related systems. Geological Society, London, Special Publications, 221, 111–135.

- CRIMES, T. P. 1973. From limestones to distal turbidites: a facies and trace fossil analysis in the Zumaya flysch (Paleocene-Eocene), North Spain. Sedimentology, 20, 105– 131.
- CRIMES, T. P., GOLDRING, R., HOMEWOOD, P., STULIVENBERG, J. VAN & WINKLER, W. 1981. Trace fossil assemblages of deep-sea fan deposits, Gurnigel and Schlieren flysch (Cretaceous-Eocene), Switzerland. *Eclogae Geologicae Helvetiae*, 74, 953–995.
- D'ANDREA, A. F., ALLER, R. C. & LOPEZ, G. R. 2002. Organic matter flux and reactivity on a South Carolina sandflat: the impacts of porewater advection and macrobiological structures. *Linnology and Oceanograph*, 47, 1056–1070.
- D'ANDREA, A. F., LOPEZ, G. R. & ALLER, R. C. 2004. Rapid physical and biological particle mixing on an intertidal sandflat. *Journal of Marine Research*, 62, 67–92.
- DEER, W. A., HOWIE, R. A. & ZUSSMAN, J. 1992. An Introduction to the Rock-Forming Minerals (2nd Edition). Longman, Hong Kong, 696p.
- EKDALE, A. A. & BROMLEY, R. G. 1983. Trace fossils and ichnofabric in the Kjølby Gaard Marl, uppermost Cretaceous, Denmark. Bulletin of the Geological Society of Denmark, 31, 107–119.
- EKDALE, A. A. & BROMLEY, R. G. 1984. Comparative ichnology of shelf-sea and deepsea chalk. *Journal of Paleontology*, 58, 322–332.
- EKDALE, A. A. & BROMLEY, R. G. 1991. Analysis of composite ichnofabrics: an example from the Uppermost Cretaceous chalk of Denmark. *PALAIOS*, 6, 232–249.
- EKDALE, A. A. & MASON, T. R. 1988. Characteristic trace-fossil associations in oxygenpoor sedimentary environments. *Geology*, 16, 720–723.
- GHIBAUDO, G., GRANDESSO, P., MASSARI, F. & UCIIMAN, A. 1996. Use of trace fossils in delineating sequence stratigraphic surfaces (Tertiary Venetian Basin, northeastern Italy). *Palaeoseocoraphy. Palaeoseologicatiology*. *Valaeoseology*. 120, 261–279.
- GINGRAS, M. K., PEMBERTON, S. G., MENDOZA, Č. A. & HENK, F. 1999. Assessing the anisotropic permeability of *Glossifungites* surfaces. *Petroleum Geoscience*, 5, 349–357.
- Gronass, M. K., Praumerros, S., Hess, F., MACEACHERN, J.A., MENDOZA, C.A., RONTRON, B., O'HABER, S., STALA, M. & KONHAINSEN, K. 2007. Applications of ishnology to fluid and gas production in hydrocarbon reservoirs. *In:* MCAESCHERR, J. A., BANN, K. L., GRORAS, M. K. & PDINIERTON S. G. (edi) *Applied Ichnology*. Society of Economic Paleontologists and Mineralogists Short Course Neus. 22, 131–145.
- GINGRAS, M. K., PEMBERTON, S. G., DASHTGARD, S. & DAFOE, L. 2008. How fast do marine invertebrates burrow? *Palaeogeography*, *Palaeoclimatology*, *Palaeoecolowy*, 270, 280–286.
- HEARD, T. G. & PICKERING, K. T. 2008. Trace fossils as diagnostic indicators of deepmarine environments, middle Eocene Ainsa-Jaca Basin, Spanish Pyrenees. Sedimentology. 55, 809–844.
- INGS, S. J., MACRAE, R. A., SHIMELD, J. W. & PE-PIPER, G. 2005. Diagenesis and porosity reduction in the late cretaceous Wyandot Formation, offshore Nova Scotia: a comparison with Norwegian North Sea chalks. *Bulletin of Canadian Petroleum Geology*, 53, 237–249.

- JOSEPH, P. & LOMAS, S. A. (eds). Deep-water sedimentation in the Alpine Basin of SE France: new perspectives on the Grès d'Annot and related systems. *Geological Society, London, Special Publications*, 221, 437p.
- KNAUST, D. 1998. Trace fossils and ichnofabrics on the lower Muschelkalk carbonate ramp (Triassic) of Germany: a tool for high-resolution sequence stratigraphy. *Geologische Rundscham*, 87, 21–31.
- KNAUST, D. 2009. Characterisation of a Campanian deep-sea fan system in the Norwegian Sea by means of ichnofabrics. *Marine and Petroleum Geology*, 26, 1199–1211.
- LOCKLAIR, R. E. & SAVRDA, C. E. 1998a. Ichnofossil tiering analysis of a rhythmically bedded chalk-marl sequence in the Upper Cretaceous of Alabama. *Lethata*, 31, 311–322.
- LOCKLAIR, R. E. & SAVRDA, C. E. 1998b. Ichnology of rhythmically bedded Demopolis Chalk (Upper Cretaceous, Alabama): implications for paleoenvironment, depositional evcle origins, and tracemaker behavior. *PALAIOS*, 13, 423–436.
- MACEACHERN, J. A., PEMBERTON, S. G., RAYCHAUDHURI, I. & VOSSLER, S. 1991. Application of the Glossifumgizes ichnolacies to the recognition of sequence stratigraphic boundaries: examples from the Cretaceous of the Western Canada sedimentary basin, Alberta, Canada. American Association of Petroleum Geologist Bulleti, 75, 526–626.
- MccEACHEN, J. A., BECHTEL, D. J. & PENBRITON, G. S. 1992a. Ichnology and sedimentology of transgressive deposits transpressively-related deposits and transgressive systems trates in the Viking Formation of Alberta. In: PENBRITON, S. G. (ed) Applications of Ichnology to Perrolema Equivations 4 Conv Workshop. Society of Economic Paleontologists and Mineralogists Core Workshop 17, 251– 200.
- MACEACHERN, J. A., RAYCHAUDHUR, I. & PEMBERTON, S. G. 1992b. Stratigraphic applications of the Glossifungites ichonoacies: delineating discontinuities in the rock record. In: PEMBERTON, S. G. (ed) Applications of Ichnology to Petroleum Exploration: A Core Workshop. Society of Economic Paleontologists and Mineralogists Core Workshop 17, 169–198.
- MACEACHERN, J. A., GINGRAS, M. K., BANN, K. L., PEMIBERTON, S. G. & REICH, L. T. 2007a. Application of ichnology to high-resolution genetic stratigraphic paradigms. In: MACRELERN, J. A., BANN, K. L., GINGRAS, M. K. & PEMERITON, S. G. (eds) Applied Ichnology. Society of Economic Paleontologists and Mineralogists Short Course Notes, 52, 95–129.
- MACEACHERN, J. A., PEMBERTON, S. G., BANN, K. L. & GINGRAS, M. K., 2007b. Departures from the archetypal ichnofacies: effective cognition of environmental stress in the rock record. *In:* MACIACHERNE, IA., BANN, K. L., GINGRAS, M. K. & PEMBERTON, S. G. (eds) *Applied Ichnology*. Society of Economic Paleontologists and Mineralogists Short Course Notes, **52**, 65–93.
- MACEACHERN, J. A., GINGRAS, M. K., BANN, K. L. & PEMBERTON, S. G. 2007c. The ichnofacies paradigm: high-resolution palaeoenvironmental interpretation of the rock record. *In:* MACEACHERN, J. A., BANN, K. L., GINGRAS, M. K. &

PEMBERTON, S. G. (eds), Applied Ichnology. Society of Economic Paleontologists and Mineralogists Short Course Notes, 52, 27–64.

MACGINITIE, G. E. 1978. The Rôle of bacteria as food for bottom animals. Science, 76, 490.

- MACQUAKER, J. H. S. & ADAMS, A. E. 2003. Maximizing information from fine-grained sedimentary rocks: an inclusive nomenclature for mudstones. *Journal of Sedimentary Research*, 73, 735–744.
- MARTIN, M. A. & PULARD, J. E. 1996. The role of trace fossil (chondaric) analysis in the development of depositional models for the Upper Jransise Fluman Formation of the Kittivake Field (Quadrant 21 UKCS). In: HURST, A., JOINSON, H. D., UILRIY, S. D. B., CANIMA, A. C. & MACKERTICI, D. S. (edd) Geology of the Humber Group. Central Grahen and Marray Firth, UKCS. Geological Society, Lendon. Seciel Publications: 114, 163–183.
- MCLROV, D. 2004. Ichnofabries and sedimentary facies of a tide-dominated delta: Jurassie IIe Formation of Kristin Field, Haltenbanken, offshore mid-Norway. In: MCLROV, D. (ed) The application of ichnology to palaeoenvironmental and stratigraphic analysis. Geological Society, London, Special Publication, 228, 237–272.
- MCILROY, D. 2007. Lateral variability in shallow marine ichnofabrics: implications for the ichnofabric analysis method. *Journal of the Geological Society of London*, 164, 359–369.
- MCILROY, D., WORDEN, R. H. & NEEDHAM, S. J. 2003. Faeces, clay minerals and reservoir potential. *Journal of the Geological Society of London*, 160, 489–493.
- MILLER, M. F. 1984. Bioturbation of intertidal quartz-rich sands: a modern example and its sedimentologic and paleoecologic implications. *Journal of Geology*, 92, 201– 216.
- MILLER, M. F. & CURRAN, H. A. 2001. Behavioral plasticity of modern Cenozoic burrowing thalassinidean shrimp. *Palaeogeography*, *Palaeoclimatology*, *Palaeocology*, 166, 219–236.
- NEEDHAM, C. E. J. & JACOBS, L. 1995. From the Chalk to the Palaeozoic, the new frontier in Central Graben exploration. In: HANSLIEN, S. (ed) Petroleum Exploration and Exploitation in Norway. Norwegian Petroleum Society, Special Publication, 4, 53–65.
- NEEDHAM, S. J., WORDEN, R. H. & MCILROY, D. 2004. Animal-sediment interaction: the effect of ingestion and excretion by worms on mineralogy. *Biogeosciences*, 1, 113–121.
- NEEDHAM, S. J., WORDEN, R. H. & MCILROY, D. 2005. Experimental production of clay rims by macrobiotic sediment ingestion and excretion processes. *Journal of Sedimentary Research*, 75, 1028–1037.
- PEMBERTON, S. G. & FREY, R. W. 1985. The Glossifungites ichnofacies: modern examples from the Georgia coast, U.S.A. In: CURRAN, H. A. (ed) Biogenic structures: their use in interpreting depositional environments. Society of Economic Paleontologists and Mineralogists Special Publication, 35, 237–259.

- PEMBERTON, S. G. & GINGRAS, M. K. 2005. Classification and characterizations of biogenically enhanced permeability. *American Association of Petroleum Geologists Bullein*, 89, 1493–1517.
- PEMBERTON, S. G., REINSON, G. E. & MACEACHEEN, J. A. 1992. Comparative ichnological analysis of Late Albian estuarine valley fill and shelf shoreface deposits, Crystal Viking Field, Alberta. In: PEMBERTON, S. G. (ed) Applications of Ichnology to Perroleum Exploration: A Core Workshop. Society of Economic Paleontologist and Mineralposits Core Workshop, 17, 291–317.
- PEMBERTON, S. G., SPILA, M. V., PULIMA, A. J., SAINDERS, T., MACEACHERE, J. A. ROBBINS, D. & SINCLAIR, I. 2001. Ichnology and Sedimentology of Shallow and Marginal Marine Systems: Ben Nevis and Avalon Reservoirs, Jeanne D'Arc Basin. Geological Association of Canada Short Course Notes 15. St. John's, NewFoundland, 343p.
- PHILLIPS, C. & MCILROY, D. 2010. Ichnofabrics and biologically mediated changes in clay mineral assemblages from a deep-water, fine-grained, calcarous sedimentary succession: An example from the Upper Cretaceous Wyandot Formation, offshore Nova Sectia. Builtein of Canadian Petroleum Geology, 58, 203-218.
- PHILLIPS, C., MCILROY, D. & ELLIOTT, T. 2011. Ichnological characterization of Eocene/Oligocene turbidites from the Grès d'Annot Basin, French Alps. Palaeoegorganbr. Palaeoelindoge, Palaeoecology, 300, 67-83.
- PICKERING, K. T., HISCOTT, R. N. & HEIN, F. J. 1989. Deep Marine Environments: Clastic Sedimentation And Tectonics. Unwin Hyman, London, 416p.
- REIMERS, C. E., KISCHER, K. M., MEREWETHER, R., SMITH, K. L. JR. & JAIDNEE, R. A. 1986. Oxygen microprofiles measured in situ in deep ocean sediments. Nature, 320, 741–744.
- SAVRDA, C. E. & BOTTJER, D. J. 1986. Trace-fossil model for reconstruction of paleooxygenation in bottom waters. *Geology*, 14, 3-6.
- SINCLAIR, H. D. 1997. Tectonostratigraphic model for underfilled peripheral foreland basins: an Alpine perspective. *Geological Society of America Bulletin*, 109, 324– 346.
- SLITER, W. V. 1971. Predation on benthic foraminifers. Journal of Foraminiferal Research, 1, 20–29.
- STANBROOK, D. A. & CLARK, J. D. 2004. The Marnes Brunes Inférieures in the Grand Coyer remnant: characteristics, structure and relationship to the Grès d'Annot. In: JOSEPH, P., LOMAS, S. A. (eds) Deep-water sedimentation in the Alpine Baxin of SE France: new perspectives on the Grès d'Annot and related systems. Geological Society, London, Special Publications, 221, 285–300.
- THOMPSON, R. K. & PRITCHARD, A. W. 1969. Respiratory adaptations of two burrowing crustaceans. Callianassa californiensis and Upogebia pugettensis. Biological Bulletin. 136, 274–287.
- TONKIN, N. S., MCILROY, D., MEYER, R. & MOORE-TURPIN, A. 2010. Bioturbation influence on reservoir quality: a case study from the Cretaceous Ben Nevis Formation, Jeanne d'Are, offshore NewFoundland, Canada. *American Association* of Petroleum Geologists Bulletin, 94, 1059–1078.

- UCHMAN, A. 1995. Taxonomy and palaeoecology of flysch trace fossils: the Marnosoarenacea Formation and associated facies (Miocene, Northern Apennines, Italy). *Beringeria*, 15, 1–115.
- UCHMAN, A. 1998. Taxonomy and ethology of flysch trace fossils: revision of the Marian Ksiazkiewicz Collection and studies of complementary material. *Annales Societatis Geologorum Poloniae*, 68, 105–218.
- UCHMAN, A. 2001. Eocene flysch trace fossil from the Hecho Group of the Pyrenees, northern Spain. Beringeria, 28, 3–41.
- UCHMAN, A. 2004. Deep-sea trace fossils controlled by palaeo-oxygenation and deposition: An example from the Lower Cretaceous dark lysch deposits of the Silesian Unit, Carrotatians, Poland. *Fossils and Strata*, 51, 39–57.
- UCHMAN, A. 2009. The Ophiomorpha rudis ichnosubfacies of the Nereites ichnofacies: characteristics and constraints. Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeocology, 276, 107–119.
- VAN DER BARK, E. & THOMAS, O. D. 1980. Ekofisk: first of the great oil fields in Western Europe. In: HALBOUTY, M. T. (ed) Giant Oil and Gas Fields of the Decade 1968–1978. American Association of Petroleum Geologists Memoir, 30, 195–227.
- WETZEL, A. 1984. Bioturbation in deep-sea fine-grained sediments: influence of sediment texture, turbidite frequency and rates of environmental change. *Geological Society Special Publication*, **15**, 5935–608.
- WETZEL, A. 1991. Ecologic interpretation of deep-sea trace fossil communities. Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology, 85, 47–69.
- WETZEL, A. 2010. Deep-sea ichnology: observations in modern sediments to interpret fossil counterparts. Acta Geologica Polonica, 60, 125–138.
- WETZEL, A. & UCHMAN, A. 2001. Sequential colonization of muddy turbidites in the Eocene Beloveza Formation, Carpathians, Poland. Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology. 168, 171–186.
- WIELENS, H. J. B. W., MACRAE, R. A. & SHIMELD, J. 2002. Geochemistry and sequence stratigraphy of regional upper Cretaceous limestone units, offshore eastern Canada. Organic Geochemistry, 33, 1559–1569.
- ZORN, M. E., LALONDE, S. V., GINGRAS, M. K., PEMBERTON, S. G. & KONHAUSER, K. 2006. Microscale oxygen distribution in various invertebrate burrow walls. *Geobiology*, 4, 137–145.



APPENDIX A

Field logs and supplementary field images from the Grès d'Annot Basin,

SE France

Explanation

This appendix is a compilation of logs and field images from the Gris's dAnnot Basin. The purpose of Appendix A is to present some of the logs featured in Chapter 2 in more detail, at a larger scale, and with accompanying field images that were not included in the main body of this thesis. The following pages feature additional data from the Col de la Cayotle area with logs and images from Montagne de TAvalanche, Tete Moulone, and Pra Giunal. The Leadens of these logs are advon in Figs. 21. & 42-42.5.

The Col de la Copolle outcrops are interpreted as an intra-channel palaecenvironment with thickening- and cearaening upwards packages of sandstore utilidites and little or no interbedded muddone. A heterolithic succession of thinbedded, fine-grained sandstore turbidites with interbedded silitoter and claystone lite conformably on top of this thick-bedded strata. This facies (facies 3) is interpreted as a change in the palaecenvironment to channel abandonment with a concomitant reduction in current energy and an increase in the preservation of trace fossils (see Chapter 2). The logs from Moninge de l'Avalanche detall this channel abandonment facies. Tee Moulone logs are lateral equivalents of the channel abandonment facies whereas Pra Ginaud outcrop thick-bedded and coarse-grained sandstone turbidites from intra-channel palaecenvironment.

The log drawn from the Argenton onlap section was not shown in the previous chapters. It has the same sedimentary facies and trace fossil assemblages as other intrabasin slope settings documented in the Grès d'Annot Basin (see Figs 2.8-2.9 and the discussion in Chapter 2).

Legend

Below is the legend for all the logs presented on the following pages including lithologies, sedimentary structures, trace fossils, and macroscopic foraminifer species found in the Grés d'Annot Basin.







ne graphic logs on the Letters above logs correspond to the log positions are shown in Fig. 2.4 and Fig. 2.5A. Letters alongside th following pages correspond to the field images on the following pages.

Montagne de l'Avalanche, log A



A-4

Very thick (2 cm) and long (>40 cm) Ophiomorpha rudis. Horizontal along a bed sole, mud lined. Planolites in massive mudstone beds, thin-bedded. Amalgamated sandstone beds with planar lamination. *Ophiomorpha rudis* 1.2 cm thick by 4 cm long with muddy pellets. Amalgamated beds with load structures and parallel lamination.

Fine lag at base, massive bodies. No bioturbation. Ripple lamination on top, parallel, planar lamination in body. No Very gentle grading. Intraclasts present, few still filled, most weatered out and hollow *Ophiomorpha rudis* only, emerging from a Massive mudstone. No traces. Bathysiphon. Parallel ripple lamination, Bouma Ted. Ophiomorpha 1.5 cm thick by 5 cm long, pellets 3-5 mm diameter, mud-lined.

Montagne de l'Avalanche, log B



Thin-bedded sandstone and mudstone, 5-30 cm thick. No cyclicity. No bioturbation.

Highly bioturbated bed. Sandstone, massive. Vertical burrows, mud-lined. *Paeodicyton* seen in small patches on turbidite asoles. Thalaxinoides and Ophiomorpha rudis seen in massive sandstone beds. Convolute lamination. Palacourtent to the north based on flute marks. Base filled structure - meniscate - mud-lined. Unusual *Ophiomorpha rudis*. See Pate 2-4B for innace.

Massive sandstone beds, medium-bedded. Some beds show planar parallel lamination. Few traces, only O. rudis. Bioturbated mudstone (massive) by O. rudis. Parallel lamination in sandstone

Amalgamated beds with load structures and parallel lamination, ripple amination. No bioturbation.

Parallel lamination in sandstone. Ophiomorpha rudis.

Montagne de l'Avalanche, log C



Thin-bedded sandstone and mudstone beds. Few trace fossils, only

Coarse-grained lag in sandstone bed. Lots of O. rudis

Sandstone intensely mined by Ophiomorpha.

Thin-bedded sandstone and mudstone with *Planolities* and *Paleodictyon* on the soles of turbidite sandstone at sandstone-mudstone junctions. Numerous sandstone beds with Ophiomorpha and Planolites burrows. Planar parallel and wavy lamination. Sandstone beds with planar parallel, wavy, and convolute lamination. Paleodicryon on turbidite soles. Ophiomorpha and Planolites in sandstone and mudstone.





Tête Moulone

This is an enlarged and detailed version of log D in Fig. 2.4. Log position is shown in the field image in Fig. 2.5B. Letters alongside the log indicate the stratigraphic positions of the field photographs shown in Fig. A2 on page A-9.



Numerous Ophiomorpha, horizontal, mud-lined. Thalassinoides, subhorizontal, unlined in siltstone filled with siltstone.

No bioturbatoin. Coarsening upward sandstone bed.

Thin beds of siltstone and claystone bioturbated by *Ophiomorpha* only. Claystone is burrow homogenized whereas the siltstone has parallela and wavy lamination.

Thick sandstone turbidite. Fining upward with wavy lamination at the top, Bouma Tab. Ophiomorpha only. Seen to burrow down through the bed. Massive sandstone with burrowed mudstone intraclast.

No bioturbation.

Interbedded sandstone and mudstone with wavy and parallel lamination. *Thalassinoides* (rare) and *Ophiomropha* only.

Heterolithic beds of sandstone and mudstone. Ophiomorpha only.



Fig. A2. Field images from Tête Moulone. A. Horizontal Ophiomorpha rudis with mud pellets in coarse-grained sandstone. B. Thin O. rudis, mud-lined. C. Mud-filled O. rudis on the sole of trubidities andstone. D. Interbedded sandstone and mudsicone E. Large O. rudis with T-shaped bifurcations and swelling at the junction. Large mud pellets are arrowed. On float. The lense cap in 5 cm wide.


Pra Giraud

Letters above logs correspond to the log positions are shown in Fig. 2.4-2.5C.

Pra Giraud, log E



Medium-bedded sandstone with very coarse-grained scours. No bioturbation.

Coarse and very coarse-grained sandstone turbidites with no interbedded mudstone. Massive, normally graded with sandstone and mudstone intraclasts. No bioturbation.

Fining upward, coarse-grained sandstone turbidites. Vertical Ophiomorpha, sand-filled. Horizontal Ophiomorpha also seen. Filled with coarse sand. Presumed suspension feeding from active and waning current in intra-channel areas.

Very-coarse grained sandstone with pebbles and granules interspersed in the body of the turbidite, randomly orientated. Deposited from a high volume, high concentration turbidity current. No bioturbation.

More coarse-grained turbidites, Bouma Tab- No bioturbaton.

Bouma T., Normal grading.

Leters alongside the log correspond to field images on Fig. A3.



Fig. A3. Field images from Pra Giraud. A. Thick-bedded and amalgamated sandstone cliff at Pra Giraud. Field assistant for scale. B. Ophinmorphar ratis in a sandstoue turbidite with andy pellets drawedy. C. Very coarse-grained andstone with weathered out intra-takts. D. Top of a turbidite with large mudstone intraclasts, weathered out. E. Sandstone turbidites from the top of the outerpo drawn in log E.

Pra Giraud, log F



No bioturabtion.

Interbedded sandstone and mudstone. Ophiomorpha, mud-lined, small willed with sand.

Erosive contact. Mudstone intraclasts.

Ophiomorpha in siltstone filled with silstone.

Thick-bedded sandstone turbidite. Mudstone intraclasts at the top of the bed. Normal grading. No bioturbation.

Leters alongside the log correspond to field images on Fig. A4.



Fig. A4. Field images from log F. A. Thin, vertical Ophiomorpha rudis in sandstone. B. Interbedded sandstone and mudstone. C. Close up of heterolithic succession shown in C. O. rudis in cross-section in circled. D. Ophiomorpha/Thalassinoides filled with coarsegrained sandstone.



Letters A-F alongside the log correspond to field images taken at that stratigraphic interval shown overleaf on Fig. A5.

> Start of true Grès d'Annot Formation deposition. Thickbedded sandstone turbidites with intraclasts (filled with siltstone). Horizontal and vertical Ophiomorpha and Thalassinoides. Ophiomorpha lined with sand or silt.

Thalassinoides (vertical) and Paleodictyon in sandstone.

No obvious trace fossils seen here. Unusual. More of the Marnes Branes Inférieures Formation.

Massive sandstone. No bioturbation. Massive elay Massive sandstone. Thalassinoides, Ophiomorpha, Planolites, and Paleodictyon seen.

Interbedded brown and blue marls. More facies 6. Thalassinoides seen in very fine sandstone.

Massive sandstone turbidite with intraclasts, weathered out. This marks the start of deposition of the Grès d'Annot Formation. *Ophioworpha* and *Thalastinoides* seen in this bed, heading down to and mining the intraclasts.

Thinly bedded silts (1-3 cm thick) and clays (1-10 cm thick) representative of facies 6 (see Chapter 2). Numerous fining-upward packages in rhythmic cycles. Marnes Branes Inférieures Formation. Large Thalassinoides seen penetrating beds. Also Ophiomorpha.



Fig. A5. Field image from the Argenton log. A. Transition from the Marses Brunes Inferieurs: Formation to the Grie's dAtamo Formation (thin-bedded turbitistics to massive sand). B. Weathered out intraclast. C. Two Ophiomorpha radio burrows heading towards proviously silv(d-rad).Filed intraclasts. D. Brancheld *C*, radies on the top of sandshore turbitic with sandy pellets. E. Close up of the sandy pellets (arrowed) from inset in D. F. O-radio burrow emerging from asily intraclast and continuing vertically down.

APPENDIX B Extended results of geochemical analysis

Explanation

Appendix B contains the results of the geochemical analyses presented in Chapter 3. Tank 2 was used for sampling as it had the most visually striking burrows with pelleted walls resembling Ophiomorpha rudis. Table B.1. lists the samples used for TOC and 813Care analyses along with a brief description. The positions from within the tank are shown in a series of images overleaf on Fig. B-1. Sampling was done on a coordinatebased system. The tank had two mud layers, an upper (U) and a lower (U; Fig. B-1A). The tank was serially sliced. Eight slices (A to I) were made in the Z plane and sampling was done at each interval (Fig. B-1B). Samples of Slice A were sampled against the right wall of the tank (A = 0 cm). Samples taken during slice B were 10 cm in from the wall (B = 10 cm). Increments are shown in Fig. B-1B. Three positions are marked in the Y plane (1, 2, and 3). This made sampling easier, methodical, provided a naming system. Consequently, sample LC3 was taken from the lower mud layer at slice C3. Neotrypaea californiensis constructed a burrow against the wall of the tank (Fig. B-1C). In addition to the grid samples, samples of pellets and burrow linings were also taken from this burrow against the glass wall (labelled on Fig. B-1C). The raw geochemical data is then presented after on pages B-5 and B-6.

Sample Name	Description
BH1 BH2 BH3	Taken from the burrow floors of burrows in the lower mud layer.
BL1	Mud burrow lining
BS2	Burrow lining/pellets
BS4	Burrow lining/pellets
LC3	Unbioturbated material
UB2	Unbioturbated material
UF1	Burrow fill (backfilled material)
UG1	Pellets

Table B.1. Names and descriptions of the samples taken from tank 2. See text and Fig. B-1 for positions within the tank.



Fig. B-1. Images from task 2 indicating the positions of samples taken for geochemical analysis. A: Set on of task 2 with row mold layers. The X-Y, and Z planes are shown and relate to the schematic diagram to the tank in B. The dashed yellow box indicates the field of view of the images in C. B. 3-D representation of the tank showing the coordinates system used for sampling and naming. C. Neotrypace californiensis in its burrow against the wall of the tank. Sample calculars are shown.

DeltaVPlus-Carlo Erba: Carbon Isotope Analysis

Run Date: March 3, 2010 Clent: C. Phillips Operator: C. Phillips, A. Pye Isotope: 3¹C

Memorial University CREAIT Network - TERRA Facility Stable Isotope Lab Please guote OurLab/D when making enguines i

Pool Detect De	Pool Deta of De	Posk Near St Prosk Detaul De	Posk Deta of De	Posts of Default Default De	Mean St Defa of De	Mean Ste Deta of De	28:	Devel	NC PA	Mean SC	Sillow of		
Amount Amplitude Default All	Amount Amplitude Default All	Amount Amplitude Default All	Amount Amplitude Default All	Amplitude Default All	Detact Al	2		2	applicable	of All	N/C of MI		Amdag
Sarde D Date Tree Availies Availies Comment (mp) (mp) Post Av	Date Tree Availaties Availaties Connect (112) (114) Prote An	Available Connext (mp) (mp) Post An	their perior Peek An	Inti Post An	1	\$	from 1	Arehoen	redu	Analysis	Anifres Lar	d Name	1
MUN-Suffaniamide 03/03/2010 D-17814 primer 0.063 2261 -28.52	030322010 D-17814 primer 0.063 2241 -28.52	primer 0.063 2241 -28.52	0.063 2241 -28.52	2241 -28.52	28.62		285	600	内男	42.54	4.18 Ro	004040	2647/7200
MUN-Sufaviarride 0303/2010 D-17815 primer 0.062 2965 -26.6	0303/2010 D-17815 primer 0.062 2865 -28.6	primer 0.062 2665 -20.6	0.062 2965 -26.6	107 107	17		577	2013	12.24	42.56	4.10 Ros	annon i	2002/02/200
MUN-Suttaniamide 00032010 D-17816 primer 0.052 3097 -295	03433/2010 D+1781% primer 0.052 3067 -28	primer 0.052 3067 426	10 1962 2900	19 1900	\$	5	5577	100	62.77		Re	acreading in the second	26/01/200
MUN-Suffanianide 03032010 D-17817 primer 0.052 2228 -32	0303/2010 D-17817 primer 0.052 2228 -28	primer 0.052 2228 -28	0.052 2228 -28	2228 -28	7	9	2015	800	44.22	42.56	4.18 Re	acressed in	26407200
Blank capale 03/03/2010 D-17819 0.000 133	03/03/2010 D-17818 0200 02000 133	0.000 133	0.000	133							2	acress!	26/07/201
Sterk capade 03/03/2010 D-17819 0.000 123	03/03/2010 D-178/9	0,000 123	0.000 123	122							ã	(energy	XION R
Blank capeule 03/03/2010 D-17520 0.2000 133	03/03/2010 0-17820 02.000 133	0.000 133	0.000	133							2	acreading in the second	26/07/2
MUN-CO-2 03103/2010 D-17821 0.156 2362 -	03/03/2010 D-17821 2342 -4	0.165 2382 4	0.195 2392 4	2962	1	20.00	11/18-	0.10	12.51	12.6	0.58 Ro	downey.	SUNTS.
MUN-CO-2 03/53/2010 D-17522 0.256 2368 -	- 922 0102/010 D-12822 0200 02000	9020 2000	0206 2568	10072	l	11	11/04	0.10	12.21	12.55	0.55 70	(evence	26/07/20
MUN-CO-1 02/02/2010 D-17823 not used in calibration 0.195 4245 4245	0303/2010 D-17823 not used in calibration 0.195 436 436	not used in calibration 0.195 434	0.155 426	606		22.85			1.0		8	(evence	210245
MUN-CO-1 03153/2010 D-17824 01/54 01/54	03/03/2010 D-17824 2574 0.154	0.154 2274	0.154 2574	1000		817	817	2010	9/21	12.55	0.67 Res	(annon	260010
02153 low org sedment 03/03/2010 D-17825 0.642 1201	03/03/2010 0-17825 1201	0.642 1201	0.642 1201	1021		52.82	47.52	0.11	1.64	911	0.05 Re	ocuara)	21001SZ
82153 low org sediment 03/03/2010 D-17825	03/03/2010 D-17825 8204 8274	5.034 8.025	5.034 8374	8224		時時	117	0.15	1.0	1.02	0.05 86	ference.	DIGUNG
RH1 03/03/2010 D-17827 5.111 9569	034032010 D-17827 5569	1,111 9569	1,111 9569	9569		判判	利用		2.4	3.4	£	10g	23/11/0
8H2 03032010 D-17826 22566	0302/2010 D-17828	1211 2218	1211 22188	101-12		22.42	23.65		11.11	12.11	å	2	2311120
78801 922.1 802.2 12801 D-1782.9 12801 0102/03/0 0102/03/0 010	T3921 03/03/2010 D-17829 03/03/2010 D-1224	1224 12621	1224 12667	13687		1717	1917		12.51	12.57	£	10g	2211122
UGI 03/03/2010 D-17833 25642	03/03/2010 D-17833 25642	1,425 23542	1.425 23542	2362		-23.66	357		10.15	10.12	ž	102	23/11/25
UF1 03/02/010 D-178311 1.430 100/02/010 1.430	03022 003/1 003/1 0002/03/0	1.430 10060	1.430 10060	10060		117	10.02		6.3	6.7	£	ŝ	231112
82153 kow org sediment 03/03/2010 D-17832 0.756 2.76	03403/2010 D-17812 0.758	847 9610	8127 95120	847		57.57	37	0.11	1.52	1.84	0.05 Ne	acuara)	26/00/25
LC3 03/02/2010 D-17833 0.469 7150	0160 D-1750 D 0160 D 01	0.869 7150	0.869 7150	2150		-23.52	23.50		8.0	8.00	£	100	23/11/20
UB2 03/03/2010 D-17554 0.560 0.565	0303/2010 D-17534 0303/2010 D-17534	2005 2052	2002 2002	2005		57	517		E.G.	E.G.	£	10	2211122
BL1 03/03/2010 D-17835 558	03/03/2010 D-17835 558	0,705 558	0.706 556	558		23.82	357	0.28	30	111	1220	in the	
562 03/03/2010 D-1783/6 03/03/2010 0-1783/6	0303/2010 C-1783/6 6260	1,170 6260	1,170 6260	0523		4127	22.44		525	525	£	2	23/11/200
03/02/10 03/02/01 03/02/01 03/02/01 03/02/01 03/02/01 03/02/01 03/02/01 03/02/01 03/02/02/02/02/02/02/02/02/02/02/02/02/02/	03/03/2010 D-17837 12340	1,055 1,0540	1.056 12540	09521		2017	557		11.41	11.41	£	10	22/11/22
02153 low org sedment 03/03/2010 D-17838 0354	02403/2010 D-17838 4314	2,463 4354	2,463 4354	40.54		27.44	22.52	0.11	E.F.	1.6	0.05 Re	(erence	2550720
52153 kyw org sediment 03/03/2010 D-17533	C2021 022.7 222.7 222.7 222.7 222.7 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 22.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 222.2 22.2 22.2 22.2 22.2 22.2 22.2 22.2 22.2 22.2 22.2 22.2 22.2 22.2 22.2 22.2 22.2 22.2 22.2 22.2 22.2 22.2 22.2 22.2 22.2 22.2 22.2 22.2 22.2 22.2 22.2 22.2 22.2 22.2 22.2 22.2 22.2 22.2 22.2 22.2 22.2 22.2 22.2 22.2 22.2 22.2 22.2 22.2 22.2 22.2 22.2 22.2 22.2 22.2 22.2 22.2 22.2 22.2 22.2 22.2 22.2 22.2 22.2 22.2 22.2 22.2 22.2 22.2 22.2 22.2 22.2 22.2 22.2 2	7,924 13962	7,924 12662	13962		5177	ET FF	0.11	1.52	1.00	0.05 Pa	ference	24,07720
82153 low org sediment 03/03/0010 D-17840 12:255	03/03/2010 D-17840 2256	1275 2256	1275 2296	5522		3177	22.52	0.11	51	1.00	0.05 Pee	(erence	25/07/200
MUN-CO-2 03/02/2010 D-17841 0.500 2207	0303/2010 D-17841 0.160 2267	0.160 2207	0.950 2207	2202		40.23	11/01	0.10	12.58	12.6	0.50 Pe	ference.	26407/200
MUN-CO-2 03/05/2010 D-17842 0.241 3330	03/03/2010 D-17842 0.241 3330	0.241 3330	0.241 3330	2330		10.02	11/04	0.10	2.61	2 12.55	0.55 Pe	(energy	26,007,200
MUN-CO-1 03/03/2010 D-17843 0.216 2829	0303/2010 D-17843 03/216 28/26	0.216 2829	0.216 2829	2829		21.15	20177	20.02	12.5	12.6	0.67 80	(evence	26,077200
MUN-CO-1 03/03/2010 D-17844 0.161 2078	03/03/2010 D-17844 0.161 2:161 2:05	2012 1912	0.161 2075	201		21124	85	0.02	12.11	12.55	0.67 Poe	ference	2407/20
ALL ADDRESS P. LTMAR	01010010 Dut 2445 0 0010	F 10.4 0.444	C 161 0014				14.11	10.00	100		10 10 10	1	

B-4

DeltaVPlus-Carlo Erba: Carbon Isotope Analysis

Run Dake March 17, 2010 Client C. Phillips Operation D. Hunzim, C. Phillips Isotopic 8¹⁰C

Memorial University CREAIT Network - TERRA Facility Stable Isotope Lab lease guote OurLabiD when moking enquiries -

							Moan	DidDev of					
					Peak		Delta of	Deltas of	Sic No.	Meen SC	SMDev of		
				Herourt.	Amplitude	Detta of			applicable	01.44	NC of All		Abrek
OVALAND	Serrole ID	Date Time Analysi	in Anitypia Comment	(ma)	11/10	Pask	Acalyses.	Acalyses.	reda	Arabyses	Arabyses La	st Name 0	atte
0-33	MUN-Sufferdarreso	17/03/2010 D-17%	S2 primer	0.055	3468	-28.72	-29.01	0.70	52.35	45.11	4.85 Re	of energy	0002/2008
6-33	MUN-Sulfanlamide	17/03/2010 D-176	S3 primer	650'0	2962	\$ 87	29.01	0.0	42.10	45.11	4.86 Re	ference	1002/12005
0-33	MUN-Sufanianida	17/02/2010 D-179	24 Defense	0.070	9000	-30.05	-29.01	0.70	47.65	46.11	4.88 Re	denance.	1940272009
0-33	MUN-Sufferderride	17/03/2010 0-175	25 primer	0.035	2266	28.70	-29.01	0.70	42.36	45.11	A BB Ra	ference	000272006
0-36	Blank capsula	17/03/2010 D-17/6		0000	134						2	of energy	26/27/2006
0-36	Blank copsule	17/03/2010 D-179	12	0000	130						S.	Menerce	002/2008
0-36	Blank capsula	17/03/2010 D-179	5	0000	129						a	Menance	0002/2008
C-133	MUN-00-2	17/03/2010 D-17/6	2	0.533	2462	-40.05	40.11	0.23	12.66	12.67	0.21 Fe	of energy	25/07/2005
0-133	MUN-00-2	17/03/2010 D-179	9	0.250	2850	-40.08	-40.55	0.23	12.82	12.67	0.21 Re	Menence	0002/2008
C-132	NUN-CO-1	17/23/2010 0-179	5	0.582	2406	-21.15	-21.02	0,50	12,39	12,43	0.25 Re	Merence	0002/2006
C-132	MUN-CO-1	17/03/2010 D-179	22	0.585	22/56	-20.92	-21.02	0.10	12.13	12.43	0.25 Re	Merence	000212000
0-35	B2153 low ong sediment	17/03/2010 0-17/9	2	0.602	1202	-27.85	-27.45	0.13	27.1	1.04	0.10 Pte	ference	26/07/2005
0-35	B2153 low ong sedment	17/03/2010 D-179	2	6, 1968	6960	27.43	-27,45	0.53	1.84	1.64	0.10 Re	Merence	000212006
0-35	B2153 low org sediment	17/23/2010 0-179	2	0.264	12	-27.29	-27.46	0.53	1,49	1.94	0.10 Re	Merence	00/1/2009
C-133	MUN-00-2	17/03/2010 0-179	22	0.205	2807	10.37	-40.55	0.23	12.00	12.67	0.21 Re	Merence	000212000
C-132	MUN-CO-1	271-0 0102/20/11	~	0.245	2363	-20.93	-21.02	0.10	12.80	CN.21	0.25 Re	ference	2002/2006
0-35	B2153 low ong sediment	17/23/2010 D-179	20	2.532	4472	27,44	27,45	0.13	1,68	1.84	0.10 Fee	Merence	26/07/2006
0-35	B2153 low ong sediment	17/23/2010 D-179	2	7,920	14269	27.47	-27,45	0.13	1.65	1.94	0.10 Re	Merenco	0001/000
C-133	MUN-CO-2	17/03/2010 0-179	8	0.581	2461	-39.77	-40.55	0.23	12.66	12.67	0.21 Re	Necesco	000212006
C-132	MUN-CO-1	271-0 0102/20/11	10	0.204	2728	-21.10	-21.02	0.10	12.40	CV/25	0.25 Pe	derence	2002/2006
0-2262	8H2	17/03/2010 D-17/9	16 Indedied STA00027	0.647	8444	23,220	-23.20		12.35	12.35	£	-Mon	23/11/2009
0-2264	103	17/03/2010 D-179	99 labeled G-2262	0.367	3660	-23.82	-23.92		10.05	10.05	£	-BCS	6002111/02
G-2258	170	17/03/2010 D-180	20 labelled G-2264	3.234	20465	-23.78	-23.78		0.99	0.99	đ	No.	6002111/62
C-133	MUN-CO-2	17/03/2010 D-180	01 Inchelled G-2268	0.193	22500	40.25	40.11	0.23	12.33	12.67	0.21 Re	dereco	0002/2008
0.000	100.001	ATAMANA DI ANALAN	And a second second second	10 a 10 a	analy a		100.00	1.44				discontant in the second	

APPENDIX C

Publications

Below is a list of my publications at the time of final submission of this thesis.

McULROY, D., TONKIN, N. S., PHILLIPS, C. & HERRINGSILAW, L. G. 2009. Comment on "Ophinomorpha reregulative, Mesozois trace fossil that is either well understood but rare in outcrop or poorly understood but common in core" by R. G. Bromley and G. K. Pedersen [Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology 270 (2008) 295–298]. Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology, 284 (3-0, 392–395.

PUILLIPS, C. & MCLIKOV, D. 2010. Ichnofabries and biologically mediated charges in clay mineral assemblages from a deep-water, fine-grained, calcureous sedimentary succession: an example from the Upper Cretaceous Wyandot Formation, offshore Nova Scotia. Bulletin of Canadian Petroleum Geology, 58 (3), 203–218.

PHILLIPS, C., MCILROY, D. & ELLIOTT, T. 2011. Ichnological characterization of Eocene/Oligocene turbidites from the Grès d'Annot Basin, French Alps, SE France. Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoceology, 300 (1-4), 67–83.





